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RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) contains forward-looking statements. We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-
looking statements contained in Sec�on 27A of the Securi�es Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securi�es Act”), and Sec�on 21E of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the
“Exchange Act”). All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Form 10-K may be forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can iden�fy forward-looking
statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “an�cipates,” “could,” “intends,” “targets,” “projects,” “contemplates,” “believes,” “es�mates,” “forecasts,” “predicts,”
“poten�al” or “con�nue” or the nega�ve of these terms or other similar expressions. Forward-looking statements contained in this Form 10-K include, but are not limited to statements
regarding our future results of opera�ons and financial posi�on, industry and business trends, equity compensa�on, business strategy, plans, market growth, plans and objec�ves rela�ng to
our climate commitment, and our objec�ves for future opera�ons.

The forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K are only predic�ons. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expecta�ons and projec�ons about future
events and financial trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condi�on, and results of opera�ons. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertain�es and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, the important factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2021. The forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K are based upon informa�on available to us as of the date of this Form 10-K, and while we believe such informa�on
forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such informa�on may be limited or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaus�ve
inquiry into, or review of, all poten�ally available relevant informa�on. These statements are inherently uncertain and investors are cau�oned not to unduly rely upon these statements.

You should read this Form 10-K and the documents that we reference in this Form 10-K and have filed as exhibits to this Form 10-K with the understanding that our actual future results,
performance, and achievements may be materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cau�onary statements. These forward-looking
statements speak only as of the date of this Form 10-K. Except as required by applicable law, we do not plan to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements contained in this
Form 10-K, whether as a result of any new informa�on, future events or otherwise.

As used in this Form 10-K, unless otherwise stated or the context requires otherwise, references to “Rivian,” the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our,” refer to Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries.

Summary of Risk Factors

Our business is subject to a number of risks and uncertain�es, including those described in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K. You should carefully consider these risks and
uncertain�es when inves�ng in our Class A common stock. The principal risks and uncertain�es affec�ng our business include the following:

• We are a growth stage company with a history of losses and expect to incur significant expenses and con�nuing losses for the foreseeable future.
• Our limited opera�ng history makes it difficult for us to evaluate our future business prospects.
• Our ability to develop and manufacture vehicles of sufficient quality and appeal to customers on schedule and on a large scale is unproven.
• We have experienced, and could experience in the future, cost increases and disrup�ons in supply of raw materials or other components used in our vehicles.
• We are dependent on our exis�ng suppliers, a significant number of which are single or limited source suppliers, and are also dependent on our ability to source suppliers, for our

cri�cal components, and to complete the building out of our supply chain, while effec�vely managing the risks due to such rela�onships..
• We depend upon third par�es to manufacture and to supply key semiconductor chip components necessary for our vehicles. We do not have long-term agreements with all of our

semiconductor chip manufacturers and suppliers, and if these manufacturers or suppliers become unwilling or unable to provide an adequate supply of semiconductor chips, with
respect to which there is a global shortage, we would not be able to find alterna�ve sources in a �mely manner and our business would be adversely impacted.
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• We expect that a significant por�on of our ini�al revenue will be from one customer that is an affiliate of one of our principal stockholders. If we are unable to maintain this
rela�onship, or if this customer purchases significantly fewer vehicles than we currently an�cipate or none at all, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons,
and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

• The success of our business depends on a�rac�ng and retaining a large number of customers. If we are unable to do so, we will not be able to achieve profitability.
• We face significant challenges as a new entrant into the automo�ve industry.
• The automo�ve market is highly compe��ve, and we may not be successful in compe�ng in this industry.
• We may underes�mate or not effec�vely manage the capital expenditures and costs associated with our business and opera�ons.
• We may experience significant delays in the manufacture, and delivery of our vehicles, which could harm our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and

cash flows.
• We are highly dependent on the services and reputa�on of Robert J. Scaringe, our Founder and Chief Execu�ve Officer (“CEO”).
• Breaches in data security, failure of informa�on security systems and privacy concerns could subject us to penal�es, damage our reputa�on and brand, and harm our business,

prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.
• We are, and may in the future become, subject to patent, trademark and/or other intellectual property infringement claims, which may be �me-consuming, cause us to incur

significant liability, and increase our costs of doing business.
• Our vehicles are subject to motor vehicle safety standards and the failure to sa�sfy such mandated safety standards would have a material adverse effect on our business,

prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.
• As a manufacturer engaged in sales directly to consumers, we may face regulatory limita�ons on our ability to sell and service vehicles directly, which could materially and adversely

affect our ability to sell our vehicles.
• We may be exposed to delays, limita�ons, and risks related to the environmental permits and other permits and approvals required to operate or expand opera�ons at an exis�ng

or future manufacturing facility.

PART I

Item 1. Business

Overview

Rivian exists to create products and services that help our planet transi�on to carbon neutral energy and transporta�on. Rivian designs, develops, and manufactures category-defining
electric vehicles (“EVs”) and accessories and sells them directly to customers in the consumer and commercial markets. Rivian complements its vehicles with a full suite of proprietary, value-
added services that address the en�re lifecycle of the vehicle and deepen its customer rela�onships.

Star�ng with a clean sheet, we built a ver�cally integrated ecosystem comprised of our vehicle technology pla�orm, cloud architecture, product development and opera�ons, products, and
services. Interconnected by our data and analy�cs backbone, our ecosystem is designed to deliver fast-paced innova�on cycles, structural cost advantages, and excep�onal customer
experiences.

We produced 1,015 and delivered 920 vehicles for the full year 2021.

Our Products and Services

Consumer Vehicles

Engineered for all of life’s adventures, our Electric Adventure Vehicles combine performance, u�lity, and efficiency. In the consumer market, we launched the R1 pla�orm with our first
genera�on of consumer vehicles: the R1T, a two-row, five-passenger pickup truck, and the R1S, a three-row, seven-passenger sport u�lity vehicle (“SUV”). We made our first deliveries of the
R1T and R1S in 2021.

R1T

The R1T is a category-defining electric pickup truck, providing a combina�on of performance, u�lity, and capability without compromising on sustainability. The R1T is capable of carrying
five passengers and large loads with a bed that is 54 inches
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long with the tailgate up (84 inches long with tailgate down) and 50 inches wide. The industry-first Gear Tunnel compartment features lockable storage accessible from either side of the
truck. Addi�onally, the front trunk with a powered hood is one of the largest on the market.

R1S

The R1S is a large format all-electric SUV, with enough space to comfortably fit up to seven passengers and their gear. U�lizing the same ba�ery, propulsion, and chassis systems as the R1T,
R1S customers can expect the same combina�on of on- and off-road performance. The R1S shares many features of the R1T in a flexible interior form factor that can either suit more
occupants or more cargo. The R1S features the same large powered front trunk as the R1T, with enough storage for large suitcases, coolers, and backpacks. The R1S features over 100 cubic
feet of space with the seats folded and including the front trunk. With all rear seats folded, the R1S provides a flat floor for loading in gear or lying down.

The R1T and R1S are equipped with a proprietary set of advanced technology systems, including vehicle electronics, ba�ery, electric drive, chassis, Driver+, our advanced driver assistance
system (“ADAS”), and digital user experience management. These technologies can con�nuously improve and expand func�onality through cloud-enabled over-the-air (“OTA”) updates.

The R1T and R1S introduced our brand to the world and will serve as our flagship vehicles as we con�nue to expand our offerings. To accompany our vehicles, we have developed a
comprehensive por�olio of vehicle accessories that will further sharpen our brand’s focus on adventure and ac�ve lifestyles.

Consumer Services

Complemen�ng our consumer vehicles, our current and future suite of value-added services includes digitally enabled financing, telema�cs-based insurance, proac�ve vehicle service
(maintenance and repair), flexible membership and so�ware services, comprehensive charging solu�ons, and a data-driven vehicle resale program. These services will generate long-term
brand loyalty while also crea�ng a recurring revenue stream for each vehicle across its lifecycle.

Comprehensive Charging Solu�ons

We are building charging solu�ons powered primarily by in-house developed hardware and so�ware that include Rivian Adventure Network Rivian Adventure Network Direct Current fast
charging sites (“RAN DCFCs”) and Rivian Waypoints chargers. Our solu�ons are designed to be cost effec�ve and aim to deliver clean energy to our customers while offering a convenient
and seamless charging experience. In addi�on to deploying our own chargers, we are also partnering with other na�onwide Combined Charging Standard (“CCS”) network operators
intended to ensure charging is always easily accessible even in the early stages of our infrastructure development.

Commercial Vehicles

In the commercial market, we launched the Rivian Commercial Vehicle (“RCV”) pla�orm, which underpins the Electric Delivery Van (“EDV”), designed and engineered by Rivian in
collabora�on with Amazon.com, Inc. and its affiliates (collec�vely, “Amazon”), our first commercial customer. The EDV is a long-range, electric commercial step-in van designed for large-
scale mass produc�on and deployment in a centrally managed fleet. Amazon has ordered an ini�al volume of 100,000 vehicles globally, subject to modifica�on as described under Part III,
Item 13. "Certain Rela�onships and Related Transac�ons, and Director Independence" in this Form 10-K.

Developed to be comfortable and easy to operate for drivers, our commercial vehicles are designed to achieve lower total cost of ownership (“TCO”) for customers while suppor�ng a path
to carbon neutral deliveries. Through our work with Amazon, we believe we will be well-posi�oned to leverage our learnings to build capabili�es that will accelerate our progress towards a
leadership posi�on in the commercial vehicle market and our deployment of new business models.

Currently, Amazon and other delivery companies typically choose from step-in van models from other manufacturers which lack advanced technology and sustainability features. A�er
purchasing stock vehicles, fleet operators like Amazon typically work with a�ermarket upfi�ers to develop a complete solu�on with shelving and driver monitoring systems. Rivian, in
collabora�on with Amazon, designed the EDV holis�cally to support last mile applica�ons, enabling the vans to leave the Rivian factory ready to be put into service. We believe certain
aspects of the EDV ’s design and styling will remain exclusive to Amazon.
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The modular upper structure, closures, interior, and skateboard pla�orm enable a significant amount of commonality across any EDV variants to simplify servicing and maintenance across
the fleet. The EDV also features integra�on with our end-to-end fleet management so�ware, built to maximize fleet efficiency and up�me while minimizing costs through predic�ve
maintenance, intelligent charging, power management, and last mile focused telema�cs features.

EDV-700

The EDV-700 is the 700 cubic foot version of the EDV and was the first vehicle delivered to Amazon in 2021. The vehicle’s design is op�mized for last mile delivery use cases and includes a
rear roll-up door ideal for warehouse bulk loading, which eliminates cargo area side doors that would otherwise consume valuable precious cargo storage. The vehicle’s features also include
an integrated automa�c bulkhead door designed for safety and security, a tall roof to allow drivers to walk through the vehicle, driver-centric ergonomics crea�ng space for package
handling, and a curb-side sliding door designed for ease of package handling and safe vehicle access away from traffic.

EDV-500

The EDV-500 is the 500 cubic foot version of the EDV, and we have successfully produced pre-produc�on EDV-500 vehicles, as well as a European version, in our manufacturing facility in
Normal, Illinois, (the “Normal Factory”) during 2022. The EDV-500 is a narrower and shorter version of the EDV-700 and an important vehicle for expanding to markets and geographies for
which smaller form factors are be�er suited. We expect to begin produc�on of salable units in 2022.

Commercial Services

Alongside our commercial vehicles, we offer FleetOS, our proprietary, end-to-end centralized fleet management subscrip�on pla�orm. It encompasses vehicle distribu�on, service,
telema�cs, so�ware services, charging, connec�vity management, Driver+, and lifecycle management. Building upon this founda�on, FleetOS will con�nually add more features over �me,
including leasing, financing, insurance, driver safety and coaching, smart charging and rou�ng, remote diagnos�cs, 360° collision reports, and vehicle resale. This cloud-based pla�orm
integrates and analyzes vehicle, infrastructure, and opera�ons data, driving us toward industry-leading TCO, safety, and fleet u�liza�on. We have designed FleetOS so it can be customized
for a commercial customer’s opera�onal needs. In addi�on to managing fleets of Rivian vehicles, FleetOS will be able to address mixed fleets comprised of Rivian and non-Rivian commercial
vehicles, allowing us to serve a greater number of commercial customers at scale.

The Rivian Ecosystem

Our direct-to-customer model allows us to manage all sales, deliveries, service opera�ons, and resales in-house, without reliance on a franchise dealership network or other third par�es.
We employ an integrated, digital-first strategy that is not only convenient and transparent for our customers, but also efficient and scalable to support our con�nued growth. Our website
and mobile app facilitate brand engagement, product discovery, demonstra�on drives, purchase transac�ons, vehicle deliveries, vehicle service, account management, and resale. We
believe this strategy will allow us to deliver uncompromised experiences well beyond what is available through the standard franchise dealership model.

Each element of our ecosystem has been designed from a clean sheet, resul�ng in end-to-end integra�on across a range of complementary offerings. Our proprietary technology pla�orm is
the founda�on of our ecosystem and is comprised of two interconnected elements: vehicle technology and Rivian Cloud. This highly extensible pla�orm will allow us to tailor our offerings to
serve both the consumer and commercial markets, powering our products and complementary services. Our product development and opera�ons infrastructure are deeply integrated with
our technology pla�orm, making it easier to deliver on our ambi�ons. The Rivian ecosystem consists of the following components:

• Vehicle Technology. A secure, reliable, scalable combina�on of hardware and so�ware, connec�ng our proprietary in-vehicle systems, including vehicle electronics, ba�ery, electric
drive, chassis, Driver+, and experience management.

• Rivian Cloud. Our architecture of interconnected so�ware applica�ons designed to deliver seamless, end-to-end digital commerce solu�ons and experiences across web, mobile,
and app. Rivian Cloud enables FleetOS, remote diagnos�cs, OTA so�ware updates, and remote vehicle controls, including vehicle access.
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• Product Development and Opera�ons. Our ver�cally integrated product development and opera�ons func�ons include design, development, manufacturing, sales, delivery,
service, and charging. These func�ons serve the unique needs of our consumer and commercial customers.

• Products and Accessories. Our consumer por�olio is comprised of category-defining vehicles that reimagine the pickup truck and SUV segments. We entered the commercial
market with long-range electric step-in vans developed for mass produc�on. The EDV is designed to lower TCO, improve up�me, and facilitate Amazon progressing in its
commitment to net zero carbon opera�ons. We expect our products and accessories to provide access to new markets and bring new customers into our ecosystem.

• Services. We offer highly tailored and differen�ated services that enable seamless and intui�ve experiences throughout the en�re customer lifecycle. We expect this holis�c
approach to drive higher customer sa�sfac�on, create strong brand loyalty, and increase opera�onal efficiency while simultaneously allowing us to capture a greater share of the
full lifecycle value of every Rivian vehicle produced.

• Data and Analy�cs. Our ecosystem is interconnected by our proprietary data and analy�cs backbone housed in Rivian Cloud. It is comprised of a centralized data lake and analy�cs
tools, providing valuable insights that can be applied to con�nuously improve ecosystem-wide performance, func�onality, and up�me to drive increased customer sa�sfac�on.

Our ecosystem is designed to be highly scalable, flexible, integrated, and interconnected to power an immersive customer journey. This will enable us to maximize our impact by addressing
both the consumer and commercial markets simultaneously. We can deploy our offerings at scale using a shared, ver�cally integrated technology pla�orm, comprised of vehicle technology
and Rivian Cloud, with network effects that will build data insights to improve our ecosystem. By u�lizing our common technology pla�orm, we generate synergies and scale efficiencies,
enabling us to increase our pace of innova�on and create offerings that serve the unique needs of our customers. Our direct-to-customer rela�onships and connected vehicle technologies
allow us to gather customer and product insights over the full lifecycle of our vehicles. We will u�lize these insights to con�nuously improve our offerings by adding new capabili�es and
func�onality. Enhanced offerings will a�ract more customers, deepen exis�ng customer rela�onships, and expand our data repository and insights, which will further benefit our customers
and Rivian.

Manufacturing

As of December 31, 2021, our Normal Factory is equipped to produce up to 150,000 vehicles annually (distributed between the R1 pla�orm, used to produce the R1T and R1S, and the RCV
pla�orm, used to produce EDVs and other commercial vehicles), when the equipment is operated at full rate and on mul�ple shi�s. This annual installed capacity is comprised of
approximately 65,000 vehicles for the R1 pla�orm and 85,000 vehicles for the RCV pla�orm. In addi�on, we recently announced plans to construct a second manufacturing facility near
Atlanta, Georgia with an an�cipated capacity to produce up to 400,000 vehicles annually.

We have made decisions and investments with the objec�ve of maintaining a long-term growth orienta�on that creates value for all stakeholders, including our employees, customers,
partners, communi�es, shareholders, and the environment. In the near-term, we are targe�ng the pickup truck, SUV, and commercial van market segments in the United States of America
(“United States”), Canada, and Western Europe. We plan to achieve long-term growth by expanding in our exis�ng markets, construc�ng a broad por�olio of vehicles and digital services
with global appeal, entering major global automo�ve markets, strategically inves�ng in our ecosystem, and expanding into adjacent ver�cals. In keeping with our long-term mindset, we are
designing technology and infrastructure to support and benefit from the future transi�on to increased autonomy, new ownership models, and renewable energy solu�ons.

Supply Chain

We procure materials and components from hundreds of suppliers across the globe that we work closely with to bring our vehicles to market.

Our supplier selec�on process is based on a wide variety of factors, including technical exper�se, product quality, cost, and loca�on. With many suppliers, our rela�onship extends beyond
the procurement of raw materials and components as we
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collaborate through the development process. We believe these strategic partnerships have led to pricing and �ming advantages in the development of our vehicles.

Our products contain thousands of parts that we purchase from hundreds of mostly single- or limited-source suppliers, for which no immediate or readily-available alterna�ve supplier
exists. In order to mi�gate risks related to a single source of supply, we qualify alterna�ve suppliers and manufacturers when possible, and develop con�ngency plans for responding to
disrup�ons, such as carrying higher inventory levels where possible. Despite these ac�ons, we have and may s�ll con�nue to face challenges with various manufacturing-related component
shortages, especially as our suppliers scale their opera�ons to match our vehicle ramp rate.

We address quality across all phases of the vehicle lifecycle, from design through delivery and service. Our connected vehicles benefit from embedded intelligence, enabling con�nuous
condi�on monitoring, and automated diagnosis of systems and components. These capabili�es detect emergent defects and proac�vely iden�fy, diagnose, and resolve issues. Our closed
loop quality management system gathers feedback from across our opera�ons and vehicles in the field, feeding data directly into our quality controls for real-�me improvements.

Seasonality

Historically, the automo�ve industry has experienced higher revenue in the spring and summer months. Addi�onally, we expect volumes of commercial vehicle sales to be less in the winter
months, as customers shi� their focus to making last mile deliveries during holidays, rather than incorpora�ng more vehicles into their fleet. We do not expect such seasonality in demand to
significantly impact our opera�ons in the near-term as we scale our business due to our backlog of preorders; however, we may experience seasonal varia�ons in our business in the long-
term.

Compe��on

We aspire to drive meaningful change in the world’s transi�on to sustainable mobility. We believe mul�ple industry tailwinds such as regulatory support and shi�ing consumer demand will
con�nue to drive a transi�on from legacy internal combus�on engine (“ICE”) vehicles to EVs. We believe the primary compe��ve factors in our markets are talent and culture, technological
innova�on, product performance and quality, customer experience, brand differen�a�on, product design, pricing and TCO, and manufacturing scale and efficiency.

Our compe��on represents the millions of tradi�onal ICE vehicles and EVs sold each year in the consumer and commercial markets. Our compe��ve set also represents our total
addressable market (“TAM”) which we aim to reach with an expanded product por�olio over the long term in our current and future geographies.

As we par�cipate across the spectrum of the consumer and commercial value chain, our compe��on extends beyond providers that operate in the capacity of an original equipment
manufacturer or dealer. Downstream compe�tors include a patchwork of third par�es such as charging providers, vehicle service providers, vehicle remarketers, and tradi�onal fleet
management companies.

Across the automo�ve value chain, we believe our ver�cally integrated business model and technology pla�orm, focus on customer experience, direct-to-customer rela�onships, and ability
to efficiently launch mul�ple vehicle pla�orms posi�on us to compete effec�vely.

Regulatory

Environmental, Health and Safety Ma�ers

Certain of our opera�ons, proper�es and products are subject to stringent and comprehensive federal, state, and local laws and regula�ons governing ma�ers including environmental
protec�on, occupa�onal health and safety and the release or discharge of materials into the environment, including air emissions and wastewater discharges. Failure to comply with these
laws and regula�ons may result in the assessment of administra�ve, civil and criminal penal�es, the imposi�on of inves�gatory and remedial obliga�ons and the issuance of orders enjoining
some or all of our opera�ons in affected areas.

We are also subject to permi�ng, registra�on, and other government approval requirements under environmental, health and safety laws and regula�ons applicable in the jurisdic�ons in
which we operate. Those requirements obligate us to obtain
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permits, registra�ons, and other government approvals from one or more governmental agencies to conduct our opera�ons and sell our products. The requirements vary depending on the
loca�on where our regulated ac�vi�es are conducted.

The following summarizes exis�ng environmental, health and safety laws and regula�ons applicable to our opera�ons and products.
Regula�ons in the United States

• Na�onal Highway Traffic Safety Administra�on (“NHTSA”) Safety and Self-Cer�fica�on Obliga�ons. As a manufacturer of EVs, our vehicles are subject to, and must comply with,
numerous regulatory requirements established by NHTSA, including all applicable United States Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (“Safety Standards”). Under the Na�onal
Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act, we must cer�fy that our vehicles meet all applicable Safety Standards, as well as the NHTSA bumper standard, or are otherwise exempt from
such standards. The categories of Safety Standards that apply to our vehicles include crashworthiness requirements, crash avoidance requirements, and EV requirements. The R1T,
R1S, and EDV are fully compliant with all such Safety Standards and other NHTSA requirements without the need for any addi�onal exemp�ons.

We are also required to comply with or demonstrate exemp�ons from other requirements of federal laws administered by NHTSA, including the Federal Corporate Average Fuel Economy
(“CAFE”) standards, The� Preven�on Act requirements, consumer informa�on labeling requirements, Early Warning Repor�ng requirements regarding warranty claims, field reports, death
and injury reports and foreign recalls, and owner’s manual requirements. The R1T, R1S and EDV are fully compliant with or exempted from compliance with the foregoing referenced
standards. Rivian also has a system in place to ensure compliance with all repor�ng obliga�ons to NHTSA.

The Automobile Informa�on and Disclosure Act requires manufacturers of motor vehicles to disclose certain informa�on regarding the manufacturer’s suggested retail price, op�onal
equipment, and pricing. In addi�on, the Automobile Informa�on and Disclosure Act allows inclusion of city and highway fuel economy ra�ngs, as determined by the United States
Environmental Protec�on Agency (“EPA”), as well as crash test ra�ngs as determined by NHTSA if such tests are conducted.

• EPA Cer�ficate of Conformity and California Execu�ve Order. The Clean Air Act requires that we obtain both an EPA-issued Cer�ficate of Conformity and a California Air Resources
Board (“CARB”)-issued Execu�ve Order with respect to emissions for our vehicles, and include labeling providing consumer informa�on such as miles per gallon of gas-equivalent
ra�ngs and maximum range on a single charge. The R1T, R1S, and EDV have received EPA Cer�ficates of Conformity and California Execu�ve Orders for model year 2022.

• Ba�ery Safety and Tes�ng. Our ba�ery pack conforms to mandatory regula�ons that govern transport of “dangerous goods,” defined to include lithium-ion ba�eries, which may
present a risk in transporta�on. Governing regula�ons, issued by the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administra�on, are based on the United Na�ons (“UN”)
Recommenda�ons and Model Regula�ons on the Transport of Dangerous Goods, as well as related UN Manual of Tests and Criteria. The regula�ons vary by mode of shipping
transporta�on, such as by ocean vessel, rail, truck, or air. We have completed the applicable transporta�on tests for our prototype and produc�on ba�ery packs, demonstra�ng our
compliance with the UN Manual of Tests and Criteria.

We also subject our ba�ery packs to selected tests specified in the Society of Automo�ve Engineers (“SAE”) J2464 and J2929 standards, as well as tests defined by other standards
and regulatory bodies and Rivian’s own internal tests. These tests evaluate ba�ery func�on and performance as well as resilience to condi�ons including immersion, humidity, fire,
and other poten�al hazards. We currently use lithium metal oxide cells in our high voltage ba�ery packs. Our ba�ery packs include certain packaging materials that contain trace
amounts of hazardous chemicals whose use, storage, and disposal is regulated under federal and state laws.

If a customer wishes to dispose of a ba�ery pack from one of our vehicles, we will accept the depleted ba�ery without any addi�onal charge.

• Right to Repair. We are also subject to certain laws and regula�ons, e.g., “Right to Repair,” laws, that would require us to provide third-party access to our network and/or vehicle
systems.
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Emission Credit Programs

As a manufacturer devoted to the design, development, and produc�on of all-electric, ba�ery-powered vehicles, we will generate credits from regulatory mandates that we can mone�ze
through sale to other manufacturers. For example, in connec�on with the delivery and placement into service of our zero-emission vehicles in California and a number of other states that
have adopted the California standards applicable to light-duty and heavy-duty vehicles, we have earned and will con�nue to earn tradable light-duty and heavy-duty zero-emission vehicle
(“ZEV”) credits that can be mone�zed.

In addi�on to state level credits, the EPA and NHTSA also mandate minimum greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions and CAFE standards applicable to light- and heavy-duty vehicles. Under the
Biden Administra�on, a final rule was issued in late 2021 that increased the stringency of these standards. These federal regula�ons require that manufacturers of light- and heavy-duty
vehicles meet minimum standards pertaining to GHG emissions and fuel economy based on a vehicle’s footprint or overall dimensions. As the first manufacturer to produce zero-emission
vehicles of this larger footprint, we expect to generate substan�al GHG and CAFE credits, and to benefit financially from these regula�ons.

Automobile Manufacturer and Dealer Regula�on

State laws regulate the manufacture, distribu�on, sale, and service (including delivery) of automobiles, and generally require motor vehicle manufacturers and dealers to be licensed in
order to sell vehicles directly to customers in the state. As of December 31, 2021, 22 states and the District of Columbia permit us, as a manufacturer of motor vehicles, to apply for and
receive a dealer license to conduct vehicle sales, provided we meet certain requirements. Once licensed in one or more of these 22 states, we may sell our vehicles to any consumer in the
United States as a ma�er of interstate commerce. By contrast, 28 states restrict our ability to obtain a dealer license to sell within those states. To sell vehicles to residents of states where
we do not have a license or are unable to be licensed due to our status as a manufacturer, we must conduct the sale out of state over the internet or telephonically.

Rivian currently has dealer licenses to sell and service vehicles directly in Arizona, California, and Illinois. We have also applied for dealer licenses in Colorado, Utah, Tennessee, and Virginia
which are pending. In addi�on, we have Service Centers that have opened and are licensed to provide service in Michigan and New York. We have applied for a service license in Maryland,
which is pending. Other states where we have opera�ng service loca�ons but are not required to be licensed to operate include: Kansas, Nevada, Texas, Colorado, Minnesota, Utah, Virginia,
and Washington.

Automobile Manufacturer Regula�on in Canada

Our vehicles intended for sale in the Canadian market are subject to environmental and safety cer�fica�ons administered by the appropriate Canadian regulatory authori�es, including, but
not limited to Transport Canada and Environment Canada. The major cer�fica�ons and/or approvals that apply to our vehicles include:

• Canada Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (“CMVSS”) administered by Transport Canada. The vast majority of CMVSS are iden�cal or substan�ally similar to Safety Standards in the
United States, which Rivian R1T and R1S vehicles met as the second half of 2021. Certain of the differences between CMVSS and Safety Standards that are applicable to our vehicles
include telltales, speedometer units of measure, certain labels, immobilizer requirements for an�-the�, and pass-by noise standards. Prior to distribu�ng any of our vehicles in
Canada, Rivian will ensure that such vehicles are modified to conform with CMVSS. We expect to complete all CMVSS confirmatory tes�ng and provide an applica�on for
cer�fica�on to Transport Canada by September 2022.

• Canadian Emissions Regula�ons. Environment Canada administers regula�ons governing emissions, including greenhouse gas emissions. These regula�ons include the On-Road
Vehicle and Engine Emission Regula�ons (“ORVEER”) and the Passenger Automobile and Light Truck Greenhouse Gas Emission Regula�ons (“PALTGGER”). In order to demonstrate
compliance and obtain cer�fica�on, the provisions of ORVEER allow a manufacturer to rely upon EPA cer�ficate of conformity issued under the Clean Air Act as Evidence of
Conformity. Rivian R1T and R1S vehicles were granted the EPA Cer�ficate of Conformity (“CoC”) in September 2021. As Environment Canada recognizes EPA CoCs, we do not believe
there currently is a risk of not obtaining the Canadian cer�fica�on.

• Other Canadian Regula�ons. Addi�onal regula�ons applying to our vehicles and accessories include the Innova�on, Science, and Economic Development Canada electromagne�c
(“EM”) compa�bility regula�ons and standard ICES-002. These regula�ons are designed to ensure no EM incompa�bility exists between Rivian vehicles and
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accessories and other EM emi�ng equipment. Tes�ng on R1T vehicles was completed in December 2021 and on the R1S in the first quarter of 2022 with passing results for both
vehicles and accessories with no issues iden�fied. We are in the process of compiling the Self-Declara�on Documents for filing with the relevant Canadian authori�es and expect no
issues with final approval.

With respect to direct sales and service, such regula�on is a ma�er of Canadian provincial law. Unlike the United States, no province of Canada prohibits a manufacturer from applying for
and receiving a dealer license or prohibits a manufacturer from establishing a service loca�on and conduc�ng warranty service at that service loca�on. Some provinces, however, do restrict
whether sales or service can take place across provincial lines without having a physical presence in those provinces.

Federal and State Incen�ves in the United States
As of December 31, 2021, incen�ves in the United States included:

• United States Federal Tax Credits. The Qualified Plug-In Electric Drive Motor Vehicle Tax Credit program ins�tuted by the United States government provides a tax credit of up to
$7,500 for the purchase of new qualified plug-in electric drive motor vehicles. This credit applies to the first 200,000 vehicles sold per manufacturer. As of the date of this report,
purchasers of Rivian model year 2022 R1T, R1S and EDV-700 vehicles con�nue to be eligible for a tax credit of up to $7,500 under this program. Nego�a�ons are underway within
the United States Congress to amend this provision, but no changes have been made to the program to date. As a result, the credit remains available in its current form to all Rivian
customers. In addi�on, the Alterna�ve Fuel Infrastructure Tax Credit provides tax credits for businesses up to 30% of the cost of installing alterna�ve fueling equipment, not to
exceed $30,000.

Consumers who purchased residen�al fueling equipment but were not eligible to depreciate such equipment may have received a tax credit of up to $1,000 prior to December 31,
2021. The program included electricity as an alterna�ve fuel and poten�ally could have been used by Rivian customers to offset the cost of their home charging systems and by
businesses to offset the costs of installing electric vehicle charging sta�ons. Addi�onally, if Rivian sells such equipment to a tax-exempt en�ty, Rivian would have been eligible to
claim the credit for itself. Unused credits may be carried backward one year and carried forward 20 years. The credits for Alterna�ve Fuel Infrastructure expired on December 31,
2021. Despite the expira�on at the end of last year, the United States Congress is considering legisla�on to reinstate the federal tax credit with retroac�ve applica�on. This is s�ll
under nego�a�on and could be revived later in 2022.

• State Incen�ves. A number of states and municipali�es in the United States, as well as certain private enterprises, offer incen�ve programs to encourage the adop�on of alterna�ve
fuel vehicles, including tax exemp�ons, tax credits, exemp�ons, and special privileges.

Other states have also implemented various incen�ves for the purchase of eligible ZEVs based on weight class and propulsion type. For example, New Jersey and Washington
exempt the purchase of EVs from state sales tax. California, Colorado, Oregon, and Oklahoma provide substan�al state tax credits or rebates for the purchase of EVs. Some of these
programs have eligibility limits based on either consumer income or the manufacturer’s suggested retail price of the vehicle. Others will supply rebates only un�l a set aside
amount of funding exists. Several states will also be phasing out incen�ves over �me or volume of EVs are sold. Other incen�ves include preferen�al parking at reduced rates, or
free, or single occupancy high-occupancy vehicle access on highways for EVs.

Regula�ons in the European Union

• Europe Type Approval. We intend to export vehicles to Europe, and over �me may consider manufacturing and loca�ng addi�onal opera�ons in Europe. We must obtain pre-
approval from regulators to import and sell our vehicles into the European Union (“EU”) and countries that recognize the EU cer�fica�on. The process for mee�ng the EU
cer�fica�on requirements is known as “Type Approval” and requires Rivian to demonstrate to a regulatory agency in the EU, referred to as the Competent Authority, that our
vehicles meet all EU safety and emission standards.

Ac�vi�es to obtain Type Approval began in 2021 and have not yet been completed. We expect to complete this process by mid-2022.
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• EU Emissions Regula�ons. We believe Europe’s regulatory environment is generally conducive to the development, produc�on and sale of consumer and commercial alterna�ve
fuel vehicles. Through emission legisla�on, tax incen�ves and direct subsidies, EU and non-EU countries in Europe are taking a progressive stance in reducing carbon emissions and
increasing demand for EVs. For example, the EU has specifically implemented regula�ons manda�ng that manufacturers mee�ng binding emission targets according to the average
mass of their vehicles. Penal�es for failing to meet these targets can be substan�al.

Incen�ves in Europe

In addi�on to a favorable regulatory environment, a number of European countries offer incen�ves, tax reduc�ons or a combina�on of both.

Intellectual Property

Rivian’s intellectual property is a core asset of our company, and an important tool to drive value and differen�a�on in our products and services. We protect, use, and defend our
intellectual property in support of our business objec�ves to increase our return on investment, enhance our compe��ve posi�on, and create shareholder value. Through strategic and
business assessments of our intellectual property, we rely on a combina�on of patents, trade secrets, copyrights, service marks, trademarks, domains, contractual terms, and enforcement
mechanisms across various interna�onal jurisdic�ons to establish and protect intellectual property rights related to our current and future business and opera�ons.

As of December 31, 2021, we held over 100 granted patents and registra�ons worldwide, and had filed over 1,000 patent applica�ons with domes�c and foreign patent offices. Subject to
required payments of annui�es or maintenance fees, our granted patents and registra�ons have term dura�ons of between 14 to 25 years from each patent or registra�on’s respec�ve
priority date, the dura�on being set according to the laws of the jurisdic�on in which the patent or registra�on issues. Our exis�ng patents have term dura�ons that are scheduled to extend
un�l their respec�ve expira�on dates, ranging from April 2028 to December 2046, based on each patent’s respec�ve priority date. As of December 31, 2021, we had over 800 registered
trademarks and had filed over 4,000 trademark applica�ons with domes�c and foreign trademark offices. Our registered trademarks have an indefinite life subject to the payment of
maintenance fees and the laws of the jurisdic�on in which the trademark is registered. As of December 31, 2021, we had two registered copyrights and had filed one copyright applica�on
with foreign copyright offices. Addi�onally, as of December 31, 2021, we had over 1,700 registered domains worldwide. In addi�on, we maintain a comprehensive iden�fica�on and tracking
func�on for the maintenance and protec�on of our trade secrets.

We intend to con�nue to vigorously pursue intellectual property protec�on to the extent we believe it would be advantageous to our business objec�ves. Despite our efforts to protect our
intellectual property rights, they may not be respected in the future or may be invalidated, circumvented, or challenged.

Cybersecurity and Privacy

We priori�ze the trust of our customers and employees and place great emphasis on systems and product security, cybersecurity, and privacy. To protect our systems, products, and data, we
apply a variety of technical and organiza�onal security measures, procedures, and protocols in accordance with the Na�onal Ins�tute of Standards and Technology (“NIST”) Cybersecurity
Framework. We have a dedicated team of professionals that focus on applica�on, network, and system security based upon a clearly defined organiza�onal opera�ng model. We have also
commenced a corporate-wide data privacy program with dedicated cross-func�onal resources.

U�lizing the NIST Cybersecurity Framework, we have ins�tuted a cybersecurity program designed to address the evolving cyber-threat landscape. This includes a company-wide risk
management structure with capabili�es to assess direct and indirect vendors and an enterprise Secure So�ware Development Lifecycle to ensure that we reduce our a�ack surface by
remedia�ng vulnerabili�es in the development process itself. Addi�onally, our iden�ty and access management procedures and controls are consistent with the NIST Cybersecurity
Framework, including measures to validate and authen�cate the iden�ty of our corporate users.

We maintain a vulnerability management program that includes periodic scans designed to iden�fy security vulnerabili�es and implement a remedia�on. To detect threats to our enterprise
and product security, we have implemented a cybersecurity monitoring capability that collects and analyzes telemetries from a wide range of sources and takes proac�ve
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ac�ons to ensure the security of our systems. In addi�on, we conduct internal and external penetra�on tests, receive threat intelligence, follow incident response procedures, and remediate
vulnerabili�es according to severity and risk. Further, seeking to implement effec�ve management, control, and protec�on, we have established a centralized, organiza�on-wide view of
informa�on assets.

Our cloud security program seeks to enable secure cloud architecture deployments and extend security capabili�es. U�lizing signed cer�ficates, encryp�on keys, message authen�ca�on
codes, and cryptography algorithms, we have deployed authen�ca�on and encryp�on as part of our efforts to secure our products, so�ware, vehicles and their components, and OTA
updates. Addi�onally, we u�lize pre-condi�on checks, sequence and dependency execu�on, failure detec�on, and rollback and recovery when performing updates during the OTA process.
We also work to increase cybersecurity awareness throughout the organiza�on through educa�on and training.

Our manufacturing opera�ons involve a great deal of automa�on and technology. With that level of complexity and interconnec�vity in mind, we are building cybersecurity into our
manufacturing process itself, with the intent of enabling the business to remain resilient to any poten�al a�acks at our manufacturing opera�ons.

The objec�ve of our privacy program is to facilitate beneficial uses of data to improve Rivian’s products and services while preserving our customers’ privacy expecta�ons and complying
with applicable law. Global privacy laws and prac�ces will guide the opera�onal design, controls, procedures, and policies for our program. Our strategy accounts for increased risk as our
business scales by addressing appropriate security and access controls for customer and employee informa�on. A core tenet of our privacy program is to implement privacy-by-design
principles in both so�ware and hardware development throughout our organiza�on. Rivian’s privacy program will con�nue to evolve and adapt, u�lizing best prac�ces and tailored risk
management frameworks, to allow for close collabora�on across the organiza�on, par�cularly between our informa�on technology and legal func�ons, which is cri�cal for an effec�ve
privacy program.

Human Capital

As of December 31, 2021, we had 10,422 employees across the United States, Canada, and Europe. Our global workforce is comprised of engineering and technology teams that are
designing and developing future products and services, our opera�ons and commercial teams that support the produc�on, sale, and service of our launch vehicles, and our general and
administra�ve teams. Our global footprint will con�nue to grow as we seek diverse communi�es to join us on our adventure.

As a team, we strive to Keep The World Adventurous Forever by a�rac�ng the right people in the right roles and harnessing their adventurous spirit. Below are our Compass principles: a set
of behaviors that serve as the backbone of Rivian’s organiza�onal culture. Compass serves as our guide to ensure we preserve and augment our culture through the people we a�ract,
develop, and inspire.

• Come Together. We never take for granted the magic that occurs when thinkers and doers from different industries and geographies, lived experiences and perspec�ves, surround a
challenge from all sides. So, we insist that our team members bring their authen�c selves to work every single day. At �mes there will be disagreements, but that’s a good thing.
Tension strengthens ideas. The scale of our impact rests on our ability to move quickly as one team. We challenge each other to deliver more as a group than we can as individuals -
and get it done together. Many of our decisions around vehicle development were built on cross-func�onal discussion and debates which ul�mately required coming together to
produce the right outcome.

• Ask Why. Innova�on isn’t the job of a small group within the Company. Be�er ways of doing things are wai�ng to be discovered, and it’s incumbent upon all of us to approach our
work from a place of curiosity. Despite the breadth of objec�ves and the complexity of our goals, all our ideas begin the same way - from first principles. When we start with
undeniable basic truths, it opens up a world of possibility. A first-principles approach enables us to discuss ideas rather than debate different sets of ideologies or dogmas from
previous experiences. Every part of the Rivian customer experience is derived from employees con�nuously asking why and understanding the ra�onale behind every decision.

• Stay Open. The draw toward the unknown is strong within our team. We must con�nue to cul�vate a willingness to greet uncertainty with open arms, and all the other stuff that
comes along with it. Difficult ques�ons. Unexpected turns. Redrawn plans. Gnawed pencils. Temple rubbing. Lots and lots of temple rubbing. When we stay open, hearts stretch,
minds grow, new ideas surface and the impossible becomes fun. As our industry rapidly evolves, we don’t stand near exis�ng anchors but instead plan ahead to imagine what this
could be.
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• Zoom Out. Look up from where you are! We’re part of not one but many interdependent ecosystems, and our ac�ons have ripples across our en�re organiza�on and beyond. While
it’s easy to get mired in the day-to-day, so focused on the task in front of us, it’s important we never lose sight of what’s at stake or why we started down this path to begin with. As
we develop our commercial roadmaps and blueprints, each team curates their share of the Rivian customer experience with a keen awareness of the broader ecosystem.

• Over Deliver. The word forever says it all. Our work is never done and that’s by design. Loving the world means always looking for more ways to do be�er. We don’t stop at good
enough. In order to create the change we seek, we go beyond what is expected of us - respond to the problems of today while inten�onally laying the groundwork for a be�er
tomorrow. Mul�ple product launches and cu�ng-edge development across domains - over delivery on expecta�ons is a core tenet of our strategy.

Our Commitment to Diversity and Belonging

Belonging is the ability to feel comfortable in your own skin. It is a feeling that we strive for all to experience. People are the heart of Rivian and belonging is interwoven in all we do, by
establishing belonging as a driver of our culture and values. Belonging is a deliberate focus, every day.

At Rivian, we celebrate diversity and strive for inclusion and equity. To support, facilitate, and drive towards the goal of belonging for all, Rivian is developing a full range of internal programs
and offerings for our employees, including internal mobility, career development, and strategic hiring programs, individual and community celebra�ons, commitments to inclusion through
allyship, and learning and development. In addi�on, we offer Belonging Resource Groups and other networks and ini�a�ves which facilitate the opportunity to come together as a
community in conversa�on, educa�on, and moments of celebra�on and change. All are welcome.

Our Climate Commitment
Responding effec�vely to climate change requires collec�ve ac�on and urgency. We believe we have a responsibility and opportunity to play a role in the global economic transi�on to net
zero emissions. We aim to:

• measure and report GHG emissions annually;
• implement decarboniza�on strategies in line with the The Climate Pledge through real business change and innova�ons, including efficiency improvements, renewables, designing

for sustainability, and other carbon abatement strategies;
• power our opera�ons with 100% clean, renewable energy over �me; and
• take ac�ons to remove any remaining emissions and/or neutralize them with quan�fiable, real, permanent, and socially beneficial offsets to become carbon neutral.

Our climate commitment is backed by our focus on applying sustainable prac�ces across all facets of our business:

• Development. In developing our products, we have designed for efficient energy use and are planning for end of vehicle life. Repairability, recyclability, and reusability will be part
of our product design. Beyond designing systems that can be easily recycled, our precise understanding of the health of every vehicle posi�ons us to support maintaining the
vehicles well beyond the first customer. Beyond thinking about extending vehicle life, we plan to repurpose or reclaim our ba�ery packs and metals and remanufacture a number of
high value components to be used for service parts.

• Opera�ons. Like any company, we use resources to operate. Our goal is to do so efficiently and though�ully. We u�lize adap�ve-reuse construc�on prac�ces, efficient energy
management across our facili�es, recyclable or reusable shipping materials at our plant, and streamlined logis�cs across our distribu�on channels. Our team is dedicated to
quan�fying our climate impact and improving how we operate currently and into the future.

• Manufacturing. Our net zero goal requires a tenacious commitment to manufacturing innova�on. We will work with our materials suppliers and supply chain partners on
sustainable sourcing prac�ces and audit waste streams to gather the data needed to drive our efforts to use materials more responsibly. As we expand produc�on at our
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Normal Factory, and build new sites to support our growth, environmental impact will be a significant factor in our planning and the outcomes we achieve.

Forever

At Rivian, we believe sustainable and inclusive business is vital to society, the environment, and humanity’s con�nued prosperity. Our philanthropic mission is focused on helping to Keep the
World Adventurous Forever by preserving our natural systems for future genera�ons. As part of this commitment, Forever was set up to expand our impact beyond the transporta�on and
energy products and services we make and the associated compe��on they inspire. We aim to go further to address climate change and preserve the cri�cal biodiversity needed for our
planet’s long term survival. We intend to focus on high impact climate ini�a�ves and preserving bio-diverse land, as these natural landscapes and seascapes are powerful carbon sinks,
pulling carbon dioxide from the atmosphere and storing carbon in soil, grasses, shrubs, trees, coral reefs, sea grasses, and ocean floor sediments. We believe that these preserva�on efforts
will help create a forcing func�on that helps drive the world to shi� to more sustainable consump�on behaviors and preserve the planet and its atmosphere for the many genera�ons that
will follow us.

In addi�on to land conserva�on and sustainable consump�on ini�a�ves, Forever will include research and educa�onal stewardship intended to help communi�es understand, appreciate,
and learn how to preserve our planet’s natural resources for future genera�ons. Just as we strive to make the outdoors accessible to all, we need to make sure that we get as much of the
world as possible engaged in the transi�on to a sustainable future.

Forever is comprised of two separate en��es: Forever by Rivian, Inc., a 501(c)(4) social welfare organiza�on (“Forever by Rivian”), and a 501(c)(3) non-opera�ng private founda�on (the
“Rivian Founda�on”).

In conjunc�on with our ini�al public offering (“IPO”), the Company donated approximately 8 million shares of Class A common stock and $20 million in cash as the ini�al funding of Forever
by Rivian. By funding Forever by Rivian with our equity, the natural world will become a stakeholder in our success and as our company’s value grows by transi�oning our customers to
sustainable transporta�on solu�ons, so will the value of our impact and philanthropic giving crea�ng a virtuous cycle of impact. With this sizable ini�al funding, we have no short-term plans
to provide addi�onal direct funding to Forever by Rivian in the future.

This is a cri�cal moment where we must come together for the next genera�on. That is what we are trying to inspire — to Keep the World Adventurous Forever.

Corporate Informa�on

Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. was incorporated on March 26, 2015 as a Delaware corpora�on. Our principal execu�ve offices are located at 14600 Myford Road, Irvine, CA 92606, and our
telephone number is (888) 748-4261. Our website address is www.rivian.com. Informa�on contained on, or that can be accessed through, our website does not cons�tute part of this Form
10-K, and the inclusion of our website address in this Form 10-K is an inac�ve textual reference only.

We have proprietary rights to trademarks, trade names, and service marks appearing in this Form 10-K that are important to our business. Solely for convenience, the trademarks, trade
names, and service marks may appear in this Form 10-K without the ®, ™, and ℠ symbols, but any such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we forgo or will not assert, to
the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights or the rights of the applicable licensors to these trademarks, trade names, and service marks. All trademarks, trade names, and service
marks appearing in this Form 10-K are the property of their respec�ve owners.

Available Informa�on

The Company’s Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to reports filed with or furnished to the Securi�es and
Exchange Commission (“SEC”) pursuant to Sec�ons 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, are available, free of charge, on our Investor
Rela�ons website at h�ps://rivian.com/investors as soon as reasonably prac�cable a�er we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC maintains a website at
h�p://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy, informa�on statements and other informa�on regarding registrants that file electronically with the SEC. We use our Investor Rela�ons
website as a means of disclosing material informa�on. Accordingly, investors should monitor our Investor Rela�ons website, in addi�on to following our press releases, SEC filings, and public
conference calls and webcasts.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully read and consider the risks and uncertain�es described below, together with all of the other informa�on in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K (“ Form 10-K”). The risks and uncertain�es described in these documents may not be the only ones we face. Addi�onal risks and uncertain�es not presently known to us or that
we currently deem immaterial may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. The realiza�on of any of these risks and uncertain�es could have a material adverse
effect on our reputa�on, business, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, growth, and future prospects as well as our ability to accomplish our strategic objec�ves. In that event, the
market price of our common stock could decline and you could lose part or all of your investment. The factors discussed in these documents, among others, could cause our actual results to
differ materially from historical results and those expressed in forward-looking statements made by us or on our behalf in filings with the SEC, press releases, communica�ons with investors,
and oral statements.

Risks Related to Our Business

We are a growth stage company with a history of losses and expect to incur significant expenses and con�nuing losses for the foreseeable future.

We have incurred net losses since our incep�on, including net losses of $0.4 billion, $1.0 billion, and $4.7 billion for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, respec�vely . We
believe that we will con�nue to incur opera�ng and net losses in the future while we grow, including following our ini�al genera�on of revenues from the sale of our vehicles, which began
with the R1T in September 2021 and the R1S and EDV in December 2021. We do not expect to be profitable for the foreseeable future as we invest in our business, build capacity, and ramp
up opera�ons, and we cannot assure you that we will ever achieve or be able to maintain profitability in the future. Even if we are able to successfully develop our vehicles and a�ract
customers, there can be no assurance that we will be financially successful. For example, as we expand our product por�olio, including the introduc�on of lower-priced vehicles, and expand
interna�onally, we will need to manage costs effec�vely to sell those products at our expected margins. Failure to become profitable would materially and adversely affect the value of your
investment. If we are ever to achieve profitability, it will be dependent upon the successful development and commercial introduc�on and acceptance of our consumer vehicles, such as the
R1T and R1S, our commercial fleet vehicles, such as the EDV, and our services, which may not occur.

Our limited opera�ng history makes it difficult for us to evaluate our future business prospects.

We are a company with an extremely limited opera�ng history and have not generated material revenue from sales of our vehicles or other products and services to date. As we con�nue to
transi�on from research and development ac�vi�es to produc�on and sales, it is difficult, if not impossible, to forecast our future results, and we have limited insight into trends that may
emerge and affect our business. The es�mated costs and �melines that we have developed to reach full scale commercial produc�on are subject to inherent risks and uncertain�es involved
in the transi�on from a start-up company focused on research and development ac�vi�es to the large-scale manufacture and sale of vehicles. There can be no assurance that our es�mates
related to the costs and �ming necessary to complete the design and engineering of the EDV and our other commercial products, will prove accurate. These are complex processes that may
be subject to delays, cost overruns and other unforeseen issues. In addi�on, we have engaged in limited marke�ng ac�vi�es to date, so even if we are able to bring our other commercial
products to market, on �me and on budget, there can be no assurance that customers will embrace our products in significant numbers at the prices we establish. Market and geopoli�cal
condi�ons, many of which are outside of our control and subject to change, including general economic condi�ons, the availability and terms of financing, the impacts and ongoing
uncertain�es created by the COVID-19 pandemic, the conflict in the Ukraine, fuel and energy prices, regulatory requirements and incen�ves, compe��on, and the pace and extent of vehicle
electrifica�on generally, will impact demand for the R1T, R1S, EDV, and our other commercial products, and ul�mately our success.

Our ability to develop and manufacture vehicles of sufficient quality and appeal to customers on schedule and on a large scale is unproven.

Our business depends in large part on our ability to develop, manufacture, market, and sell our vehicles. Our ini�al deliveries for the R1T and R1S were delayed, and our produc�on ramp is
taking longer than originally expected due to a number of reasons. The cascading impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and more recently the conflict in the Ukraine, have impacted our
business and opera�ons from facility construc�on to equipment installa�on to vehicle component supply.
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We launched our first consumer vehicles, the R1T and R1S, and first commercial vehicle, the EDV, and made our first deliveries in 2021. In conjunc�on with the launch of future products we
may need to manufacture our vehicles in increasingly higher volumes than our present produc�on capabili�es at the Normal Factory. We have no experience as an organiza�on in high
volume manufacturing of EVs, and we do not expect to reach a vehicle produc�on rate, which, when annualized, would result in us using 100% of the facility’s current installed capacity of
up to 150,000 vehicles un�l late 2023. The con�nued development of and the ability to manufacture our vehicles at scale, including the R1T, R1S, and commercial fleet vehicles, such as the
EDV, and other commercial products are and will be subject to risks, including with respect to:

•  our ability to secure necessary funding;
•  our ability to nego�ate and execute defini�ve agreements, and maintain arrangements on reasonable terms, with our various suppliers for hardware, so�ware, or services

necessary to engineer or manufacture parts or components of our vehicles;
• securing necessary components, services, or licenses on acceptable terms and in a �mely manner;
• delays by us in delivering final component designs to our suppliers;
• our ability to accurately manufacture vehicles within specified design tolerances;
• quality controls, including within our manufacturing opera�ons, that prove to be ineffec�ve or inefficient;
• defects in design and/or manufacture that cause our vehicles not to perform as expected or that require repair, field ac�ons, including product recalls, and design changes;
• delays, disrup�ons or increased costs in our supply chain, including raw material supplies;
• other delays, backlog in manufacturing and research and development of new models, and cost overruns;
• obtaining required regulatory approvals and cer�fica�ons;
• compliance with environmental, safety, and similar regula�ons; and
• our ability to a�ract, recruit, hire, retain, and train skilled employees.

Our ability to develop, manufacture, and obtain required regulatory approvals for vehicles of sufficient quality and appeal to customers on schedule and on a large scale is unproven. Our
vehicles may not meet customer expecta�ons and may not be commercially viable.

Historically, automobile customers have expected car manufacturers to periodically introduce new and improved vehicle models. In order to meet these expecta�ons, we may be required to
introduce new vehicle models and enhanced versions of exis�ng models. To date, we have limited experience, as a company, designing, tes�ng, manufacturing, marke�ng, and selling our
vehicles and therefore cannot assure you that we will be able to meet customer expecta�ons.

Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We have experienced, and could experience in the future, cost increases and disrup�ons in supply of raw materials or other components used in our vehicles.

We incur significant costs related to procuring raw materials required to manufacture and assemble our vehicles. The prices for these raw materials fluctuate depending on factors beyond
our control including market condi�ons and global demand for these materials and could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.
Further, any delays or disrup�ons in our supply chain could harm our business. For example, COVID-19, including associated variants, and the recent conflict in the Ukraine, have caused
disrup�ons to and delays in our opera�ons, including shortages and delays in the supply of certain parts, including semiconductors, materials and equipment necessary for the produc�on of
our vehicles, and the various internal designs and processes we have adopted in an effort to remedy or mi�gate impacts of such disrup�ons and delays have resulted in higher costs. There
have been very sizable increases in recent months in the cost of key metals, including lithium, nickel, aluminum, and cobalt with vola�lity in pricing expected to persist for the foreseeable
future. In addi�on, our business also depends on the con�nued supply of ba�ery cells for our vehicles. We are exposed to mul�ple risks rela�ng to availability and pricing of quality ba�ery
cells. These risks include:

• the inability or unwillingness of ba�ery cell manufacturers to build or operate ba�ery cell manufacturing plants to supply the numbers of ba�ery cells (including the applicable
chemistries) required to support the growth of the electric or plug-in hybrid vehicle industry as demand for such cells increases;

• disrup�on in the supply of ba�ery cells due to quality issues or recalls by the ba�ery cell manufacturers; and
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• an increase in the cost, or decrease in the available supply of raw materials used in ba�ery cells, such as lithium, nickel, and cobalt.

Furthermore, currency fluctua�ons, tariffs or shortages in petroleum and other economic or poli�cal condi�ons may result in significant increases in freight charges and raw material costs.
Substan�al increases in the prices for our raw materials or components would increase our opera�ng costs and could reduce our margins. For example, due to the recent global
semiconductor supply shortage, other supply chain issues including the COVID-19 pandemic and the conflict in the Ukraine, and the current infla�onary environment in the United States,
the cost of input materials, components and systems required to produce our vehicles has risen considerably, and we have increased, and may need to con�nue to increase, the prices of our
vehicles in response to these and future cost pressures. Price increases and other measures taken by us to offset higher costs could materially and adversely affect our reputa�on and brand,
result in nega�ve publicity and loss of customers and sales, and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. In addi�on, a growth in
popularity of EVs without a significant expansion in ba�ery cell produc�on capacity could result in shortages which would result in increased materials costs to us, and would impact our
projected manufacturing and delivery �melines, and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We are dependent on our exis�ng suppliers, a significant number of which are single or limited source suppliers, and are also dependent on our ability to source suppliers, for our cri�cal
components, and to complete the building out of our supply chain, while effec�vely managing the risks due to such rela�onships.

Our success will be dependent upon our ability to enter into supplier agreements and maintain our rela�onships with exis�ng suppliers who are cri�cal and necessary to the output and
produc�on of our vehicles. The supply agreements we have, and may enter into with suppliers in the future, may have provisions where such agreements can be terminated in various
circumstances, including poten�ally without cause. In the ordinary course of our business, we currently have, and may in the future have, legal disputes with our suppliers, including
li�ga�on to enforce such supply agreements, which would adversely affect our ability to source components from such suppliers. If our suppliers become unable or unwilling to provide, or
experience delays in providing, components, or if the supply agreements we have in place are terminated, or if any such li�ga�on to enforce our supply agreements is not resolved in our
favor, it may be difficult to find replacement components. Addi�onally, our products contain thousands of parts that we purchase from hundreds of mostly single- or limited-source
suppliers, for which no immediate or readily available alterna�ve supplier exists. Due to scarce natural resources or other component availability constraints, we may not receive the full
alloca�on of parts we have requested from a par�cular supplier due to supplier alloca�on decisions which are outside our control. While we believe that we would be able to establish
alternate supply rela�onships and can obtain or engineer replacement components for our single source components, we may be unable to do so in the short term (or at all) at prices or
quality levels that are acceptable to us. Further, any such alterna�ve suppliers may be located a long distance from the Normal Factory, which may lead to increased costs or delays. In
addi�on, as we evaluate opportuni�es and take steps to insource certain components and parts, supply arrangements with current or future suppliers (with respect to other components
and parts offered by such suppliers) may be available on less favorable terms or not at all. Changes in business or macroeconomic condi�ons, governmental regula�ons, and other factors
beyond our control or that we do not presently an�cipate could affect our ability to receive components from our suppliers. The unavailability of any component or supplier has resulted,
and could in the future result in produc�on delays, idle manufacturing facili�es, product design changes, and loss of access to important technology and tools for producing and suppor�ng
our products and services.

In addi�on, if our suppliers experience substan�al financial difficul�es, cease opera�ons, or otherwise face business disrup�ons, we would be required to take measures to ensure
components and materials remain available. Any disrup�on could affect our ability to deliver vehicles and could increase our costs and nega�vely affect our liquidity and financial
performance.
Also, if a supplied vehicle component becomes the subject of a field ac�on, including a product recall, we would be required to find an alterna�ve component, which could increase our
costs and cause vehicle produc�on delays. Addi�onally, we may become subject to costly li�ga�on surrounding the component.

If we do not enter into long-term supply agreements with guaranteed pricing for our parts or components, or if those long-term supply agreements are not honored by our suppliers, we
may be exposed to fluctua�ons in prices of components, materials, and equipment. Agreements for the purchase of ba�ery cells contain or are likely to contain pricing provisions that are
subject to adjustments based on changes in market prices of key commodi�es. Substan�al increases in the prices for such components, materials, and equipment would increase our
opera�ng costs and could reduce our margins if we cannot recoup the increased costs. Increasing the announced or expected prices of our vehicles in response to increased costs has
previously
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been viewed nega�vely by our poten�al customers, and any future a�empts to increase prices could have similar results, which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We depend upon third par�es to manufacture and to supply key semiconductor chip components necessary for our vehicles. We do not have long-term agreements with all of our
semiconductor chip manufacturers and suppliers, and if these manufacturers or suppliers become unwilling or unable to provide an adequate supply of semiconductor chips, with
respect to which there is a global shortage, we would not be able to find alterna�ve sources in a �mely manner and our business would be adversely impacted.

Semiconductor chips are a vital input component to the electrical architecture of our consumer and commercial vehicles, controlling wide aspects of the vehicles’ opera�ons. Many of the
key semiconductor chips used in our vehicles come from limited or single sources of supply, and therefore a disrup�on with any one manufacturer or supplier in our supply chain would have
an adverse effect on our ability to effec�vely manufacture and �mely deliver our vehicles. Due to our reliance on these semiconductor chips, we are subject to the risk of shortages and long
lead �mes in their supply. We are s�ll in the process of iden�fying alterna�ve manufacturers for semiconductor chips. We have in the past experienced, are currently experiencing, and may
in the future experience, semiconductor chip shortages, and the availability and cost of these components would be difficult to predict. For example, our manufacturers may experience
temporary or permanent disrup�ons in their manufacturing opera�ons due to equipment breakdowns, labor strikes or shortages, natural disasters, component or material shortages, cost
increases, acquisi�ons, insolvency, changes in legal or regulatory requirements, or other similar problems.

In par�cular, increased demand for semiconductor chips in 2020, due in part to the COVID-19 pandemic and increased demand for consumer electronics that use these chips, has resulted in
a severe global shortage of chips in 2021, which we expect will con�nue well into 2022, in part as a consequence of the con�nuing COVID-19 pandemic and the conflict in the Ukraine. As a
result, our ability to source semiconductor chips used in our vehicles has been adversely affected. This shortage has resulted and will likely con�nue to result in increased chip delivery lead
�mes, delays in the produc�on of our vehicles, and increased costs to source available semiconductor chips. To the extent this semiconductor chip shortage con�nues, and we are unable to
mi�gate the effects of this shortage, our ability to deliver sufficient quan��es of our vehicles to fulfill our preorders and to support our growth through sales to new customers would be
adversely affected. In addi�on, we expect to incur addi�onal costs and expenses in managing ongoing chip shortages, including addi�onal research and development expenses, engineering
design and development costs in the event that new suppliers must be onboarded on an expedited basis. Further, ongoing delays in produc�on and shipment of vehicles due to a con�nuing
shortage of semiconductor chips may harm our reputa�on and discourage addi�onal preorders and vehicle sales, and otherwise materially and adversely affect our business and opera�ons.

We expect that a significant por�on of our ini�al revenue will be from one customer that is an affiliate of one of our principal stockholders. If we are unable to maintain this
rela�onship, or if this customer purchases significantly fewer vehicles than we currently an�cipate or none at all, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and
cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

To date, we have generated minimal revenue from the ini�al sales of our vehicles. Our future success depends on us expanding commercial sales and a�rac�ng a large number of customers
for our vehicles. In the near-term, however, we expect that a significant por�on of our revenue will be from Amazon Logis�cs, Inc. (“Logis�cs”). Amazon is the parent company of both
Logis�cs and Amazon.com NV Investment Holdings LLC (“NV Holdings”), which beneficially owns shares of our capital stock (including shares issuable upon the exercise of a warrant to
purchase 3,723,050 shares of Class A common stock, as amended) represen�ng 16.6% of our vo�ng power as of December 31, 2021.

In February 2019, we entered into a commercial le�er agreement with Amazon, and in September 2019, we entered into a related framework agreement with Logis�cs. We refer to these
agreements, together with any work orders, purchase orders, related agreements, and amendments thereunder or thereto, collec�vely, as the “EDV Agreement.” Under the EDV Agreement,
we and Logis�cs have agreed to collaborate to design, develop, manufacture, and supply EDVs and/or certain component parts and related services for use in Amazon’s last mile delivery
opera�ons. We also have agreed under the EDV Agreement that un�l the fourth anniversary of when Logis�cs first receives EDVs (the “Ini�al Delivery Date”), whether or not Logis�cs
purchases any EDVs from us, we will exclusively provide last mile delivery vehicles to Amazon, and from the fourth anniversary to the sixth anniversary of the Ini�al Delivery Date, Amazon
will have a right of first refusal to purchase last mile delivery vehicles that we produce. Under the EDV Agreement, Logis�cs has the right to decide how many EDVs to purchase, which may
be fewer than expected, or delay the delivery of such purchases. Certain factors outside of our control may
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influence Logis�cs’ decision as to the number of EDVs to purchase from us and the �ming of delivery, including Logis�cs’ ability to deploy a charging infrastructure across their delivery
sta�ons. The EDV Agreement is non-exclusive, and Logis�cs has announced their intent to purchase EVs, including last mile delivery vehicles, from other manufacturers, including those who
are or may become compe�tors to us.

While the EDV Agreement provides that we will be reimbursed for certain development costs, it does not include any minimum purchase requirements or otherwise restrict Logis�cs from
developing vehicles or collabora�ng with, or purchasing similar vehicles from, third par�es. The EDV Agreement may be terminated by either party with or without cause, subject to
compliance with certain termina�on provisions. If we fail to adequately perform under the EDV Agreement, if fewer EDVs are purchased than we an�cipate, or if either party terminates the
EDV Agreement for any reason, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows would be materially and adversely affected.

The success of our business depends on a�rac�ng and retaining a large number of customers. If we are unable to do so, we will not be able to achieve profitability.

Our success depends on a�rac�ng a large number of poten�al customers to purchase our vehicles and the associated services we will provide to our customers. As of March 8, 2022, we had
accepted preorders for approximately 83,000 R1 vehicles in the United States and Canada. Preorders are not commitments to purchase our R1T or R1S and are subject to cancella�on by
customers. If our exis�ng preorder and prospec�ve customers do not perceive our vehicles and services to be of sufficiently high value and quality, cost compe��ve and appealing in
aesthe�cs or performance, we may not be able to retain our current preorder customers or a�ract new customers, and our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons,
and cash flows would suffer as a result. In addi�on, we may incur significantly higher and more sustained adver�sing and promo�onal expenditures than we have previously incurred to
a�ract customers. Further, our future success will also depend in part on securing addi�onal commercial agreements with businesses and/or fleet operators for our commercial vehicles. To
date, we have limited experience selling our EVs and we may not be successful in a�rac�ng and retaining a large number of consumer and commercial customers. If, for any of these
reasons, we are not able to a�ract and maintain consumer and commercial customers, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows would be materially
harmed.

We face significant challenges as a new entrant into the automo�ve industry.

We have a short opera�ng history in the automobile industry, which is con�nuously evolving. We have no experience as an organiza�on in high volume manufacturing of EVs. We cannot
assure you that we will be able to develop efficient, automated, cost-efficient manufacturing capability and processes, and reliable sources of component supplies that will enable us to meet
the quality, price, engineering, design, and produc�on standards, as well as the produc�on volumes, required to successfully mass produce the R1T, R1S, EDV, and future vehicles.

We also believe that our service offerings, including consumer confidence in our ability to provide and expand our charging solu�ons, as well as our ability to honor our obliga�ons under
our services packages and consumer and commercial subscrip�ons will be key factors in marke�ng our vehicles. As a result, consumers will be less likely to purchase our vehicles if they are
not convinced that our business will succeed or that our opera�ons will con�nue for many years. Similarly, suppliers and other third par�es will be less likely to invest �me and resources in
developing business rela�onships with us if they are not convinced that our business will succeed.

You should consider our business and prospects in light of the risks and significant challenges we face as a new entrant into our industry. If we fail to adequately address any or all of these
risks and challenges, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.
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The automo�ve market is highly compe��ve, and we may not be successful in compe�ng in this industry.

Both the automobile industry generally, and the EV segment in par�cular, are highly compe��ve, and we will be compe�ng for sales with both EV manufacturers and tradi�onal automo�ve
companies, including those who have announced consumer and commercial vehicles that may be directly compe��ve to ours. Many of our current and poten�al compe�tors may have
significantly greater financial, technical, manufacturing, marke�ng, or other resources than we do and may be able to devote greater resources to the design, development, manufacturing,
distribu�on, promo�on, sale, and support of their products than we may devote to our products. We expect compe��on for EVs to intensify due to increased demand and a regulatory push
for alterna�ve fuel vehicles, con�nuing globaliza�on, and consolida�on in the worldwide automo�ve industry, as well as the recent significant increase in oil and gasoline prices. In addi�on,
as fleet operators begin transi�oning to EVs on a mass scale, we expect that more compe�tors will enter the commercial fleet EV market. Under the EDV Agreement, we have granted
Amazon certain exclusivity and first refusal rights which will ini�ally restrict our ability to contract with other commercial customers. See “—We expect that a significant por�on of our ini�al
revenue will be from one customer that is an affiliate of one of our principal stockholders. If we are unable to maintain this rela�onship, or if this customer purchases significantly fewer
vehicles than we currently an�cipate or none at all, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.” In addi�on,
the existence of our commercial rela�onship with Amazon, coupled with its significant holdings of our securi�es, may deter Amazon’s compe�tors or other third par�es from contrac�ng
with us. Further, as a result of new entrants in the commercial fleet EV market, we may experience increased compe��on for components and other parts of our vehicles, which may have
limited or single-source supply.

Factors affec�ng compe��on include product performance and quality, technological innova�on, customer experience, brand differen�a�on, product design, pricing and TCO, and
manufacturing scale and efficiency. Increased compe��on may lead to lower vehicle unit sales and increased inventory, which may result in downward price pressure and adversely affect
our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We may underes�mate or not effec�vely manage the capital expenditures and costs associated with our business and opera�ons.

We have required significant capital to develop and grow our business, including developing our first vehicles to be manufactured at volume, the R1T and R1S, as well as building our brand.
We expect to make addi�onal capital expenditures and incur substan�al costs as we prepare to commercially grow sales of our vehicles and grow our business, including research and
development expenses, raw material procurement costs, sales and distribu�on expenses as we build our brand and market our vehicles, costs in connec�on with expanding our charging
networks, and general and administra�ve expenses as we scale our opera�ons, iden�fy and commit resources to inves�gate new areas of demand and incur costs as a public company. Our
ability to become profitable in the future will not only depend on our ability to complete the design and development of our vehicles but also to es�mate and effec�vely manage our capital
expenditures and costs. As we expand our product por�olio, including the introduc�on of lower-priced vehicles, we will need to manage costs effec�vely to sell those products at our
expected margins. If we are unable to cost efficiently design, manufacture, market, sell and distribute and service our vehicles and provide our services, our business, prospects, financial
condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows would be materially and adversely affected.

We may experience significant delays in the manufacture, and delivery of our vehicles, which could harm our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash
flows.

Our future business depends in large part on our ability to execute our plans to develop, manufacture, market, and sell our vehicles, including those currently in development for domes�c
and interna�onal markets. Our ini�al deliveries for the R1T and R1S were delayed, and our produc�on ramp is taking longer than originally expected as a result of supply chain challenges
and other related factors. Any further delay in the manufacture or delivery of our vehicles could materially damage our brand, business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons,
and cash flows, and could cause liquidity constraints. Furthermore, we rely on third-party suppliers for the provision and development of key components and materials used in our vehicles.
To the extent our suppliers experience any delays in providing us with or developing necessary components we could experience delays in delivering on our �melines. See “—We have
experienced, and could experience in the future, cost increases and disrup�ons in supply of raw materials or other components used in our vehicles.”

We have no experience to date in high volume manufacturing of our vehicles. Even if we are successful in developing our high-volume manufacturing capability and processes and in reliably
sourcing our component supply, we cannot assure that
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we will be able to do so in a manner that avoids significant delays and cost overruns, including as a result of factors beyond our control such as problems with suppliers and vendors, or in
�me to meet our vehicle commercializa�on schedules or in sa�sfac�on of the requirements of customers.

We are highly dependent on the services and reputa�on of Robert J. Scaringe, our Founder and CEO.

We are highly dependent on the services and reputa�on of Robert J. Scaringe, our Founder and CEO. Dr. Scaringe is a significant influence on and driver of our business plan. If Dr. Scaringe
were to discon�nue his service due to death, disability or any other reason, or if his reputa�on is adversely impacted by personal ac�ons or omissions or other events within or outside his
control, we would be significantly disadvantaged.

In addi�on, Dr. Scaringe is a director of Forever by Rivian, and director and President of the Rivian Founda�on. His posi�on as a director of the Rivian Founda�on and Forever by Rivian may
give rise to fiduciary or other du�es in conflict with the du�es he owes to us. Furthermore, Dr. Scaringe may have significant du�es, and may devote a substan�al amount of �me serving, as
a member of the board of directors of the Rivian Founda�on and Forever by Rivian which may compete with his ability to devote a sufficient amount of a�en�on toward his obliga�ons to
us, or to day-to-day ac�vi�es of our business.

Our long-term results depend upon our ability to successfully introduce and market new products and services, which may expose us to new and increased challenges and risks.

Our growth strategy depends, in part, on our ability to successfully introduce and market new products and services, such as financing, insurance, vehicle services, charging solu�ons,
vehicle resale, as well as membership and so�ware services for consumer customers and fleet management for commercial customers. If we experience significant future growth, we may
be required not only to make addi�onal investments in our ecosystem and workforce, but also to expand our distribu�on infrastructure and customer support or expand our rela�onships
with various partners and other third par�es with whom we do business.

As we introduce new products and services or refine, improve, begin charging customers for, or upgrade versions of exis�ng products and services, we cannot predict the level of market
acceptance or the amount of market share these products or services will achieve, if any. We cannot assure you that we will not experience material delays in the introduc�on of new
products and services in the future. Consistent with our strategy of offering new products and product refinements, we expect to con�nue to use a substan�al amount of capital for product
refinement, research and development, and sales and marke�ng. We will need addi�onal capital for product development and refinement, and this capital may not be available on terms
favorable to us, if at all, which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

To date, we have no sustained experience servicing or repairing our vehicles in the field or providing financing or insurance services for our vehicles. Such lack of sustained experience as well
as our lack of significant, relevant user data rela�ng to these new offerings may make it more difficult for us to an�cipate user demand and preferences. We may misjudge user demand and
the poten�al profitability of a new product or service.

If we are unable to successfully introduce, integrate, and market new products and services, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be
materially and adversely affected.

If we fail to scale our business opera�ons or otherwise manage our future growth effec�vely as we a�empt to rapidly grow our company, we may not be able to produce, market,
service and sell (or lease) our vehicles successfully.

We intend to con�nue to expand our opera�ons significantly, which will require hiring, retaining and training new personnel, controlling expenses, efficiently and effec�vely expanding
opera�onal capabili�es, establishing more facili�es and experience centers, and growing administra�ve infrastructure, systems, and processes. For example, in order to efficiently and
effec�vely operate our manufacturing processes we must stand-up complex and integrated informa�on technology (“IT”) systems, and we plan to ini�ate work on our newly announced
manufacturing facility in Georgia in 2022. Our future opera�ng results depend to a large extent on our ability to manage this expansion and growth successfully. Risks that we face in
undertaking this expansion include, among others:
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• a�rac�ng and hiring skilled and qualified personnel to support our expanded opera�ons at exis�ng facili�es or opera�ons at any facili�es we may construct or acquire in the future,
including our planned second manufacturing plant;

• construc�ng and opera�onalizing our planned second manufacturing plant before our Normal Factory has reached full capacity;
• implemen�ng IT systems that allow for efficiently scalable manufacturing opera�ons;
• managing a larger organiza�on with a great number of employees in different divisions and geographies;
• training and integra�ng new employees into our opera�ons to meet the growing demands of our business;
• controlling expenses and investments in an�cipa�on of expanded opera�ons;
• establishing or expanding design, manufacturing, sales, charging and service facili�es;
• managing regulatory requirements and permits, labor issues and controlling costs in connec�on with the construc�on of addi�onal facili�es or the expansion of exis�ng facili�es;
• implemen�ng and enhancing administra�ve infrastructure, systems and processes;
• facing opposi�on from local an�-development groups or other special interest groups that are adverse to our business interests;
• failing to receive or maintain the support of local, state, federal or interna�onal poli�cians or other policymakers necessary to support expansion or new construc�on plans; and
• addressing any new markets and poten�ally unforeseen challenges as they arise.

Furthermore, we have no experience to date in high volume manufacturing of our vehicles and we cannot assure that we will be able to develop efficient, automated, low-cost
manufacturing capabili�es and processes, and reliable sources of component supply, that will enable us to meet the quality, price, engineering, design, and produc�on standards, as well as
the produc�on volumes, required to successfully market our vehicles as our opera�ons expand. Any failure to effec�vely manage our growth could materially and adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We may not succeed in establishing, maintaining and strengthening our brand, which would materially and adversely affect customer acceptance of our vehicles and components and
our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Our business and prospects heavily depend on our ability to develop, maintain, and strengthen the Rivian brand. If we are not able to establish, maintain and strengthen our brand, we may
lose the opportunity to build a cri�cal mass of customers. Our ability to develop, maintain and strengthen the Rivian brand will depend heavily on our ability to provide high quality EVs and
engage with our customers as intended, as well as the success of our customer development and marke�ng efforts. The automobile industry is intensely compe��ve, and we may not be
successful in building, maintaining, and strengthening our brand. Many of our current and poten�al compe�tors, par�cularly automobile manufacturers headquartered in the United States,
Japan, the EU, and China, have greater name recogni�on, broader customer rela�onships, and substan�ally greater marke�ng resources than we do. If we do not develop and maintain a
strong brand, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely impacted.

In addi�on, if incidents occur or are perceived to have occurred, such as produc�on delays and price increases, whether or not such incidents are our fault, we have in the past and could in
the future be subject to adverse publicity. In par�cular, given the popularity of social media, any nega�ve publicity, whether true or not, could quickly proliferate and harm consumer
percep�ons and confidence in the Rivian brand. Furthermore, there is the risk of poten�al adverse publicity related to our manufacturing or other partners whether or not such publicity
related to their collabora�on with us. Our ability to successfully posi�on our brand could also be adversely affected by percep�ons about the quality of our compe�tors’ vehicles.

In addi�on, from �me to �me, our vehicles may be evaluated and reviewed by third par�es. Any nega�ve reviews or reviews which compare us unfavorably to compe�tors could adversely
affect consumer percep�on about our vehicles.

Our passion and focus on delivering a high-quality and engaging Rivian experience may not maximize short-term financial results, which may yield results that conflict with the market’s
expecta�ons and could result in our stock price being nega�vely affected.

We are passionate about con�nually enhancing the Rivian experience with a focus on driving long-term customer engagement through innova�ve, technologically advanced vehicles and
services, which may not necessarily maximize short-term financial results. We frequently make business decisions that may reduce our short-term financial results if we believe
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that the decisions are consistent with our goals to improve the Rivian experience, which we believe will improve our financial results over the long-term. In the near-term, we will focus
significant resources on research and development and sales and marke�ng to deliver the Rivian experience to our customers, which could impact our short-term financial results. These
decisions may not be consistent with the short-term expecta�ons of our stockholders and may not produce the long-term benefits that we expect, in which case our business, prospects,
financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be harmed.

Our distribu�on model is different from the predominant current distribu�on model for automobile manufacturers, which subjects us to substan�al risk and makes evalua�ng our
business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows difficult.

We plan to sell, finance, and lease our vehicles directly to customers rather than through franchised dealerships, primarily through Rivian customer experience and services centers, subject
to obtaining applicable dealer licenses and equivalent permits in such jurisdic�ons, and digital customer experiences via our online pla�orm. This model of vehicle distribu�on is rela�vely
new, different from the predominant current distribu�on model for automobile manufacturers and, with limited excep�ons, unproven, which subjects us to substan�al risk. We have no
experience in selling or leasing vehicles and therefore this model may require significant expenditures and provide for slower expansion than the tradi�onal dealer franchise system. For
example, we will not be able to u�lize long established sales channels developed through a franchise system to increase sales volume. Moreover, we will be compe�ng with companies with
well established distribu�on channels. Our success will depend in large part on our ability to effec�vely develop our own sales channels and marke�ng strategies.

Implemen�ng our direct sales and leasing model is subject to numerous significant challenges, including obtaining permits and approvals from government authori�es, and we may not be
successful in addressing these challenges. Further, there are substan�al automo�ve franchise laws in place in many geographies around the world and we might be exposed to significant
franchise dealer li�ga�on risks.

If our direct sales and leasing model does not develop as expected or develops more slowly than expected, we may be required to modify or abandon our sales and leasing model, which
could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We rely on complex machinery for our opera�ons, and produc�on involves a significant degree of risk and uncertainty in terms of opera�onal performance, safety, security, and costs.

We rely heavily on complex machinery for our opera�ons and our produc�on involves a significant degree of uncertainty and risk in terms of opera�onal performance, safety, security, and
costs. Our manufacturing plant consists of large-scale machinery combining many components, including complex so�ware to operate such machinery and to coordinate opera�ng ac�vi�es
across the manufacturing plant. The manufacturing plant components are likely to suffer unexpected malfunc�ons from �me to �me, especially as we ramp up produc�on on new products,
and will depend on repairs, spare parts, and IT solu�ons to resume opera�ons, which may not be available when needed. Unexpected malfunc�ons of the manufacturing plant components
may significantly affect opera�onal efficiency.

Opera�onal performance and costs can be difficult to predict and are o�en influenced by factors outside of our control, such as, but not limited to, scarcity of natural resources,
environmental hazards and remedia�on, costs associated with decommissioning of machines, labor disputes and strikes, difficulty or delays in obtaining governmental permits, damages or
defects in electronic systems including the so�ware used to control or operate them, industrial accidents, pandemics, fire, seismic ac�vity, and natural disasters. For example, in October
2021 we experienced a small fire in connec�on with a thermal runaway event in our ba�ery module line at the Normal Factory. The event was quickly contained, resulted in no injuries or
equipment damage, and did not result in produc�on delays as the ba�ery module line was back in service the following morning. We cannot guarantee that similar events will not occur in
the future, or that we will be able to contain such events without damage or delay.

Should opera�onal risks materialize, it may result in the personal injury to or death of workers, the loss of produc�on equipment, damage to manufacturing facili�es, products, supplies,
tools and materials, monetary losses, delays and unan�cipated fluctua�ons in produc�on, environmental damage, administra�ve fines, increased insurance costs, and poten�al legal
liabili�es, all which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. Although we generally carry insurance to cover
such opera�onal risks, we cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover poten�al costs and liabili�es arising therefrom. A loss that is uninsured
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or exceeds policy limits may require us to pay substan�al amounts, which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Our vehicles rely on so�ware and hardware that is highly technical, and if these systems contain errors, bugs, vulnerabili�es, or design defects, or if we are unsuccessful in addressing or
mi�ga�ng technical limita�ons in our systems, our business could be adversely affected.

Our vehicles rely on so�ware and hardware that is highly technical and complex and will require modifica�on and updates over the life of the vehicles. In addi�on, our vehicles depend on
the ability of such so�ware and hardware to store, retrieve, process and manage immense amounts of data. Our so�ware and hardware may contain errors, bugs, vulnerabili�es or design
defects, and our systems are subject to certain technical limita�ons that may compromise our ability to meet our objec�ves. Some errors, bugs, vulnerabili�es, or design defects inherently
may be difficult to detect and may only be discovered a�er the code has been released for external or internal use. Although we will a�empt to remedy any issues we observe in our
vehicles effec�vely and rapidly, such efforts may not be �mely, may hamper produc�on or may not be to the sa�sfac�on of our customers.

Addi�onally, if we deploy updates to the so�ware (whether to address issues, deliver new features or make desired modifica�ons) and our over-the-air update procedures fail to properly
update the so�ware or otherwise have unintended consequences to the so�ware, the so�ware within our customers’ vehicles will be subject to vulnerabili�es or unintended consequences
resul�ng from such failure of the over-the-air update un�l properly addressed.

If we are unable to prevent or effec�vely remedy errors, bugs, vulnerabili�es or defects in our so�ware and hardware, or fail to deploy updates to our so�ware properly, we would suffer
damage to our reputa�on, loss of customers, loss of revenue or liability for damages, any of which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons,
and cash flows.

There are complex so�ware and technology systems that need to be developed by us and in coordina�on with vendors and suppliers to reach mass produc�on for our vehicles, and
there can be no assurance such systems will be successfully developed or integrated.

Our vehicles and opera�ons will use a substan�al amount of complex third-party and in-house so�ware and hardware. The development and integra�on of such advanced technologies are
inherently complex, and we will need to coordinate with our vendors and suppliers to reach mass produc�on for our vehicles. Defects and errors may be revealed over �me and our control
over the performance of third-party services and systems may be limited. Thus, our poten�al inability to develop and integrate the necessary so�ware and technology systems may harm
our compe��ve posi�on.

We rely on third-party suppliers to develop a number of emerging technologies for use in our products, including ba�ery technology and the use of different ba�ery cell chemistries. Certain
of these technologies and chemistries are not today, and may not ever be, commercially viable. There can be no assurances that our suppliers will be able to meet the technological
requirements, produc�on �ming, and volume requirements to support our business plan. Furthermore, if we experience delays by our third-party suppliers, we could experience delays in
delivering on our �melines. In addi�on, the technology may not comply with the cost, performance useful life, and warranty characteris�cs we an�cipate in our business plan. As a result,
our business plan could be significantly impacted and we may incur significant liabili�es under warranty claims which could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We are currently opera�ng in a period of economic uncertainty, capital markets disrup�on, and supply chain interrup�ons, which have been significantly impacted by geopoli�cal
instability due to the ongoing military conflict between Russia and the Ukraine. Our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows may be materially
adversely affected by any nega�ve impact on the global economy, capital markets, or supply chain resul�ng from the conflict in the Ukraine or any other geopoli�cal tensions.

United States and global markets are experiencing vola�lity and disrup�on following the escala�on of geopoli�cal tensions and the start of the military conflict between Russia and the
Ukraine. On February 24, 2022, a full-scale military invasion of the Ukraine by Russian troops began. Although the length and impact of the ongoing military conflict is highly unpredictable,
the conflict in the Ukraine could lead to market disrup�ons, including significant vola�lity in commodity prices, credit and capital markets, as well as supply chain interrup�ons. We are
con�nuing to monitor the situa�on in the Ukraine and globally and assessing its poten�al impact on our business. The conflict in the Ukraine has led to sanc�ons and other penal�es being
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levied by the United States, the EU, and other coun�es against Russia. Addi�onal poten�al sanc�ons and penal�es have also been proposed and/or threatened. Russian military ac�ons and
the resul�ng sanc�ons could adversely affect the global economy and financial markets and lead to instability and lack of liquidity in capital markets, poten�ally making it more difficult for
us to obtain addi�onal funds, as well as further disrup�ng the supply chain. Any of the foregoing factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on,
results of opera�ons, and cash flows. The extent and dura�on of the military ac�on, sanc�ons, and resul�ng market and/or supply disrup�ons are impossible to predict, but could be
substan�al. Any such disrup�ons may also magnify the impact of other risks described herein.

We may not realize the benefits of our charging networks, including RAN DCFCs and Rivian Waypoints.

We con�nue to deploy our RAN DCFCs and Rivian Waypoints, which are networks of charging sta�ons in the United States designed to provide charging capability to owners of our vehicles.
We have ini�ally focused our efforts on strategically deploying our charging sta�ons in those regions with the highest concentra�on of customer preorders, major interstates as well as
targeted des�na�on areas. We intend to expand the charging networks throughout the United States and eventually in other countries, but we may be unable to do so due to a number of
factors, including the inability to secure, or delays in securing, suitable loca�ons and permits, problems nego�a�ng leases with landowners, difficul�es in interfacing with the infrastructures
of various u�lity companies and greater than expected costs and difficul�es of installing, maintaining, and opera�ng the networks. Although the RAN DCFCs and Rivian Waypoints are
intended to address customer concerns regarding long distance travel, as well as enable our customers’ adventures through the strategic placement of charging sta�ons in des�na�on areas,
these networks may not result in increased preorders or sales of our vehicles. If we do not realize the benefits of our charging networks, our brand and business, prospects, financial
condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

If there is inadequate access to charging sta�ons, our business will be materially and adversely affected.

Demand for our vehicles will depend in part upon the availability of a charging infrastructure. We market our ability to provide our customers with comprehensive charging solu�ons,
including our networks of charging sta�ons, the RAN DCFCs and Rivian Waypoints, as well as the installa�on of home chargers for users where prac�cable, and provide other solu�ons
including charging through publicly accessible charging infrastructure. We have very limited experience in the actual provision of our charging solu�ons to customers and providing these
services is subject to challenges, which include:

• the logis�cs, including any delays or disrup�ons, of rolling out and suppor�ng our RAN DCFCs and Rivian Waypoints and teams in appropriate areas;
• successful integra�on with exis�ng third-party charging networks;
• inadequate capacity or over capacity in certain areas, security risks or risk of damage to vehicles, charging equipment or real or personal property;
• access to sufficient charging infrastructure;
• obtaining any required permits, land use rights and filings;
• the poten�al for lack of customer acceptance of our charging solu�ons; and
• the risk that government support for EV and alterna�ve fuel solu�ons and infrastructure may not con�nue.

While the prevalence of charging sta�ons generally has been increasing, charging sta�on loca�ons are significantly less widespread than gas sta�ons. Some poten�al customers may choose
not to purchase our vehicles because of the lack of a more widespread charging infrastructure. Although we intend to expand our charging networks throughout the United States and
eventually in other countries to address customer concerns, we may also be unable to expand RAN DCFCs and/or Rivian Waypoints as fast as we intend or as the public expects, or to place
the charging sta�ons in places our customers believe to be op�mal. Further, to provide our customers with access to sufficient charging infrastructure, we will rely on the availability of, and
successful integra�on of our vehicles with, third-party charging networks. Any failure of third-party charging networks to meet customer expecta�ons or needs, including quality of
experience, could impact the demand for EVs, including ours. For example, where charging bays exist, the number of vehicles could oversaturate the available charging bays, leading to
increased wait �mes and dissa�sfac�on for customers. In addi�on, given our limited experience in providing charging solu�ons, there could be unan�cipated challenges, which may hinder
our ability to provide our solu�ons or make the provision of our solu�ons costlier than an�cipated. To the extent we are unable to meet user expecta�ons or experience difficul�es in
providing our charging solu�ons, our reputa�on and business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.
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Our vehicles will make use of lithium-ion ba�ery cells, which, if not appropriately managed and controlled, have been observed to catch fire or vent smoke and flame.

The ba�ery packs within our vehicles will make use of lithium-ion cells. If not properly managed or subject to environmental stresses, lithium-ion cells can rapidly release the energy they
contain by ven�ng smoke and flames in a manner that can ignite nearby materials as well as other lithium-ion cells. While the ba�ery pack is designed to contain any single cell’s release of
energy without spreading to neighboring cells, a field or tes�ng failure of ba�ery packs in our vehicles could occur, which could result in bodily injury or death and could subject us to
lawsuits, field ac�ons (including product recalls), or redesign efforts, all of which would be �me consuming and expensive and could harm our brand image. Also, nega�ve public percep�ons
regarding the suitability of lithium-ion cells for automo�ve applica�ons, the social and environmental impacts of mineral mining or procurement associated with the cons�tuents of lithium-
ion cells, or any future incident involving lithium-ion cells, such as a vehicle or other fire, could materially and adversely affect our reputa�on and business, prospects, financial condi�on,
results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We may not be able to accurately es�mate the supply and demand for our vehicles, which could result in a variety of inefficiencies in our business and hinder our ability to generate
revenue and profits. If we fail to accurately predict our manufacturing requirements, we could incur addi�onal costs or experience delays.

It is difficult to predict our future revenues and appropriately budget for our expenses, and we may have limited insight into trends that may emerge and affect our business. We will be
required to provide forecasts of our demand to our suppliers several months prior to the scheduled delivery of products to our prospec�ve customers. Currently, there is no historical basis
for making judgments on the demand for our vehicles or our ability to develop, manufacture, and deliver vehicles, or our results of opera�ons in the future. If we overes�mate our
requirements, our suppliers may have excess inventory, which indirectly would increase our costs. If we underes�mate our requirements, our suppliers may have inadequate inventory,
which could interrupt manufacturing of our products and result in delays in shipments and revenues. In addi�on, lead �mes for materials and components that our suppliers order may vary
significantly and depend on factors such as the specific supplier, contract terms and demand for each component at a given �me. If we fail to order sufficient quan��es of product
components in a �mely manner, the delivery of vehicles to our customers could be delayed, which would harm our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash
flows.

As the scale of our vehicle produc�on increases, we will also need to accurately forecast, purchase, warehouse, and transport components at high volumes to our manufacturing facility. If
we are unable to accurately match the �ming and quan��es of component purchases to our actual needs or successfully implement automa�on, inventory management, and other systems
to accommodate the increased complexity in our supply chain and parts management, we may incur unexpected produc�on disrup�on, storage, transporta�on, and write-off costs, which
could harm our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We have minimal experience servicing and repairing our vehicles. If we or our partners are unable to adequately service our vehicles, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results
of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

We have minimal experience servicing and repairing our vehicles. Servicing EVs is different than servicing vehicles with internal combus�on engines and requires specialized skills, including
high voltage training and servicing techniques. Although we are planning to internalize most aspects of vehicle service over �me, ini�ally we plan to partner with third par�es to enable
na�onwide coverage for roadside and off-road assistance and collision repair needs. There can be no assurance that we will be able to enter into an acceptable arrangement with any such
third-party providers. Although such servicing partners may have experience in servicing other vehicles, they will ini�ally have limited experience in servicing our vehicles. There can be no
assurance that our service arrangements will adequately address the service requirements of our customers to their sa�sfac�on, or that we and our servicing partners will have sufficient
resources, experience, or inventory to meet these service requirements in a �mely manner as the volume of EVs we deliver increases.

In addi�on, a number of states currently impose limita�ons on the ability of manufacturers to directly service vehicles. The applica�on of these state laws to our opera�ons would hinder or
impede our ability to provide services for our vehicles from a loca�on in every state. As a result, if we are unable to roll out and establish a widespread service network that complies with
applicable laws, customer sa�sfac�on could be adversely affected, which in turn could materially and adversely affect our reputa�on and thus our business, prospects, financial condi�on,
results of opera�ons, and cash flows.
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As we con�nue to grow, addi�onal pressure may be placed on our customer support team or partners, and we may be unable to respond quickly enough to accommodate short-term
increases in customer demand for technical support. Customer behavior and usage may result in higher than expected maintenance and repair costs, which may nega�vely affect our
business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. We also could be unable to modify the future scope and delivery of our technical support to compete with
changes in the technical support provided by our compe�tors. Increased customer demand for support, without corresponding revenue, could increase costs and nega�vely affect our
results of opera�ons. If we are unable to successfully address the service requirements of our customers or establish a market percep�on that we do not maintain high-quality support, we
may be subject to claims from our customers, including loss of revenue or damages, and our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be
materially and adversely affected.

Preorders for our vehicles are cancellable and fully refundable.

We offer waitlist preorders for consumers with a cancellable and fully refundable deposit of $1,000. Deposits paid to preorder the R1T and R1S are cancellable by the customer un�l the
customer enters into a lease or purchase agreement. We have experienced customer cancella�ons of their preorders. Because all of our preorders are cancellable, it is possible that a
significant number of customers who submi�ed preorders for our vehicles may not purchase vehicles.

The poten�ally long wait from the �me a preorder is made un�l the �me the vehicle is delivered, and any delays beyond expected wait �mes, could also impact consumer decisions on
whether to ul�mately make a purchase. Any cancella�ons could harm our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

The automo�ve industry and its technology are rapidly evolving and may be subject to unforeseen changes which could adversely affect the demand for our vehicles or increase our
opera�ng costs.

We may be unable to keep up with changes in EV technology or alterna�ves to electricity as a fuel source and, as a result, our compe��veness may suffer. Developments in alterna�ve
technologies, such as advanced diesel, hydrogen, ethanol, fuel cells, or compressed natural gas, or improvements in the fuel economy of the ICE or the cost of gasoline, may materially and
adversely affect our business and prospects in ways we do not currently an�cipate. Exis�ng and other ba�ery cell technologies, fuels or sources of energy may emerge as customers’
preferred alterna�ve to our vehicles. Any failure by us to develop new or enhanced technologies or processes, or to react to changes in exis�ng technologies, could materially delay our
development and introduc�on of new and enhanced alterna�ve fuel and EVs, which could result in the loss of compe��veness of our vehicles, decreased revenue, and a loss of market
share to compe�tors. Our research and development efforts may not be sufficient to adapt to changes in alterna�ve fuel and electric vehicle technology. As technologies change, we plan to
upgrade or adapt our vehicles with the latest technology. However, our vehicles may not compete effec�vely with alterna�ve systems if we are not able to source and integrate the latest
technology into our vehicles. Addi�onally, the introduc�on and integra�on of new technologies into our vehicles may increase our costs and capital expenditures required for the produc�on
and manufacture of our vehicles and, if we are unable to cost efficiently implement such technologies or adjust our manufacturing opera�ons, our business, prospects, financial condi�on,
results of opera�ons, and cash flows would be materially and adversely affected.

We will be subject to risks associated with autonomous driving technology.

Our vehicles are being designed with connec�vity for an autonomous hardware suite and will offer some autonomous func�onality. Autonomous driving technologies are subject to risks
and there have been accidents and fatali�es associated with such technologies. The safety of such technologies depends in part on driver interac�ons, and drivers may not be accustomed to
using or adap�ng to such technologies. To the extent accidents associated with our autonomous driving systems occur, we could be subject to liability, nega�ve publicity, government
scru�ny, and further regula�on. Moreover, any incidents related to autonomous driving systems of our compe�tors could adversely affect the perceived safety and adop�on of our vehicles
and autonomous driving technology more broadly.

Autonomous driving technology is also subject to considerable regulatory uncertainty as the law evolves to catch up with the rapidly evolving nature of the technology itself, all of which are
beyond our control. Our vehicles also may not achieve the requisite level of autonomy required for cer�fica�on and rollout to consumers or sa�sfy changing regulatory requirements which
would require us to redesign, modify, or update our autonomous hardware and related so�ware systems. Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects,
financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.
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Our future growth is dependent on the demand for, and upon consumers’ willingness to adopt, EVs.

Our future growth is dependent on the demand for, and upon consumers’ willingness to adopt EVs, and even if EVs become more mainstream, consumers choosing us over other electric
vehicle manufacturers is not assured. Demand for EVs may be affected by factors directly impac�ng automobile prices or the cost of purchasing and opera�ng automobiles such as sales and
financing incen�ves, prices of raw materials and parts and components, cost of fuel and governmental regula�ons, including tariffs, import regula�on and other taxes. Vola�lity in demand
may lead to lower vehicle unit sales, which may result in downward price pressure and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

In addi�on, the demand for our vehicles and services will depend highly upon the adop�on by consumers of new energy vehicles in general and EVs in par�cular. The market for new energy
vehicles is s�ll rapidly evolving, characterized by rapidly changing technologies, compe��ve pricing and compe��ve factors, evolving government regula�on and industry standards, and
changing consumer demands and behaviors.

Other factors that may influence the adop�on of alterna�ve fuel vehicles, and specifically EVs, include:

• percep�ons about electric vehicle quality, safety, design, performance and cost, especially if adverse events or accidents occur that are linked to the quality or safety of EVs,
whether or not such vehicles are produced by us or other manufacturers;

• percep�ons about vehicle safety in general, in par�cular safety issues that may be a�ributed to the use of advanced technology, including electric vehicle systems;
• range anxiety, including the decline of an electric vehicle’s range resul�ng from deteriora�on over �me in the ba�ery’s ability to hold a charge;
• the availability of new energy vehicles;
• the availability of service and charging sta�ons for EVs;
• the costs and challenges of installing home charging equipment, including for mul�-family, rental, and densely populated urban housing;
• the environmental consciousness of consumers, and their adop�on of EVs;
• the occurrence of nega�ve incidents, or percep�on that nega�ve incidents have occurred, with respect to our or our compe�tors’ EVs resul�ng in adverse publicity and harm to

consumer percep�ons in EVs generally;
• the higher ini�al upfront purchase price of EVs, despite lower cost of ongoing opera�ng and maintenance costs, compared to internal combus�on engines vehicles;
• percep�ons about and the actual cost of alterna�ve fuel;
• regulatory, legisla�ve and poli�cal changes; and
• macroeconomic factors.

We will also depend upon the adop�on of EVs by operators of commercial vehicle fleets for future growth, and on our ability to produce, sell and service vehicles that meet their needs. The
entry of commercial EVs is a rela�vely new development, par�cularly in the United States, and is characterized by rapidly changing technologies and evolving government regula�on,
industry standards and customer views of the merits of using EVs in their businesses. This process has been slow to date. As part of our sales efforts, we must educate fleet managers as to
the economical savings during the life of the vehicle and the lower “total cost of ownership” of our vehicles. As such, we believe that operators of commercial vehicle fleets will consider
many factors when deciding whether to purchase our commercial EVs (or commercial EVs generally), including the factors set forth above, as well as:

• corporate sustainability ini�a�ves;
• the availability of tax and other governmental incen�ves to purchase and operate EVs and future regula�ons requiring increased use of nonpollu�ng vehicles;
• government regula�ons and economic incen�ves promo�ng fuel efficiency and alternate forms of energy; and
• the quality and availability of service for the vehicle, including the availability of replacement parts.

The demand for EVs depends, in part, on the con�nua�on of current trends resul�ng from dependence on fossil fuels. Extended periods of low gasoline or other petroleum-based fuel
prices could adversely affect demand for our vehicles, which would materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.
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We believe that much of the present and projected demand for EVs results from concerns about vola�lity in the cost of gasoline and other petroleum-based fuel, the dependency of the
United States on oil from unstable or hos�le countries, government regula�ons and economic incen�ves promo�ng fuel efficiency and alterna�ve forms of energy, as well as the belief that
climate change results in part from the burning of fossil fuels. If the cost of gasoline and other petroleum-based fuel decreased significantly, the outlook for the long-term supply of oil to the
United States improved, the government eliminated or modified our regula�ons or economic incen�ves related to fuel efficiency and alterna�ve forms of energy, or if there is a change in
the percep�on that the burning of fossil fuels nega�vely impacts the environment, the demand for EVs could be reduced, and our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of
opera�ons, and cash flows could be harmed.

Gasoline and other petroleum-based fuel prices have been extremely vola�le, and we believe this con�nuing vola�lity will persist. Lower gasoline or other petroleum-based fuel prices over
extended periods of �me may lower the percep�on in government and the private sector that cheaper, more readily available energy alterna�ves should be developed and produced. If
gasoline or other petroleum-based fuel prices remain at deflated levels for extended periods of �me, the demand for EVs may decrease, which would materially and adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

The unavailability, reduc�on or elimina�on of government and economic incen�ves could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of
opera�ons, and cash flows.

Any reduc�on, elimina�on, or discriminatory applica�on of government subsidies and economic incen�ves because of policy changes, or the reduced need for such subsidies and incen�ves
due to the perceived success of the electric vehicle or other reasons, may result in the diminished compe��veness of the alterna�ve fuel and electric vehicle industry generally or our
vehicles in par�cular. Addi�onally, federal, state and local laws may impose addi�onal barriers to electric vehicle adop�on, including addi�onal costs. For example, many states have enacted
laws imposing addi�onal registra�on fees for certain hybrid and EVs to support transporta�on infrastructure, such as highway repairs and improvements, which have tradi�onally been
funded through federal and state gasoline taxes. Any of the foregoing could materially and adversely affect the growth of the alterna�ve fuel automobile markets and our business,
prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

While certain tax credits and other incen�ves for alterna�ve energy produc�on, alterna�ve fuel, and EVs have been available in the past, there is no guarantee these programs will be
available in the future. If current tax incen�ves are not available in the future, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be harmed.

We may not be able to obtain or agree on acceptable terms and condi�ons for all or a significant por�on of the government grants, loans and other incen�ves, including regulatory
credits, for which we may apply or on which we may rely. As a result, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely
affected.

We may apply for federal and state grants, loans, and tax incen�ves under government programs designed to s�mulate the economy and support the produc�on of alterna�ve fuel, and EVs
and related technologies. We an�cipate that in the future there will be new opportuni�es for us to apply for grants, loans and other incen�ves from the United States, state and foreign
governments. Our ability to obtain funds or incen�ves from government sources is subject to the availability of funds under applicable government programs and approval of our
applica�ons to par�cipate in such programs. The applica�on process for these funds and other incen�ves will likely be highly compe��ve. We cannot assure you that we will be successful in
obtaining any of these addi�onal grants, loans and other incen�ves. If we are not successful in obtaining any of these addi�onal incen�ves and we are unable to find alterna�ve sources of
funding to meet our planned capital needs, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

In addi�on, we earn tradable credits in the opera�on of our business under various regula�ons related to ZEV, GHG, fuel economy, renewable energy and clean fuel. For example, CAFE, GHG
emissions standards and the state-level ZEV mandates create a credit-trading program to reduce compliance costs for vehicle manufacturers and to allow flexibility for mee�ng such
requirements. These programs allow automakers the flexibility to earn CAFE and ZEV credits by exceeding the standard in a given model year, which credits can either be applied to shor�alls
in future years or traded to other automakers. We intend to sell these credits to other regulated en��es who can use the credits to comply with emission standards, renewable energy
procurement standards and other regulatory requirements. Such regulatory credits may become more difficult to obtain or decrease in value over �me. The future of such programs is
uncertain at this �me. In 2020, the EPA and the NHTSA enacted
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the Safer Affordable Fuel-Efficient (“SAFE”) Vehicles rule that, among other things, established less stringent fuel economy and GHG standards for model years 2021 through 2026, and
sought to strip California of the ability to set its own fuel economy and vehicle emissions standards, which other states could then follow. With the change in Administra�on, some changes
to the SAFE Vehicles rule have been finalized and others proposed. More stringent GHG standards and the rules reinsta�ng California’s and other states’ authority, for example, already have
been finalized. However, final CAFE standards are s�ll pending. Moreover, the new GHG standards are currently being challenged in several lawsuits and the pending CAFE standards are
likely to be challenged as well. If the reinstatement of California and state authority, or if the increased stringency of the fuel economy and GHG standards are successfully challenged, the
value of certain regulatory credits would decrease. As a result, uncertainty remains about the future of the federal standards and the value of credits earned under them. In addi�on, new
entrants to the electric vehicle and last-mile-delivery market could drive down relevant compliance credit valua�ons. While we cannot predict such outcomes at this �me, any of the above
developments could impede our ability to earn and/or sell such credits and could have a nega�ve impact on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows
in the future.

Vehicle retail sales depend heavily on affordable interest rates and availability of credit for vehicle financing and a substan�al increase in interest rates could materially and adversely
affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

In certain regions, including North America and Europe, financing for new vehicle sales has been available at rela�vely low interest rates for several years due to, among other things,
expansive government monetary policies. As interest rates rise, market rates for new vehicle financing will generally be expected to rise as well, which may make our vehicles less affordable
to customers or steer customers to less expensive vehicles that would be less profitable for us, adversely affec�ng our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash
flows. Addi�onally, if consumer interest rates increase substan�ally or if financial service providers �ghten lending standards or restrict their lending to certain classes of credit, customers
may not desire or be able to obtain financing to purchase or lease our vehicles. As a result, a substan�al increase in customer interest rates or �ghtening of lending standards could have a
material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We will be subject to risks associated with exchange rate fluctua�ons, interest rate changes, commodity and credit risk.

We intend to operate in numerous markets worldwide and as such will be exposed to risks stemming from fluctua�ons in currency and interest rates. The exposure to currency risk will be
mainly linked to differences in the geographic distribu�on of our manufacturing and commercial ac�vi�es, resul�ng in cash flows from sales being denominated in currencies different from
those of purchases or produc�on ac�vi�es.

We may use various forms of financing to cover future funding requirements for our ac�vi�es and changes in interest rates can affect our net revenues, finance costs, and margins.

In addi�on, although we may manage risks associated with fluctua�ons in currency and interest rates and commodity prices through financial hedging instruments, significant changes in
currency or interest rates or commodity prices could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Insufficient warranty reserves to cover future warranty claims could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

As our vehicles enter produc�on, we will need to maintain warranty reserves to cover warranty-related claims. If our warranty reserves are inadequate to cover future warranty claims on
our vehicles, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected. We expect to record and adjust warranty reserves
based on changes in es�mated costs and actual warranty costs. However, as we have only recently begun produc�on of the R1T and R1S, we have limited opera�ng experience with our
vehicles, and therefore limited experience with warranty claims for these vehicles or with es�ma�ng warranty reserves. In the future, we may become subject to significant and unexpected
warranty expenses. There can be no assurances that then-exis�ng warranty reserves will be sufficient to cover all claims.

Future field ac�ons, including product recalls, could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.
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Any field ac�on, including a product recall, in the future, whether ini�ated by us or a supplier, and whether the field ac�on involves our or a compe�tor’s product, may result in adverse
publicity, damage our reputa�on, and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. In the future, we or one of our suppliers may,
voluntarily or involuntarily, ini�ate a recall if any of our vehicles or components (including our ba�ery cells) prove to be defec�ve or noncompliant with applicable federal motor vehicle
safety standards. Such recalls, whether caused by systems or components engineered or manufactured by us or our suppliers, would involve significant expense, the possibility of lawsuits,
and diversion of management’s a�en�on and other resources, which could adversely affect our brand image in our target market and our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of
opera�ons, and cash flows.

We will become subject to product liability claims, which could harm our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows if we are not able to successfully
defend or insure against such claims.

We will become subject to product liability claims, which could harm our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. The automobile industry experiences
an abundance of product liability claims. We face the risk of significant monetary exposure to claims in the event our vehicles do not perform as expected or contain design, manufacturing,
or warning defects, and to claims without merit, or in connec�on with malfunc�ons resul�ng in personal injury or death. Our risks in this area are par�cularly pronounced given the limited
field experience of our vehicles and because we are a new entrant into the market. A successful product liability claim against us could require us to pay a substan�al monetary award.
Moreover, a product liability claim could generate substan�al nega�ve publicity about our vehicles and business and inhibit or prevent commercializa�on of other future vehicle candidates,
which would have material adverse effect on our brand, business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. Any insurance coverage might not be sufficient to
cover all poten�al product liability claims. Any lawsuit seeking significant monetary damages either in excess of our coverage, or outside of our coverage, could have a material adverse
effect on our reputa�on and business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. We may not be able to secure addi�onal product liability insurance coverage on
commercially acceptable terms or at reasonable costs when needed, par�cularly if we face liability for our products and are forced to make a claim under our policies.

Ini�ally, and for the foreseeable future, we will depend on revenue generated from a limited number of models.

We began making ini�al deliveries of our first consumer vehicles, the R1T and R1S, in September and December 2021, respec�vely. As a result, ini�ally, and for the foreseeable future, we
will depend on revenue generated from a limited number of models. Historically, automobile customers have come to expect a variety of vehicle models offered in a manufacturer’s fleet
and new and improved vehicle models to be introduced frequently. Given that for the foreseeable future our business will depend on a limited number of models, to the extent a par�cular
model is not well-received by the market, our sales volume, business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

We will face risks associated with poten�al interna�onal opera�ons, including unfavorable regulatory, poli�cal, currency, tax, and labor condi�ons, which could harm our business,
prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Our business plan includes opera�ons in interna�onal markets, including ini�al manufacturing and supply ac�vi�es, and sales, in select markets in Europe, and eventual expansion into other
interna�onal markets. We will face risks associated with any poten�al interna�onal opera�ons, including possible unfavorable regulatory, poli�cal, tax, and labor condi�ons, which could
harm our business. We an�cipate having interna�onal opera�ons and subsidiaries that are subject to the legal, poli�cal, regulatory, and social requirements and economic condi�ons in
these jurisdic�ons. Furthermore, conduc�ng and launching opera�ons on an interna�onal scale requires close coordina�on of ac�vi�es across mul�ple jurisdic�ons and �me zones and
consumes significant management resources. We have no experience to date selling or leasing and servicing our vehicles interna�onally and such expansion would require us to make
significant expenditures, including the hiring of local employees and establishing facili�es, in advance of genera�ng any revenue. We will be subject to a number of risks associated with
interna�onal business ac�vi�es that may increase our costs, impact our ability to sell or lease our vehicles and require significant management a�en�on. These risks include:

• conforming our vehicles to various interna�onal regulatory requirements where our vehicles are sold and serviced, which requirements may change over �me;
• expenditures related to foreign lawsuits and liability;
• difficulty in staffing and managing foreign opera�ons;

31



RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

• difficul�es establishing rela�onships with, or disrup�on in the supply chain from, interna�onal suppliers;
• difficul�es a�rac�ng customers in new jurisdic�ons;
• foreign government taxes, regula�ons and permit requirements, including foreign taxes that we may not be able to offset against taxes imposed upon us in the United States, and

foreign tax and other laws limi�ng our ability to repatriate funds to the United States;
• fluctua�ons in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, including risks related to any foreign currency swap or other hedging ac�vi�es we undertake;
• United States and foreign government trade restric�ons, tariffs and price or exchange controls;
• foreign labor laws, regula�ons, and restric�ons;
• changes in diploma�c and trade rela�onships;
• laws and business prac�ces favoring local companies;
• difficul�es protec�ng or procuring intellectual property rights;
• poli�cal instability, natural disasters, war or events of terrorism, and health epidemics, such as the COVID-19 pandemic; and
• the strength of interna�onal economies.

If we fail to successfully address these risks, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially harmed.

Our business depends substan�ally on the efforts of our key employees and qualified personnel, and if they are unable to devote a sufficient amount of �me and resources to our
business, or if we are unable to a�ract and retain key employees and hire qualified management, technical, electric vehicle and so�ware engineering personnel, our ability to compete
could be harmed.

Our success depends substan�ally on the con�nued efforts of our execu�ve officers, key employees, and qualified personnel. We believe the depth and quality of the experience of our
management team in the automo�ve and technology industries generally, and EVs in par�cular, is key to our ability to be successful. The loss of any of these individuals could have a
material adverse effect on our business opera�ons. As we build our brand and becomes more well known, the risk that compe�tors or other companies may poach our talent increases. The
failure to mo�vate and retain these personnel could seriously harm our business, prospectus, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

In addi�on, Dr. Scaringe and Rose Marcario, current Rivian directors, are also directors of Forever by Rivian and Rivian’s Chief Financial Officer, Claire McDonough, serves as Secretary of
Forever by Rivian. Dr. Scaringe is also director and President of the Rivian Founda�on and Ms. McDonough serves as its Secretary and Treasurer. The posi�ons held by these directors and
execu�ve officers may give rise to fiduciary or other du�es in conflict with the du�es they owe to us. Furthermore, such directors and officers may have significant du�es to, and may devote
a substan�al amount of �me serving, Forever by Rivian and the Rivian Founda�on, and accordingly may limit their ability to devote a sufficient amount of a�en�on toward their obliga�ons
to us, or to day-to-day ac�vi�es of our business.

Our success also depends, in part, on our con�nuing ability to iden�fy, hire, a�ract, train, and develop other highly qualified personnel. Experienced and highly skilled employees are in high
demand and compe��on for these employees can be intense, and our ability to hire, a�ract, and retain them depends on our ability to provide compe��ve compensa�on and benefits. We
may not be able to a�ract, assimilate, develop, or retain qualified personnel in the future, and our failure to do so could adversely affect our business, including the execu�on of our
business strategy.

If we cannot maintain our culture as we grow, we could lose the innova�on, teamwork, and passion that we believe contribute to our success and our business may be harmed.

We have invested substan�al �me and resources into building our culture, and we believe it serves as a cri�cal component of our success. As we con�nue to grow, including geographical
expansion, and developing the infrastructure associated with being a public company, we will need to maintain our culture among a larger number of employees, dispersed across various
geographic regions. In addi�on, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, a significant number of our employees have been working remotely or working in our offices less than five days per
week, and we expect such remote or reduced in-person work to con�nue in the future. This is resul�ng in fewer face-to-face interac�ons and increased pressure to create new and different
methods to maintain our culture. Any failure to preserve our culture could nega�vely affect our future success, including our ability to retain and recruit personnel and to effec�vely focus on
and pursue our corporate objec�ves.
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Our business may be adversely affected by labor and union ac�vi�es.

Although none of our employees are currently represented by a labor union, it is common throughout the automobile industry generally for employees to belong to a union, which can
result in higher employee costs, opera�onal restric�ons and increased risk of disrup�on to opera�ons. We may also directly and indirectly depend upon other companies with unionized
work forces, such as parts suppliers and trucking and freight companies, and work stoppages or strikes organized by such unions could have a material adverse impact on our business,
prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows may be materially and adversely affected by the risks related to health epidemics, including the recent
COVID-19 pandemic.

We face various risks related to public health issues, including epidemics, pandemics, and other outbreaks, including the recent pandemic of respiratory illness caused by a novel coronavirus
known as COVID-19 and associated variants. The impact of COVID-19 and associated variants, including changes in consumer and business behavior, pandemic fears, market downturns, and
restric�ons on business and individual ac�vi�es, has created significant vola�lity in the global economy and led to reduced economic ac�vity. The spread of COVID-19 and associated
variants (some of which may be more transmissible, such as the Omicron variant or any subsequent poten�ally more virulent variant) has also created a disrup�on in the manufacturing,
delivery and overall supply chain of vehicle manufacturers and suppliers, and has led to a global decrease in vehicle sales in markets around the world.

The pandemic has resulted in government authori�es implemen�ng numerous measures to try to contain the virus, such as travel bans and restric�ons, quaran�nes, stay-at-home or
shelter-in-place orders, and business shutdowns. These measures may adversely impact our employees and opera�ons and the opera�ons of our customers, suppliers, vendors and business
partners, and may nega�vely impact our manufacturing plans, sales and marke�ng ac�vi�es, business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. In addi�on,
various aspects of our business cannot be conducted remotely. These measures by government authori�es may remain in place for a significant period of �me and they are likely to con�nue
to adversely affect our manufacturing plans and sales and marke�ng ac�vi�es, and our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Due to opera�onal shutdowns of certain of our direct and indirect suppliers as a result of COVID-19 and associated variants, we experienced delays and shortages of certain parts and
materials necessary for the produc�on of our vehicles. In some cases, suppliers were delayed in providing the required parts and/or materials, whereas in other cases, suppliers were able
only to fulfill our orders on a par�al basis or not at all. As a result of such delays and shortages, we are con�nuing to adapt our internal designs and processes in an effort to remedy or
mi�gate impacts on our produc�on �meline, including for the mass produc�on of our first consumer vehicles, the R1T and R1S. Despite such efforts, we cannot be certain these will
sufficiently alleviate or mi�gate delays or interrup�ons we may experience in the future, and, to the extent our produc�on �meline is delayed, our business, prospects, financial condi�on,
results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected.

Addi�onally, the spread of COVID-19 and associated variants has caused us to modify our business prac�ces (including employee travel, recommending that all non-essen�al personnel work
from home and cancella�on or reduc�on of physical par�cipa�on in sales ac�vi�es, mee�ngs, events and conferences), and we may take further ac�ons as may be required by government
authori�es or that we determine is in the best interests of our employees, customers, suppliers, vendors, and business partners. A significant number of our employees have been working
remotely or working in our offices less than five days per week, and we expect such remote or reduced in-person work to con�nue in the future. There is no certainty that such ac�ons will
be sufficient to mi�gate the risks posed by the virus or otherwise be sa�sfactory to government authori�es. If significant por�ons of our workforce are unable to work effec�vely, including
due to illness, quaran�nes, social distancing, government ac�ons, or other restric�ons in connec�on with the COVID-19 pandemic, our opera�ons will be adversely impacted.

The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic impacts our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows will depend on future developments, which are highly
uncertain and cannot be predicted, including the dura�on and spread of the pandemic, its severity, the existence and severity of COVID-19 variants, the ac�ons to contain the virus or treat
its impact (including the availability of vaccines and the speed and extent of vaccine distribu�on and acceptance), how quickly and to what extent normal economic and opera�ng ac�vi�es
can resume, and whether and to what extent COVID-19 or variants thereof, including the Omicron variant which has become widespread in the United States, re-emerge, spread and
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impact us, and our suppliers a�er normal ac�vi�es resume. Even a�er the COVID-19 pandemic has subsided, we may con�nue to experience an adverse impact to its business as a result of
its global economic impact, including any recession that has occurred or may occur in the future.

Specifically, difficult macroeconomic condi�ons, such as decreases in per capita income and level of disposable income, increased and prolonged unemployment, or a decline in consumer
confidence as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic could have a material adverse effect on the demand for our vehicles. Under difficult economic condi�ons, poten�al customers may seek to
reduce spending by forgoing our vehicles for other tradi�onal op�ons, increase use of public and mass transporta�on op�ons or may choose to keep their exis�ng vehicles, and cancel
preorders.

There are no comparable recent events that may provide guidance as to the effect of the spread and dura�on of COVID-19 (and associated variants) and pandemics in general, and, as a
result, the ul�mate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or other pandemics is highly uncertain.

Our financial results may vary significantly from period to period due to fluctua�ons in our product demand, opera�ng costs, working capital, capital expenditures and other factors.

We expect our period-to-period financial results to vary based on our product demand and opera�ng costs, which we an�cipate will fluctuate as we con�nue to design, develop and
manufacture new EVs, increase produc�on capacity and establish or expand design, research and development, produc�on, and sales and service facili�es. Addi�onally, our revenue from
period to period may fluctuate as we iden�fy and inves�gate areas of demand, adjust volumes and add new product deriva�ves based on market demand and margin opportuni�es, and
develop and introduce new EVs or introduce exis�ng EVs to new markets for the first �me. Addi�onally, our revenue from period to period may fluctuate due to seasonality. As a result of
these factors, we believe that quarter-to-quarter comparisons of our financial results, especially in the short term, are not necessarily meaningful and that these comparisons cannot be
relied upon as indicators of future performance. Moreover, our financial results may not meet expecta�ons of equity research analysts, ra�ngs agencies or investors, who may be focused
only on quarterly financial results. If any of this occurs, the trading price of our Class A common stock could fall substan�ally, either suddenly or over �me.

Our business plans require a significant amount of capital. In addi�on, our future capital needs will require us to sell addi�onal equity or debt securi�es that will dilute our stockholders
or introduce covenants that may restrict our opera�ons or our ability to pay dividends.

Our capital expenditures will con�nue to be significant in the foreseeable future as we expand our business, and our level of capital expenditures will be significantly affected by consumer
demand for our products and services. The fact that we have a limited opera�ng history means we have limited historical data on the demand for our products and services. As a result, our
future capital requirements are uncertain and actual capital requirements may be different from those we currently an�cipate. We expect that we will need to seek equity or debt financing
in both the near- and long-term to finance a por�on of our capital expenditures. Such financing might not be available to us in a �mely manner or on terms that are acceptable, or at all.

Our ability to obtain the necessary financing to carry out our business plan is subject to a number of factors, including general market condi�ons and investor acceptance of our business
model. These factors may make the �ming, amount, terms and condi�ons of such financing una�rac�ve or unavailable to us. If we are unable to raise sufficient funds, we will have to
significantly reduce our spending, delay or cancel our planned ac�vi�es or substan�ally change our corporate structure. We might not be able to obtain any funding, and we might not have
sufficient resources to conduct our business as projected, both of which could mean that we would be forced to curtail or discon�nue our opera�ons.

In addi�on, our future capital needs and other business reasons will require us to sell addi�onal equity or debt securi�es. The sale of addi�onal equity or equity-linked securi�es would
dilute our stockholders. The incurrence of indebtedness would result in increased debt service obliga�ons and covenants that poten�ally restrict our opera�ons.

If we cannot raise addi�onal funds when we need or want them, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows will be materially and adversely affected.

We have incurred a significant amount of debt and may in the future incur addi�onal indebtedness. Our payment obliga�ons under such indebtedness may limit the funds available to
us, and the terms of our current or future debt
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agreements, including a senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility (“ABL Facility”) and the indenture governing the senior secured floa�ng rate notes due October 2026 (“2026
Notes”), contain or will contain restric�ve covenants that may limit our opera�ng flexibility.

As of December 31, 2021, our total principal amount of outstanding indebtedness was $1.3 billion. As of December 31, 2021, we had no borrowings under the ABL Facility. Subject to the
limita�ons in the terms of our exis�ng and future indebtedness, we and our subsidiaries may incur addi�onal debt in the near-and long-term, secure exis�ng or future debt, or refinance our
debt.

We will be required to use a por�on of our future cash flows from opera�ons to pay interest and principal on our indebtedness. Such payments will reduce the funds available to use for
working capital, capital expenditures and other corporate purposes, and limit our ability to obtain addi�onal financing for working capital, capital expenditures, expansions plans and other
investments, which may in turn limit our ability to implement our business strategy, heighten our vulnerability to downturns in our business, the industry, or in the general economy, and
prevent us from taking advantage of business opportuni�es as they arise.

In addi�on, the credit agreement governing the ABL Facility and the indenture governing the 2026 Notes contain, and future debt agreements may contain, restric�ve covenants, that,
among other things, limit our ability to transfer or dispose of assets, merge with other companies or consummate certain changes of control, acquire other companies, incur addi�onal
indebtedness and liens and enter into new businesses. We therefore may not be able to engage in any of the foregoing transac�ons unless we obtain the consent of the lenders or terminate
the credit agreement governing the ABL Facility or future debt agreements, which may limit our opera�ng flexibility. In addi�on, the ABL Facility and the 2026 Notes are secured by all of our
assets (however if the Fixed Asset Release Date (as defined in the credit agreement governing the ABL Facility) occurs, the ABL Facility will be secured only by certain assets un�l we incur
certain other indebtedness that would require the grant of certain security interests) and requires us to sa�sfy certain financial covenants. There is no guarantee that we will be able to
generate sufficient cash flow or sales to meet these financial covenants or pay the principal and interest when due under our facility. Furthermore, there is no guarantee that future working
capital, borrowings or equity financing will be available to repay or refinance any such debt. Any inability to comply with the terms of the credit agreement governing the ABL Facility, the
indenture governing the 2026 Notes, or any future debt agreement, including failing to make scheduled payments or to meet the financial covenants, would adversely affect our business.

Certain of our exis�ng indebtedness is, and indebtedness we incur in the future may be, variable rate, subjec�ng us to interest rate risk, which could cause our indebtedness service
obliga�ons to increase.

Borrowings under the ABL Facility and the 2026 Notes accrue interest at variable rates. As a result, interest rates on the ABL Facility, the 2026 Notes, or other variable rate debt obliga�ons
could be higher or lower than current levels. If interest rates increase, our debt service obliga�ons on our exis�ng or any future variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the
amount borrowed would remain the same, and our net income and cash flows, including cash available for servicing our indebtedness, would correspondingly decrease.

London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) and other interest rates that are indices deemed to be “benchmarks” are the subject of recent and ongoing na�onal, interna�onal and other
regulatory guidance and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effec�ve, while others are s�ll to be implemented. These reforms may cause such benchmarks to perform
differently than in the past, or to disappear en�rely, or have other consequences that cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material adverse effect on our exis�ng
facili�es or our future debt linked to such a “benchmark” and our ability to service debt that bears interest at floa�ng rates of interest.

If our vehicle owners customize our vehicles with a�ermarket products, or a�empt to modify our vehicles’ charging systems, the vehicles may not operate properly, which may create
nega�ve publicity and could harm our brand and business.

Automobile enthusiasts may seek to alter our vehicles to modify their performance which could compromise vehicle safety and security systems. Also, customers may customize their
vehicles with a�ermarket parts that can compromise driver safety. We do not test, nor do we endorse, such changes or products. In addi�on, customers may a�empt to modify our vehicles’
charging systems or use improper external cabling or unsafe charging outlets that can compromise the vehicle systems or expose our customers to injury from high voltage electricity. Such
unauthorized modifica�ons could reduce the safety and
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security of our vehicles and any injuries resul�ng from such modifica�ons could result in adverse publicity, which would nega�vely affect our brand and thus harm our business, prospects,
financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We rely on third-party vendors for certain product and service offerings, which exposes us to increased risks.

We contract with third par�es to provide certain products and services to our customers, including vehicle financing and insurance. Although we carefully select our third-party vendors, we
cannot control their ac�ons. If our vendors fail to perform as we expect, our opera�ons and reputa�on could suffer if the failure harms the vendors’ ability to serve us and our customers.
One or more of these third-party vendors may experience financial distress, staffing shortages or liquidity challenges, file for bankruptcy protec�on, go out of business, or suffer disrup�ons
in their business. The use of third-party vendors represents an inherent risk to us that could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons,
and cash flows.

Certain of our principal stockholders or their affiliates are or may in the future engage in, and certain of our directors are affiliated with en��es that may in the future engage in,
commercial transac�ons with us, or business ac�vi�es similar to those conducted by us which may compete directly or indirectly with us, causing such stockholders or persons to have
conflicts of interest.

Certain of our principal stockholders and their affiliates are engaged in similar business ac�vi�es to those conducted by us, may engage in commercial transac�ons with us, and currently or
in the future may invest in or otherwise hold securi�es of businesses that compete directly or indirectly with us. For example, Ford Motor Company (“Ford”), one of our principal
stockholders, is a mul�na�onal vehicle manufacturer, and, separately, an affiliate of Amazon.com, Inc., which through another affiliate is also one of our principal stockholders, has placed an
order with us, subject to modifica�on, for 100,000 vehicles. Each will con�nue to be able to influence ma�ers requiring stockholder approval, including any poten�al change of control
transac�on, regardless of whether or not other stockholders believe that a poten�al transac�on is in our best interest. In turn this may deter third par�es from seeking to acquire us. These
rela�onships also may give rise to conflicts of interest or create the appearance thereof, and such stockholders may take ac�on or vote their shares other ways which could adversely impact
us or our other stockholders, and may impact other companies’ percep�on of us as a poten�al partner, including the willingness of such other companies to order our future planned
commercial vehicles.

In addi�on, we entered into a director nomina�on agreement with Amazon in October 2021, under which we have agreed, subject to certain excep�ons, to nominate Peter Krawiec or such
other designee iden�fied by Amazon for re-elec�on to our board of directors at the first annual mee�ng of our stockholders following our IPO. Our obliga�ons under the director nomina�on
agreement end a�er the first annual mee�ng of our stockholders following our IPO unless terminated earlier through the mutual consent of us and Amazon. The combina�on of our
rela�onships with Amazon described above could influence our perceived ability, or create the appearance of such influence, to nego�ate poten�al future commercial agreements with
Amazon, to allocate our limited resources in how we priori�ze the delivery of and support for Amazon vehicles rela�ve to our other vehicle models, and to pursue other commercial
customers who may be compe�tors to Amazon.

Further, employees of two of our stockholders and their affiliates serve on our board of directors and retain their posi�ons with our principal stockholders or their affiliates. Given such
rela�onships, and despite their fiduciary du�es as directors and the rules applied by our board of directors to handle conflicts of interest, these individuals’ posi�ons may create, or create
the appearance of, conflicts of interest when they are asked to make decisions that could have different implica�ons for such principal stockholders or their affiliates than the decisions have
for us or our other stockholders or customers.

Risks Related to Informa�on Technology, Intellectual Property, Data Security, and Privacy

Breaches in data security, failure of informa�on security systems and privacy concerns could subject us to penal�es, damage our reputa�on and brand, and harm our business,
prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We expect to face significant challenges with respect to informa�on security and privacy, including in rela�on to the collec�on, storage, transmission, and sharing of informa�on. We collect,
transmit, and store confiden�al and personal and sensi�ve informa�on of our employees and customers, including names, accounts, user IDs and passwords, vehicle informa�on, and
payment or transac�on related informa�on. We are also subject to certain laws and regula�ons, such as “Right to Repair” laws, that require us to provide third-party access to our network
and/or vehicle systems.
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Increasingly, companies are subject to a wide variety of a�acks on their networks and informa�on technology infrastructure on an ongoing basis. Tradi�onal computer “hackers,” malicious
code (such as viruses and worms), phishing a�empts, employee the� or misuse, denial of service a�acks, ransomware a�acks, and sophis�cated na�on-state and na�on-state supported
actors engage in intrusions and a�acks that create risks for our (and our suppliers’) internal networks, vehicles, infrastructure, and cloud deployed products and the informa�on they store
and process. Although we have implemented security measures to prevent such a�acks, our networks and systems may be breached due to the ac�ons of outside par�es, employee error,
malfeasance, a combina�on of these, or otherwise, and as a result, an unauthorized party may obtain access to our systems, networks, or data. We and our suppliers have in the past been
subject to ransomware and phishing a�acks. Though we do not believe we experienced any material losses or any sensi�ve or material informa�on was compromised, we were unable to
determine conclusively that this was the case. We have implemented remedial measures in response to such incidents. We cannot guarantee that such measures will prevent all incidents in
the future.

We may face difficul�es or delays in iden�fying or otherwise responding to any a�acks or actual or poten�al security breaches or threats. A breach in our data security could create system
disrup�ons or slowdowns and provide malicious par�es with access to informa�on stored on our networks, resul�ng in data being publicly disclosed, altered, lost, or stolen, which could
subject us to liability and adversely impact our financial condi�on. Further, any breach in our data security could allow malicious par�es to access sensi�ve systems, such as our product lines
and the vehicles themselves. Such access could adversely impact the safety of our employees and customers.

Any actual, alleged or perceived failure to prevent a security breach or to comply with our privacy policies or privacy-related legal obliga�ons, failure in our systems or networks, or any other
actual, alleged or perceived data security incident we or our suppliers suffer, could result in damage to our reputa�on, nega�ve publicity, loss of customers and sales, loss of compe��ve
advantages over our compe�tors, increased costs to remedy any problems and provide any required no�fica�ons, including to regulators and/or individuals, and otherwise respond to any
incident, regulatory inves�ga�ons and enforcement ac�ons, costly li�ga�on, and other liabili�es. We would also be exposed to a risk of loss or li�ga�on and poten�al liability under laws,
regula�ons and contracts that protect the privacy and security of personal informa�on. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the “CCPA”) imposes a private right of
ac�on for certain security breaches that could lead to regulatory scru�ny, fines, private right of ac�on se�lements, and other consequences. Where a security incident involves a breach of
security leading to the accidental or unlawful destruc�on, loss, altera�on, unauthorized disclosure of, or access to, personal data in respect of which we are a controller or processor under
the General Data Protec�on Regula�on (EU) 2016/6790 (the “GDPR”) or U.K. GDPR (as defined below), this could result in fines up to €20 million or 4% of annual global turnover (whichever
is higher) under the GDPR or £17.5 million or 4% of total annual global turnover in the case of the U.K. GDPR. We may also be required to no�fy such breaches to regulators and/or
individuals which may result in us incurring addi�onal costs. In addi�on to the foregoing, a breach of the GDPR or U.K. GDPR could result in regulatory inves�ga�ons, reputa�onal damage,
orders to cease/ change our processing of our data, enforcement no�ces, and/or assessment no�ces (for a compulsory audit). We may also face civil claims including representa�ve ac�ons
and other class ac�on type li�ga�on (where individuals have suffered harm), poten�ally amoun�ng to significant compensa�on or damages liabili�es, as well as associated costs, diversion
of internal resources, and reputa�onal harm.

In addi�on, we may incur significant financial and opera�onal costs to inves�gate, remediate and implement addi�onal tools, devices and systems designed to prevent actual or perceived
security breaches, and other security incidents, as well as costs to comply with any no�fica�on obliga�ons resul�ng from any security incidents. Any of these nega�ve outcomes could
adversely impact the market percep�on of our products and customer and investor confidence in our company, and would materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We collect and process significant informa�on about our customers and their vehicles and are subject to various privacy and consumer protec�on laws.

In addi�on to the informa�on we collect from our customers to complete a sale or transac�on, we use our vehicles’ onboard electronic systems to capture informa�on about each vehicle’s
use, such as loca�on, charge �me, ba�ery usage, mileage, and driving behavior, among other things, to aid us in providing services including vehicle diagnos�cs, repair, maintenance,
insurance, roadside assistance, and vehicle emergency services. We also obtain data through the external cameras and sensors incorporated into the vehicle. Further we can, via data
collec�on and analysis, customize and op�mize the driving and riding experiences of our vehicles. Our users may in the future choose not to provide this data, which may harm our business
and our ability to properly maintain the vehicle. Possession and use of our customers’ driving behavior and other personal data may subject us to legisla�ve and regulatory burdens and risks
in the United States and other jurisdic�ons. We
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will be required to comply with increasingly complex and rigorous regulatory standards enacted to protect business and personal data in the United States, Europe, and elsewhere.

A wide variety of state, na�onal, and interna�onal laws as well as regula�ons and industry standards apply to the collec�on, use, reten�on, protec�on, disclosure, transfer and other
processing of personal informa�on and other informa�on. Evolving and changing defini�ons of personal data and personal informa�on within the EU, the United Kingdom (“U.K.”), the
United States, and elsewhere, may limit or inhibit our ability to operate or expand our business. Also, some jurisdic�ons require that certain types of data be retained on servers within
these jurisdic�ons. Addi�onally, laws, regula�ons, and standards covering marke�ng and adver�sing ac�vi�es conducted by telephone, email, mobile devices, and the internet, may be
applicable to our business, such as the Telephone Consumer Protec�on Act (as implemented by the Telemarke�ng Sales Rule), the Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and
Marke�ng Act, and similar state and foreign consumer protec�on laws. Our failure to comply with applicable laws, direc�ves, and regula�ons may result in private claims or enforcement
ac�ons against us, including liabili�es, fines, and damage to our reputa�on, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of
opera�ons, and cash flows.

Data protec�on and privacy-related laws and regula�ons are evolving and may result in ever increasing regulatory and public scru�ny and escala�ng levels of enforcement and sanc�ons. For
example, the EU adopted the GDPR, and the State of California adopted the CCPA. Both the GDPR and the CCPA impose addi�onal regulatory obliga�ons regarding the handling of personal
data and further provide certain individual privacy rights to persons whose data is processed.

In the United States, the CCPA became opera�ve on January 1, 2020 and became enforceable by the California A�orney General on July 1, 2020, along with related regula�ons which came
into force on August 14, 2020. Addi�onally, although not effec�ve un�l January 1, 2023, the California Privacy Rights Act (the “CPRA”), which expands upon the CCPA, was passed on
November 3, 2020. The CCPA requires (and the CPRA will require) covered companies to, among other things, provide new disclosures to California consumers, and affords such consumers
new privacy rights such as the ability to opt-out of certain sales of personal informa�on and expanded rights to access and require dele�on of their personal informa�on, opt out of certain
personal informa�on sharing, and receive detailed informa�on about how their personal informa�on is collected, used and shared. The CCPA provides for civil penal�es for viola�ons, as
well as a private right of ac�on for certain security breaches that may increase security breach li�ga�on. Further, Virginia enacted the Virginia Consumer Data Protec�on Act (the “VCDPA”),
another comprehensive state privacy law, that will also be effec�ve January 1, 2023. Also in 2021, Colorado enacted the Colorado Privacy Act (the “CPA”), which goes into effect July 1, 2023.
The CCPA, CPRA, VCDPA and CPA may increase our compliance costs and poten�al liability, par�cularly in the event of a data breach, and could have a material adverse effect on our
business, including how we use personal informa�on, our financial condi�on, the results of our opera�ons or prospects. A number of other proposals exist for new federal and state privacy
legisla�on that, if passed, could increase our poten�al liability, increase our compliance costs and materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of
opera�ons, and cash flows.

By expanding into Europe and the United Kingdom, we will also be subject to the GDPR and the United Kingdom data protec�on regime consis�ng primarily of the U.K. General Data
Protec�on Regula�on and the U.K. Data Protec�on Act 2018 (together referred to as the “U.K. GDPR”). The GDPR, and the na�onal implemen�ng legisla�on in EU member states, and the
U.K. GDPR impose stringent data protec�on requirements and, where we are ac�ng as a controller, includes requirements to provide detailed disclosures about how personal data is
collected and processed (in a concise, intelligible and easily accessible form); demonstra�ng that an appropriate legal basis is in place or otherwise exists to jus�fy data processing ac�vi�es;
gran�ng new rights for data subjects in regard to their personal data (including the right to be “forgo�en” and the right to data portability), as well as enhancing data subject rights (e.g.,
data subject access requests); introducing the obliga�on to no�fy data protec�on regulators or supervisory authori�es (and in certain cases, affected individuals) of significant data
breaches; defining for the first �me pseudonymized (i.e., key-coded) data; imposing limita�ons on reten�on of personal data; maintaining a record of data processing; and complying with
the principal of accountability and the obliga�on to demonstrate compliance through policies, procedures, training, and audit.

The GDPR/U.K. GDPR requires, among other things, that personal informa�on only be transferred outside of the EU/United Kingdom to jurisdic�ons which have not received an adequacy
decision from the European Commission (or equivalent U.K. authority), including the United States, if steps are taken to legi�mize and safeguard those data transfers. Furthermore, in July
2020, the Court of Jus�ce of the EU (the “CJEU”) invalidated the EU-United States Privacy Shield Framework (the “Privacy Shield”), which provided a mechanism for the transfer of data from
the European Economic Area (“EEA”)/United Kingdom to the United States, on the grounds that the Privacy Shield failed to offer adequate protec�ons to EEA/United Kingdom personal
informa�on transferred to the United States. Further, while the CJEU upheld the adequacy of the standard
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contractual clauses (a standard form of contract approved by the European Commission as an adequate personal data transfer mechanism, and poten�al alterna�ve to the Privacy Shield)

(“Standard Contractual Clauses”), it made it clear that reliance alone on the Standard Contractual Clauses may not necessarily be sufficient to protect data transferred in all circumstances.

Use of the Standard Contractual Clauses must now be assessed on a case-by-case basis taking into account the legal regime applicable in the des�na�on country, in par�cular applicable
surveillance laws and rights of individuals and addi�onal measures and/or contractual provisions may need to be put in place, however, the nature of these addi�onal measures is currently
uncertain. The CJEU went on to state that if a competent supervisory authority believes that the Standard Contractual Clauses cannot be complied with in the des�na�on country and the
required level of protec�on cannot be secured by other means, such supervisory authority is under an obliga�on to suspend or prohibit that transfer. On June 4, 2021 the European
Commission published a new set of modular Standard Contractual Clauses providing for an 18 month implementa�on period. The new Standard Contractual Clauses apply only to the
transfer of data outside of the EEA and not the United Kingdom, though the U.K.’s Informa�on Commissioner’s Officer confirmed in May 2021 that it is working on its own set of U.K.-specific
standard contractual clauses and launched a public consulta�on period on its dra� interna�onal data transfer agreement in August 2021. We are monitoring these developments, but we
may, in addi�on to other impacts, experience addi�onal costs associated with increased compliance burdens and be required to engage in new contract nego�a�ons with third par�es that
aid in processing data on our behalf or localize certain data.

Although the European Commission adopted an adequacy decision on June 28, 2021, allowing the con�nued flow of personal data from Europe to the United Kingdom, this decision will
expire in June 2025 unless the European Commission re-assesses and renews/extends that decision and is subject to regular review and may be revoked if the United Kingdom diverges from
its current adequate data protec�on laws following Brexit. As supervisory authori�es con�nue to issue further guidance on personal informa�on, we could suffer addi�onal costs,
complaints, or regulatory inves�ga�ons or fines, and if we are otherwise unable to transfer personal data between and among countries and regions in which we operate, it could affect the
manner in which we provide our services, the geographical loca�on or segrega�on of our relevant systems and opera�ons, and could adversely affect our financial results. Loss, reten�on or
misuse of certain informa�on and alleged viola�ons of laws and regula�ons rela�ng to privacy and data security, and any relevant claims, may expose us to poten�al liability and may
require us to expend significant resources on data security and in responding to and defending such allega�ons and claims.

By expanding into Europe and the United Kingdom we would also be subject to evolving EU and United Kingdom privacy laws on cookies and e-marke�ng. In the EU and the United Kingdom,
regulators are increasingly focusing on compliance with requirements in the online behavioral adver�sing ecosystem, and current na�onal laws that implement the ePrivacy Direc�ve are
highly likely to be replaced by an EU regula�on known as the ePrivacy Regula�on which will significantly increase fines for non-compliance. In the EU and the United Kingdom, informed
consent is required for the placement of most cookies or similar technologies on a user’s device and for direct electronic marke�ng. The GDPR also imposes condi�ons on obtaining valid
consent, such as a prohibi�on on pre-checked consents and a requirement to ensure separate consents are sought for each type of cookie or similar technology. While the text of the
ePrivacy Regula�on is s�ll under development, a recent European court decision, regulators’ recent guidance and recent campaigns by a not-for-profit organiza�on are driving increased
a�en�on to cookies and tracking technologies. If regulators start to enforce the strict approach in recent guidance, this could lead to substan�al costs, require significant systems changes,
limit the effec�veness of our marke�ng ac�vi�es, divert the a�en�on of our technology personnel, adversely affect our margins, increase costs and subject us to addi�onal liabili�es.
Regula�on of cookies and similar technologies, and any decline of cookies or similar online tracking technologies as a means to iden�fy and poten�ally target users, may lead to broader
restric�ons and impairments on our marke�ng and personaliza�on ac�vi�es and may nega�vely impact our efforts to understand users.

Addi�onally, other countries outside of Europe and the United States, including countries we either operate or may in the future operate within, are considering enac�ng similar cross-
border data transfer restric�ons and laws requiring local data residency, which could increase the cost and complexity of delivering our services and opera�ng our business. For example,
Brazil enacted the General Data Protec�on Law, New Zealand enacted the New Zealand Privacy Act, China enacted its Personal Informa�on Protec�on Law, and Canada introduced the
Digital Charter Implementa�on Act.

Although we make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable data protec�on laws and regula�ons, our interpreta�ons and efforts may have been or may prove to be insufficient or
incorrect. We also generally seek to comply with industry standards and are subject to the terms of our privacy policies and privacy-related obliga�ons to third par�es. We strive to comply
with applicable laws, policies, legal obliga�ons and industry codes of conduct rela�ng to privacy and data protec�on to the extent possible. However, it is possible that these obliga�ons may
be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdic�on to another and may conflict with other rules or our prac�ces. Any failure or perceived failure by us to
comply with applicable privacy and data security laws and regula�ons, our privacy policies, or our privacy-
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related obliga�ons to users or other third par�es, or any compromise of security that results in the unauthorized access to or transfer of personal informa�on or other customer data, may
result in governmental enforcement ac�ons, li�ga�on, or public statements against us by consumer advocacy groups or others and could cause our users to lose trust in us, which would
have an adverse effect on our reputa�on and business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. We may also incur significant expenses to comply with privacy,
consumer protec�on and security standards and controls imposed by laws, regula�ons, industry standards, or contractual obliga�ons.

Any significant change to applicable laws, regula�ons or industry prac�ces regarding the use or disclosure of our users’ data, or regarding the manner in which the express or implied
consent of users for the use and disclosure of such data is obtained - or in how these applicable laws, regula�ons or industry prac�ces are interpreted and enforced by state, federal and
interna�onal privacy regulators - could require us to modify our services and features, possibly in a material and costly manner, may subject us to legal claims, regulatory enforcement
ac�ons and fines, and may limit our ability to develop new services and features that make use of the data that our users voluntarily share with us.

Any unauthorized control or manipula�on of our vehicles’ systems could result in a loss of confidence in us and our vehicles and harm our business.

Our vehicles contain complex technology systems. For example, our vehicles are ou�i�ed with built-in data connec�vity to install periodic remote updates to improve or update the
func�onality of our vehicles. We have implemented cryptographic technologies to deliver updates securely from Rivian including a hardware security module to verify the integrity of vehicle
so�ware by using cryptographic hashes. We have designed, implemented, and tested security measures intended to prevent cybersecurity breaches or unauthorized access to our
informa�on technology networks, our vehicles and their systems, and intend to implement addi�onal security measures as necessary. However, hackers and other malicious actors may
a�empt in the future to gain unauthorized access to modify, alter, and use networks, vehicle so�ware and our systems to gain control of, or to change, our vehicles’ so�ware or to gain
access to data stored in or generated by the vehicle. Errors and vulnerabili�es, including zero days, in our informa�on technology systems will be probed by third par�es and could be
iden�fied and exploited in the future, and our remedia�on efforts may not be �mely or successful. Any unauthorized access to or control of our vehicles or their systems or any
unauthorized access to or loss of data could result in risks to our customers, unsafe driving condi�ons, or failure of our systems, any of which could result in interrup�ons in our business,
legal claims or proceedings which may or may not result in our favor and could subject us to significant liability. In addi�on, regardless of their veracity, reports of unauthorized access to our
vehicles, their systems or data, as well as other factors that may result in the percep�on that our vehicles, their systems or data are capable of being “hacked” and lack appropriate safety
controls, could nega�vely affect our brand and harm our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We u�lize third-party service providers to support our service and business opera�ons and any disrup�on or delays in service from these third-party providers could materially and
adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Our brand, reputa�on and ability to a�ract customers depends on the reliable performance of our vehicles and the suppor�ng systems, technology, and infrastructure. For example, we
ou�it our vehicles with in-vehicle services and func�onality that use data connec�vity to monitor performance and capture opportuni�es for cost-saving preventa�ve maintenance. The
availability and effec�veness of these services depend on the con�nued opera�on of informa�on technology and communica�on systems. We primarily rely on Amazon Web Services in the
United States to host our cloud compu�ng and storage needs. We do not own, control, or operate our cloud compu�ng physical infrastructure or their data center providers. Our systems
and opera�ons are vulnerable to damage or interrup�on from, among others, fire, flood, power loss, natural disasters, telecommunica�ons failure, terrorist a�acks, acts of war, electronic
and physical break-ins, system vulnerabili�es, earthquakes, and other events at the sites of such providers. Ransomware within our informa�on systems could target our manufacturing
and/or business capabili�es limi�ng the availability and up�me of these systems or elici�ng payment from us. The occurrence of any of the foregoing events could result in damage to
systems and hardware or could cause them to fail completely, and our insurance may not cover such events or may be insufficient to compensate us for losses that may occur.

Problems faced by our third-party cloud service providers with their telecommunica�ons network providers with which they contract or with the systems by which they allocate capacity
among their customers, including us, could adversely affect the experience of our customers. Our third-party cloud service providers could decide to close their facili�es without adequate
no�ce resul�ng in loss of service and nega�ve effects in our systems. Any financial difficul�es, such as bankruptcy
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reorganiza�on, faced by our third-party providers or any of the service providers with whom they contract may have nega�ve effects on our business, the nature and extent of which are
difficult to predict.

We may not carry business interrup�on insurance sufficient to compensate us for the poten�ally significant losses, including the poten�al harm to the future growth of our business, which
may result from interrup�ons in our service as a result of system failures. Any errors, defects, disrup�ons or other performance problems with our services could harm our business,
prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We are, and may in the future become, subject to patent, trademark and/or other intellectual property infringement claims, which may be �me-consuming, cause us to incur significant
liability, and increase our costs of doing business.

We are involved in, and may in the future become party to addi�onal, intellectual property infringement proceedings. Companies, organiza�ons, or individuals, including our compe�tors,
may hold or obtain patents, trademarks or other proprietary or intellectual property rights that would prevent, limit or interfere with our ability to make, use, develop, sell, lease or market
our vehicles or components, which could make it more difficult for us to operate our business. From �me to �me, we may receive communica�ons from holders of patents, trademarks,
trade secrets or other intellectual property or proprietary rights alleging that we are infringing, misappropria�ng, dilu�ng or otherwise viola�ng such rights. Such par�es have brought and
may in the future bring suits against us alleging infringement or other viola�on of such rights, or otherwise assert their rights and urge us to take licenses to their intellectual property. In one
example, our applica�ons for and uses of trademarks rela�ng to our products, services, or designs, could be found to infringe upon exis�ng trademark rights owned by third par�es. As
another example, we may not be aware of exis�ng patents or patent applica�ons that could be per�nent to our business as many patent applica�ons are filed confiden�ally in the United
States and are not published un�l 18 months following the applicable filing date. In the event that a claim rela�ng to intellectual property is asserted against us, our suppliers or our third-
party licensors, or if third par�es not affiliated with us hold pending or issued patents that relate to our products or technology, we may need to seek licenses to such intellectual property or
seek to challenge those patents. Even if we are able to obtain a license, it could be non-exclusive, thereby giving our compe�tors and other third par�es access to the same technologies
licensed to us. In addi�on, we may be unable to obtain these licenses on commercially reasonable terms, if at all, and our challenge of third-party patents may be unsuccessful. Li�ga�on or
other legal proceedings rela�ng to intellectual property claims, regardless of merit, may cause us to incur significant expenses and could distract our technical and management personnel
from their normal responsibili�es. Further, if we are determined to have infringed upon a third party’s intellectual property rights, we may be required to do one or more of the following:

• cease selling or leasing, incorpora�ng certain components into, or using vehicles or offering goods or services that incorporate or use the intellectual property that we allegedly
infringe, misappropriate, dilute, or otherwise violate;

• pay substan�al royalty or license fees or other damages;
• seek a license from the holder of the infringed intellectual property right, which license may not be available on reasonable terms, or at all;
• redesign or reengineer our vehicles or other technology, goods or services, which may be costly, �me-consuming, or impossible; or
• establish and maintain alterna�ve branding for our products and services.

In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us and our failure or inability to obtain a license to the infringed technology or other intellectual property right, our business,
prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows could be materially and adversely affected. In addi�on, any li�ga�on or claims, whether or not valid, could result in
substan�al costs, nega�ve publicity and diversion of resources and management a�en�on.

We may not be able to prevent others from unauthorized use of our intellectual property, which could harm our business and compe��ve posi�on.

We may not be able to prevent others from unauthorized use of our intellectual property, which could harm our business and compe��ve posi�on. We rely on a combina�on of patent,
trade secret (including those in our know-how), and other intellectual property laws, as well as employee and third-party nondisclosure agreements, intellectual property licenses, and other
contractual rights to establish and protect our rights in our technology and intellectual property. Our patent or trademark applica�ons may not be granted, any patents or trademark
registra�ons that may be issued to us may not sufficiently protect our intellectual property and any of our issued patents, trademark registra�ons or other intellectual property rights may be
challenged by third par�es. Any of these scenarios may result in limita�ons in the scope of our intellectual property or restric�ons on our use of our intellectual property or may adversely
affect the conduct of our
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business. Despite our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights, third par�es may a�empt to copy or otherwise obtain and use our intellectual property or seek court declara�ons
that they do not infringe upon our intellectual property rights. Monitoring unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult and costly, and the steps we have taken or will take to
prevent misappropria�on may not be successful. From �me to �me, we may have to resort to li�ga�on to enforce our intellectual property rights, which could result in substan�al costs and
diversion of our resources.

Patent, trademark, and trade secret laws vary significantly throughout the world. A number of foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws
of the United States. Therefore, our intellectual property rights may not be as strong or as easily enforced outside of the United States. Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property
rights could result in our compe�tors offering similar products, poten�ally resul�ng in the loss of some of our compe��ve advantage and a decrease in our revenue which would adversely
affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Our patent applica�ons may not issue as patents, which may have a material adverse effect on our ability to prevent others from commercially exploi�ng products similar to ours.

We cannot be certain that we are the first inventor of the subject ma�er to which we have filed a par�cular patent applica�on, or that we are the first party to file such a patent applica�on.
If another party has filed a patent applica�on for the same subject ma�er as we have, we may not be en�tled to the protec�on sought by the patent applica�on. Further, the scope of
protec�on of issued patent claims is o�en difficult to determine. As a result, we cannot be certain that the patent applica�ons that we file will issue, or that our issued patents will afford
protec�on against compe�tors with similar technology. In addi�on, our compe�tors may design around our issued patents, which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

If our patents expire or are not maintained, our patent applica�ons are not granted or our patent rights are contested, circumvented, invalidated or limited in scope, we may not be able
to prevent others from selling, developing or exploi�ng compe�ng technologies or products, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on,
results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We cannot assure you that our pending applica�ons will issue as patents. Even if our patent applica�ons issue into patents, these patents may be contested, circumvented or invalidated in
the future. In addi�on, the rights granted under any issued patents may not provide us with adequate protec�on or compe��ve advantages. The claims under any patents that issue from
our patent applica�ons may not be broad enough to prevent others from developing technologies that are similar or that achieve results similar to ours. The intellectual property rights of
others could also bar us from licensing and exploi�ng any patents that issue from our pending applica�ons. Numerous patents and pending patent applica�ons owned by others exist in the
fields in which we have developed and are developing our technology. Many of these exis�ng patents and patent applica�ons might have priority over our patent applica�ons and could
subject our patents to invalida�on or our patent applica�ons to rejec�on. Finally, in addi�on to patents and patent applica�ons that were filed before our patents and patent applica�ons,
any of our exis�ng or future patents may also be challenged by others on the basis that they are invalid or unenforceable.

We are, and may in the future become, subject to claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of our employees’ former employers.

Many of our employees were previously employed by other automo�ve companies, by suppliers to automo�ve companies or companies with similar or related technology, products or
services. We are, and may in the future become, subject to claims that we or these employees have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary
informa�on of former employers. Li�ga�on may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending such claims, we may be forced to pay monetary damages or be enjoined
from using certain technology, products, services, or knowledge. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, li�ga�on could result in substan�al costs and demand on
management resources. See “—We are, and may in the future become, subject to patent, trademark and/or other intellectual property infringement claims, which may be �me-consuming,
cause us to incur significant liability, and increase our costs of doing business.”
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Our use of open source so�ware in our applica�ons could subject our proprietary so�ware to general release, adversely affect our ability to sell our services and subject us to possible
li�ga�on, claims or proceedings.

We use open source so�ware in connec�on with the development and deployment of our products and services, and we expect to con�nue to use open source so�ware in the future.
Companies that use open source so�ware in connec�on with their products have, from �me to �me, faced claims challenging the use of open source so�ware and/or compliance with open
source license terms. As a result, we could be subject to suits by par�es claiming ownership of what we believe to be open source so�ware or claiming noncompliance with open source
licensing terms. Some open source so�ware licenses may require users who distribute proprietary so�ware containing or linked to open source so�ware to publicly disclose all or part of the
source code to such proprietary so�ware and/or make available any deriva�ve works of the open source code under the same open source license, which could include proprietary source
code. In such cases, the open source so�ware license may also restrict us from charging fees to licensees for their use of our so�ware. While we monitor the use of open source so�ware
and try to ensure that open source so�ware is not used in a manner that would subject our proprietary source code to these requirements and restric�ons, such use could inadvertently
occur, in part because open source license terms are o�en ambiguous and have generally not been interpreted by United States or foreign courts.

Further, in addi�on to risks related to license requirements, use of certain open source so�ware carries greater technical and legal risks than does the use of third-party commercial
so�ware. For example, open source so�ware is generally provided as-is without any support or warran�es or other contractual protec�ons regarding infringement or the quality of the code,
including the existence of security vulnerabili�es. To the extent that our pla�orm depends upon the successful opera�on of open source so�ware, any undetected errors or defects in open
source so�ware that we use could prevent the deployment or impair the func�onality of our systems and injure our reputa�on. In addi�on, the public availability of such so�ware may make
it easier for a�ackers to target and compromise our pla�orm through cyber-a�acks. Any of the foregoing risks could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Risks Related to Other Legal, Regulatory, and Tax Ma�ers

Our vehicles are subject to motor vehicle safety standards and the failure to sa�sfy such mandated safety standards would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects,
financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

All vehicles sold must comply with interna�onal, federal, and state motor vehicle safety standards. In the United States, vehicles that meet or exceed all federally mandated safety standards
are self-cer�fied by the manufacturer under the federal regula�ons. Rigorous tes�ng and the use of approved materials and equipment are among the requirements for achieving federal
cer�fica�on. Other jurisdic�ons outside the United States, such as Europe, require us to meet Type Approval requirements proving to regulators that our vehicles meet those relevant safety
standards in effect in those countries. Failure by us to maintain compliance of the R1T, R1S, EDV, or obtain cer�fica�on of compliance for any future EV model with motor vehicle safety
standards in the United States, Canada, the EU or other jurisdic�ons would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash
flows.

As a manufacturer engaged in sales directly to consumers, we may face regulatory limita�ons on our ability to sell and service vehicles directly, which could materially and adversely
affect our ability to sell our vehicles.

Our business plan includes the direct sale of vehicles to individual customers. Many states have laws that may be interpreted to impose limita�ons on this direct-to-consumer sales model
for manufacturers. The applica�on of these state laws to our opera�ons may be difficult to predict. Laws in some states may limit our ability to obtain dealer licenses from state motor
vehicle regulators or to own or operate our own service centers. As a result, we may not be able to sell, finance or lease directly to customers in each state in the United States or provide
service from a loca�on in every state.

In addi�on, decisions by regulators permi�ng us to sell vehicles may be challenged by dealer associa�ons and others as to whether such decisions comply with applicable state motor
vehicle industry laws. In some states, there have also been regulatory and legisla�ve efforts by dealer associa�ons to interpret laws or propose laws that, if enacted, would prevent us from
obtaining dealer licenses in their states given our direct sales model. Dealer associa�ons have also resorted to lawsuits in state courts to challenge our ability to obtain dealer licenses and
operate directly even in states that have laws that would otherwise allow us to own and operate retail loca�ons. We expect dealer associa�ons to con�nue to mount con�nued legal and
legisla�ve challenges to our business model.
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For customers residing in states in which we will not be allowed to sell, lease, or deliver vehicles, we must generally conduct the sale out of the state over the internet or telephonically and
may have to arrange alternate methods of delivery of vehicles. This could include delivering vehicles to adjacent or nearby states in which we are allowed to directly sell or lease and ship
vehicles, and arranging for the customer to transport the vehicles to their home states. These workarounds could add significant complexity, and as a result, costs, to our business. States
may also restrict our ability to service vehicles once sold and delivered to customers. Some states, for example, have laws that prohibit manufacturers from providing warranty service in
state or restrict the ability for manufacturers to own or operate service opera�ons. A few states have passed legisla�on that clarifies our ability to operate, but at the same �me limits the
number of dealer licenses we can obtain or dealerships that we can operate.

The foregoing examples of state laws governing the sale and servicing of motor vehicles are just some of the legal hurdles we face as we sell and service our vehicles. In many states, the
applica�on of motor vehicle laws to our sales model is limited in experience, par�cularly with respect to the sale of new vehicles over the internet. To determine how the laws would apply
to our business would require fact-specific analysis of numerous factors of business in the state, including whether we have a physical presence or employees, whether we adver�se or
conduct other marke�ng ac�vi�es, how sale transac�ons are structured, the volume of sales into the state, and whether the state prohibits manufacturers from ac�ng as dealers.

Interna�onally, there may be laws in jurisdic�ons that may restrict our sales or other business prac�ces. While we have analyzed the principal laws in the United States, EU, China, Japan,
United Kingdom, and Australia rela�ng to our distribu�on model and believe we comply with such laws, the laws in this area can be complex, difficult to interpret and may change over �me,
and thus require ongoing review. Further, we have not performed a complete analysis of all jurisdic�ons in which we may sell vehicles.

Con�nued regulatory limita�ons and other obstacles interfering with our ability to sell vehicles directly to consumers could have a nega�ve and material impact on our business, prospects,
financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We may be exposed to delays, limita�ons, and risks related to the environmental permits and other permits and approvals required to operate or expand opera�ons at an exis�ng or
future manufacturing facility.

Opera�on of an automobile manufacturing facility requires land use and environmental permits and other opera�ng permits from federal, state and local government en��es. We currently
have all permits necessary to carry out and perform our current plans and opera�ons at our facility. In addi�on, expansion of opera�ons at our facility, and the construc�on or opera�on of
any future facility, may require addi�onal land use, environmental and opera�ng permits. Delays, denials, or restric�ons on any of the applica�ons for or assignment of the permits to
operate our facility or any future facility we may acquire or construct could adversely affect our ability to execute on our business plans and objec�ves.

We are subject to various environmental and safety laws and regula�ons that could impose substan�al costs upon us and cause delays in building our manufacturing facili�es.

As an automobile manufacturer, we and our opera�ons, both in the United States and abroad, are subject to na�onal, state, provincial and/or local environmental, health and safety laws
and regula�ons, including laws rela�ng to the use, handling, storage, and disposal of, and human exposure to, hazardous materials. Environmental, health and safety laws, and regula�ons
can be complex, and we expect that our business and opera�ons will be affected by future amendments to such laws or other new environmental, health and safety laws which may require
us to change our opera�ons, poten�ally resul�ng in a material adverse effect on our business. These laws can give rise to liability for administra�ve oversight costs, cleanup costs, property
damage, bodily injury, and fines and penal�es. Capital and opera�ng expenses needed to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regula�ons can be significant, and
viola�ons may result in substan�al fines and penal�es, third-party damages, suspension of produc�on or a cessa�on of our opera�ons.

Contamina�on at proper�es currently or formerly owned or operated by us, as well as at proper�es we will own and operate, and proper�es to which hazardous substances were sent by us,
may result in liability for us under environmental laws and regula�ons, including, but not limited to the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensa�on and Liability Act (“CERCLA”),
which can impose liability for the full amount of remedia�on-related costs without regard to fault, for the inves�ga�on and cleanup of contaminated soil and ground water, for building
contamina�on and impacts to human health, and for damages to natural resources. The costs of complying with environmental laws, including CERCLA, and regula�ons and any claims
concerning noncompliance, or liability with respect to contamina�on in the future, could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons,
and cash flows.
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We are subject to substan�al and evolving regula�on and unfavorable changes to, or our failure to comply with, these regula�ons could substan�ally harm our business, prospects,
financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Our vehicles, and the sale of motor vehicles in general, are subject to substan�al regula�on under interna�onal, federal, state, and local laws. We expect to incur significant costs in
complying with these regula�ons. Regula�ons related to the electric vehicle industry and alterna�ve energy are currently evolving and we face risks associated with changes to these
regula�ons, such as:

• the imposi�on of a carbon tax or the introduc�on of a cap-and-trade system on electric u�li�es, either of which could increase the cost of electricity and thereby the cost of
opera�ng an electric vehicle;

• new state regula�ons of electric vehicle fees could discourage consumer demand for EVs;
• the increase of subsidies for alterna�ve fuels such as corn and ethanol could reduce the opera�ng cost of vehicles that use such alterna�ve fuels and gasoline, and thereby reduce

the appeal of EVs;
• changes to the regula�ons governing the assembly and transporta�on of ba�ery cells could increase the cost of ba�ery cells or make such commodi�es more difficult to obtain;
• changes in regula�on, for example rela�ng to the noise required to be emi�ed by EVs, may impact the design or func�on of EVs, and thereby lead to decreased consumer appeal;
• changes in regula�ons governing the range and miles per gallon of gasoline-equivalent calcula�ons could lower our vehicles’ ra�ngs, making EVs less appealing to consumers; and
• the amendment or rescission of the CAFE standards could reduce new business opportuni�es for our business.

To the extent the laws change, our vehicles may not comply with applicable interna�onal, federal, state or local laws, which would have an adverse effect on our business. Compliance with
changing regula�ons could be burdensome, �me consuming, and expensive. To the extent compliance with new regula�ons is cost prohibi�ve, our business, prospects, financial condi�on,
results of opera�ons, and cash flows would be materially and adversely affected.

Interna�onally, there may be laws in jurisdic�ons we have not yet entered or laws we are unaware of in jurisdic�ons we have entered that may restrict our sales or other business prac�ces.
Even for those jurisdic�ons we have analyzed, the laws in this area can be complex, difficult to interpret and may change over �me. Con�nued regulatory limita�ons and other obstacles
interfering with our ability to sell or lease vehicles directly to consumers could have a nega�ve and material impact on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and
cash flows.

We are or may be subject to risks associated with strategic alliances or acquisi�ons.

We may from �me to �me consider entering into strategic alliances, including joint ventures, minority equity investments or other transac�ons, with various third par�es to further our
business purpose. These alliances could subject us to a number of risks, including risks associated with sharing proprietary informa�on, with non-performance by the third party and with
increased expenses in establishing new strategic alliances, any of which may materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.
We may have limited ability to monitor or control the ac�ons of these third par�es and, to the extent any of these strategic third par�es suffer nega�ve publicity or harm to their reputa�on
from events rela�ng to their business, we may also suffer nega�ve publicity or harm to our reputa�on by virtue of our associa�on with any such third party.

When appropriate opportuni�es arise, we may acquire addi�onal assets, products, technologies, or businesses that are complementary to our exis�ng business. In addi�on to possible
stockholder approval, we may need approvals and licenses from relevant government authori�es for the acquisi�ons and to comply with any applicable laws and regula�ons, which could
result in increased delay and costs, and may disrupt our business strategy if we fail to do so. Furthermore, acquisi�ons and the subsequent integra�on of new assets and businesses into our
own require significant a�en�on from our management and could result in a diversion of resources from our exis�ng business, which in turn could have an adverse effect on our opera�ons.
Acquired assets or businesses may not generate the financial results we expect. Acquisi�ons could result in the use of substan�al amounts of cash, poten�ally dilu�ve issuances of equity
securi�es, the occurrence of significant goodwill impairment charges, amor�za�on expenses for other intangible assets, and exposure to poten�al unknown liabili�es of the acquired
business. Moreover, the costs of iden�fying and consumma�ng acquisi�ons may be significant.
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Our business could be adversely affected by trade tariffs or other trade barriers.

Our business will be subject to the imposi�on of tariffs and other trade barriers, which may make it more costly for us to export our vehicles to the imposing country. If we experience cost
increases as a result of exis�ng or future tariffs, and are unable to pass on such addi�onal costs to our customers, or otherwise mi�gate the costs, or if demand for our exported vehicles
decreases due to the higher cost, our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows may be materially and adversely affected.

For example, in recent years the United States government has a�empted to renego�ate or terminate certain exis�ng bilateral or mul�-lateral trade agreements. It has also imposed tariffs
on certain foreign goods which resulted in increased costs for goods imported into the United States. In response to these tariffs, a number of United States trading partners have imposed
retaliatory tariffs on a wide range of United States products, making it more costly for companies to export products to those countries. China and the United States have each imposed
tariffs, indica�ng the poten�al for further trade barriers which may escalate a nascent trade war between China and the United States. In addi�on, addi�onal trade restric�ons or barriers
could be implemented on a broader range of products or raw materials.

We are or will be subject to export control laws, and non-compliance with such laws can subject us to administra�ve, civil and criminal penal�es, collateral consequences, remedial
measures and legal expenses, all of which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We are or will be subject to export control laws, including the Export Administra�on Regula�ons administered by the United States Department of Commerce. United States export controls
apply to (1) items that are produced in the United States, wherever they are geographically located; (2) all items located in the United States, even if only moving in transit through the
United States; and (3) certain foreign-produced items, including those that incorporate more than de minimis levels of controlled United States-origin content. A viola�on of export control
laws or regula�ons could adversely affect our business, results of opera�ons, financial condi�on, and reputa�on. A viola�on could subject us to whistleblower complaints, adverse media
coverage, inves�ga�ons, and severe administra�ve, civil and criminal penal�es, collateral consequences, remedial measures and legal expenses, all of which could materially and adversely
affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We are or will be subject to an�-corrup�on, an�-bribery, an�-money laundering, financial and economic sanc�ons and similar laws, and non-compliance with such laws can subject us
to administra�ve, civil and criminal fines and penal�es, collateral consequences, remedial measures and legal expenses, all of which could adversely affect our business, prospects,
financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We are or will be subject to an�-corrup�on, an�-bribery, an�-money laundering, financial and economic sanc�ons and similar laws and regula�ons in various jurisdic�ons in which we
conduct or in the future may conduct ac�vi�es, including the United States Foreign Corrupt Prac�ces Act (“FCPA”), the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, and other an�-corrup�on laws and regula�ons.
The FCPA and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010 prohibit us and our officers, directors, employees and business partners ac�ng on our behalf, including agents, from corruptly offering, promising,
authorizing or providing anything of value to a “foreign official” for the purposes of influencing official decisions or obtaining or retaining business or otherwise obtaining favorable
treatment. The FCPA also requires companies to make and keep books, records and accounts that accurately reflect transac�ons and disposi�ons of assets and to maintain a system of
adequate internal accoun�ng controls. The U.K. Bribery Act 2010 also prohibits non-governmental “commercial” bribery and solici�ng or accep�ng bribes. A viola�on of these laws or
regula�ons could adversely affect our business, results of opera�ons, financial condi�on, and reputa�on. Our policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with these regula�ons
may not be sufficient and our directors, officers, employees, representa�ves, consultants, agents, and business partners could engage in improper conduct for which we may be held
responsible.

Non-compliance with an�-corrup�on, an�-bribery, an�-money laundering or financial and economic sanc�ons laws could subject us to whistleblower complaints, adverse media coverage,
inves�ga�ons, and severe administra�ve, civil and criminal sanc�ons, collateral consequences, remedial measures and legal expenses, all of which could materially and adversely affect our
business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. In addi�on, changes in economic sanc�ons laws in the future could adversely impact our business and
investments in our Class A common stock.
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We are, and may in the future be, subject to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of our business. If the outcomes of these proceedings are adverse to us, it could have a material
adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

We are subject to various li�ga�on ma�ers from �me to �me, the outcome of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons and cash
flows. Claims arising out of actual or alleged viola�ons of law could be asserted against us by individuals, either individually or through class ac�ons, by governmental en��es in civil or
criminal inves�ga�ons and proceedings or by other en��es. These claims could be asserted under a variety of laws, including but not limited to consumer finance laws, consumer protec�on
laws, contract laws, tort laws, environmental laws, intellectual property laws, privacy laws, labor and employment laws, securi�es laws, and employee benefit laws. For example, in March
2022 two separate shareholder class ac�on lawsuits were filed against the Company, its directors, certain officers and its IPO underwriters alleging viola�ons of United States securi�es laws,
including the Securi�es Act and the Exchange Act. We may also become subject to allega�ons of discrimina�on or other similar misconduct, which, regardless of the ul�mate outcome, may
result in adverse publicity that could harm our brand, reputa�on, and opera�ons. For example, in November 2021, a complaint was filed in a California state court by a former employee
alleging that she was fired shortly a�er complaining about gender discrimina�on. Claims may also arise out of actual or alleged breaches of contract or other actual or alleged acts or
omissions by or on behalf of us. These ac�ons could expose us to adverse publicity and to substan�al monetary damages and legal defense costs, injunc�ve relief and criminal and civil fines
and penal�es, including but not limited to suspension or revoca�on of licenses to conduct business. Even if we are successful in defending against legal claims, li�ga�on could result in
substan�al costs and demand on management resources. See Part I, Item 3 “Legal Proceedings.”

We are involved in securi�es li�ga�on and other related ma�ers that are expensive and �me-consuming. Such li�ga�on and other related ma�ers could harm our business.

We are involved in securi�es li�ga�on, and we may con�nue to be a target for securi�es and shareholder lawsuits in the future. For example, on March 7, 2022 an alleged stockholder filed
suit against Rivian Automo�ve, Inc., certain of our officers and directors, and Rivian’s IPO underwriters in the Central District of California, on behalf of a puta�ve class of purchasers of Rivian
common stock in our IPO. The complaint alleges viola�ons of Sec�on 11 of the Securi�es Act in connec�on with our IPO and, more specifically, that there were misstatements and omissions
in Rivian’s registra�on statement in connec�on with the IPO. On March 22, 2022, another alleged stockholder filed a similar securi�es class ac�on against Rivian Automo�ve, Inc., certain of
our officers and directors, and our IPO underwriters, also in the Central District of California, on behalf of a puta�ve class of purchasers of our common stock between November 10, 2021
and March 10, 2022. The complaint, in addi�on to alleging viola�ons of Sec�ons 11 and 15 of the Securi�es Act, alleges viola�ons under Sec�ons 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. Each
of these complaints seeks damages and a�orneys’ fees, among other things. Securi�es li�ga�on could result in substan�al costs and divert management’s a�en�on and resources from our
business. Securi�es li�ga�on, and other related ma�ers such as governmental or regulatory inves�ga�ons, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of opera�ons,
financial condi�on, reputa�on and cash flows, as well as on the market price of our common stock. Although the results of lawsuits and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, defending
these claims is costly and can impose a significant burden on management and employees. Any li�ga�on to which we are a party may result in an onerous or unfavorable judgment that may
not be reversed on appeal, or we may decide to se�le lawsuits on similarly unfavorable terms. Any such nega�ve outcome could result in payments of substan�al monetary damages or
fines, or changes to our business prac�ces, and accordingly our business could be seriously harmed.

Changes in tax laws may materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

New income, sales, use or other tax laws, statutes, rules, regula�on, or ordinances could be enacted at any �me, or interpreted, changed, modified, or applied adversely to us, any of which
could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. In par�cular, presiden�al, congressional, state, and local elec�ons in the United
States could result in significant changes in, and uncertainty with respect to, tax legisla�on, regula�on and government policy directly affec�ng our business or indirectly affec�ng us because
of impacts on our customers, suppliers and manufacturers. For example, the United States government may enact significant changes to the taxa�on of business en��es including, among
others, an increase in the corporate income tax rate and the imposi�on of minimum taxes or surtaxes on certain types of income. No specific United States tax legisla�on has been proposed
at this �me and the likelihood of these changes being enacted or implemented is unclear. We are currently unable to predict whether such changes will occur and, if so, the ul�mate impact
on our business. To the extent that such changes have a nega�ve impact on
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us, our suppliers, manufacturers or our customers, including as a result of related uncertainty, these changes could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Our ability to use net opera�ng loss carryforwards and other tax a�ributes is limited due to certain provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.

We have incurred substan�al losses during our history and do not expect to become profitable in the foreseeable future, and we may never achieve profitability. Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act, federal net opera�ng losses (“NOLs”) we generated in tax years through December 31, 2017 may be carried forward for 20 years and may fully offset taxable income in the year u�lized,
and federal NOLs we generated in tax years beginning a�er December 31, 2017 may be carried forward indefinitely but may only be used to offset 80% of our taxable income annually.
Under Sec�ons 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), if a corpora�on undergoes an “ownership change,” the corpora�on’s ability to use its pre-change federal
NOLs and other tax a�ributes (such as research and development tax credits) to offset its post-change income and taxes may be limited. In general, an “ownership change” occurs if there is
a greater than 50 percentage point change (by value) in a corpora�on’s equity ownership by certain stockholders over a rolling three-year period. We have experienced ownership changes
in the past and may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of subsequent shi�s in our stock ownership (some of which shi�s are outside our control). As a result, our ability
to use our pre-change federal NOLs and other tax a�ributes to offset future taxable income and taxes could be subject to limita�ons. Similar provisions of state tax law may also apply. For
these reasons, even if we achieve profitability, we may be unable to use a material por�on of our NOLs and other tax a�ributes, which could materially and adversely affect our business,
prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock

Our stock price may be vola�le or may decline regardless of our opera�ng performance, resul�ng in substan�al losses for investors.

The market price of our Class A common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:

• actual or an�cipated fluctua�ons in our financial condi�on and results of opera�ons;
• the projec�ons we may provide to the public, any changes in these projec�ons, or our failure to meet these projec�ons;
• failure of securi�es analysts to ini�ate or maintain coverage of the Company, changes in financial es�mates or ra�ngs by any securi�es analysts who follow the Company or our

failure to meet these es�mates or the expecta�ons of investors;
• announcements by us or our compe�tors of significant technical innova�ons, acquisi�ons, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, results of opera�ons, or capital commitments;
• changes in stock market valua�ons and opera�ng performance of other electric vehicle companies generally, or those in our industry in par�cular;
• price and volume fluctua�ons in the overall stock market, including as a result of trends in the economy as a whole;
• changes in our board of directors or management;
• sales of large blocks of our common stock, including sales by our founder or our execu�ve officers and directors;
• lawsuits threatened or filed against us;
• an�cipated or actual changes in laws, regula�ons or government policies applicable to our business;
• changes in our capital structure, such as future issuances of debt or equity securi�es;
• short sales, hedging and other deriva�ve transac�ons involving our capital stock;
• general economic condi�ons in the United States;
• other events or factors, including those resul�ng from war, pandemics (including COVID-19 and associated variants), incidents of terrorism or responses to these events; and
• the other factors described in this Part I Item 1A “Risk Factors”.

The stock market has recently experienced extreme price and volume fluctua�ons. The market prices of securi�es of companies have experienced fluctua�ons that o�en have been
unrelated or dispropor�onate to their results of opera�ons. Market fluctua�ons could result in extreme vola�lity in the price of shares of our Class A common stock, which could cause a
decline in the value of a stockholder’s investment. Price vola�lity may be greater if the public float and trading volume of shares of our Class A common stock is low.
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Price and volume fluctua�ons in the stock market have affected and con�nue to affect many electric vehicle companies’ stock prices, including ours. O�en, such stock prices have fluctuated
in ways unrelated or dispropor�onate to the companies’ opera�ng performance. Following periods of such vola�lity in the market price of a company’s securi�es, securi�es class ac�on
li�ga�on has o�en been brought against that company. Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual opera�ng
performance. On March 7, 2022 an alleged stockholder filed suit against Rivian, certain of our officers and directors, and Rivian’s IPO underwriters in United States District Court for the
Central District of California (the “Central District of California”), on behalf of a puta�ve class of purchasers of Rivian common stock in our IPO. The complaint alleges viola�ons of Sec�on 11
of the Securi�es Act in connec�on with our IPO and, more specifically, that there were misstatements and omissions in Rivian’s registra�on statement in connec�on with the IPO. On March
22, 2022, another alleged stockholder filed a similar securi�es class ac�on against Rivian, certain of our officers and directors, and our IPO underwriters, also in the Central District of
California, on behalf of a puta�ve class of purchasers of our common stock between November 10, 2021 and March 10, 2022. The complaint, in addi�on to alleging viola�ons of Sec�ons 11
and 15 of the Securi�es Act, alleges viola�ons under Sec�ons 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. Each of these complaints seeks damages and a�orneys’ fees, among other things.
Securi�es li�ga�on could result in substan�al costs and divert management’s a�en�on and resources from our business.

Our execu�ve officers, directors, and principal stockholders, if they choose to act together, maintain significant vo�ng power.

Our execu�ve officers, directors, and stockholders who owned more than 5% of our outstanding common stock before our IPO and their respec�ve affiliates, in the aggregate, hold shares
represen�ng approximately 65.7% of the vo�ng power of our outstanding capital stock and are able to significantly influence all ma�ers submi�ed to our stockholders for approval, as well
as our management and affairs, par�cularly if they were to choose to act together. For example, these persons, if they choose to act together, would control or significantly influence the
elec�on of directors and approval of any merger, consolida�on, or sale of substan�ally all of our assets. This concentra�on of ownership control may:

• delay or prevent a change in control;
• entrench our management and our board of directors; or
• impede a merger, consolida�on, takeover, or other business combina�on involving us that other stockholders may desire.

In addi�on, each share of our Class B common stock is en�tled to ten votes, while each share of our Class A common stock en�tles its holder to one vote. An affiliate of our Founder and
CEO, Robert J. Scaringe, holds all outstanding shares of our Class B common stock. Due to our dual class structure, affiliates of Dr. Scaringe hold shares of our common stock represen�ng, in
the aggregate, approximately 9.1% of the vo�ng power of our outstanding capital stock but 2.1% of the total shares of common stock outstanding.

In addi�on, while we do not expect to issue any addi�onal shares of Class B common stock, any future issuances of Class B common stock would be dilu�ve to holders of Class A common
stock.

We cannot predict the impact our dual class structure may have on the market price of our Class A common stock.

We cannot predict whether our dual class structure will result in a lower or more vola�le market price of our Class A common stock, in adverse publicity, or in other adverse consequences.
Certain index providers have announced restric�ons on including companies with mul�ple class share structures in certain of their indices. For example, S&P Dow Jones has stated that
companies with mul�ple share classes will not be eligible for inclusion in the S&P Composite 1500 (composed of the S&P 500, S&P MidCap 400, and S&P SmallCap 600), and under the
announced policies, our dual class capital structure would make us ineligible for inclusion in any of these indices. Given the sustained flow of investment funds into passive strategies that
seek to track certain indices, exclusion from stock indices would likely preclude investment by many of these funds and could make our Class A common stock less a�rac�ve to other
investors. As a result, the market price of our Class A common stock could be materially adversely affected.

Sales, directly or indirectly, of a substan�al amount of our Class A common stock in the public markets by our exis�ng security holders may cause the price of our Class A common stock
to decline.
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Sales of a substan�al number of shares of our Class A common stock into the public market, par�cularly sales by our directors, execu�ve officers and principal stockholders, or the
percep�on that these sales might occur, could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline. Many of our pre-IPO security holders have substan�al unrecognized gains on
the value of the equity they hold, and may take steps to sell their shares or otherwise secure or limit their risk exposure to the value of their unrecognized gains on those shares. We are
unable to predict the �ming or effect of such sales on the market price of our Class A common stock.

All of the shares of Class A common stock sold in our IPO are tradable without restric�ons or further registra�on under the Securi�es Act, except that any shares held by our affiliates, as
defined in Rule 144 under the Securi�es Act, would only be able to be sold in compliance with Rule 144 and any applicable lock-up agreements described below.

We and all of our directors and execu�ve officers and certain other record holders that together as of December 31, 2021 represented approximately 99.6% of our outstanding Class A
common stock and securi�es directly or indirectly conver�ble into or exchangeable or exercisable for our Class A common stock (“Other Securi�es”) are subject to lock-up agreements
and/or market standoff agreements that restrict our and their ability to sell or transfer shares of our capital stock for a period of 180 days from November 9, 2021, the date of the final
prospectus, as filed with the SEC in connec�on with our IPO, subject to certain excep�ons. Holders of approximately 3.6 million shares of Other Securi�es, issued under our equity incen�ve
plans, are not subject to a market standoff agreement. In addi�on, Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC and J.P. Morgan Securi�es LLC may release certain stockholders from
the lock-up agreements prior to the end of the lock-up period. If not otherwise early released, when the applicable market standoff agreements or lock-up periods expire, we and our
security holders subject to a lock-up agreement or such market standoff agreements will be able to sell our shares freely in the public market, except that any shares held by our affiliates, as
defined in Rule 144 under the Securi�es Act, would only be able to be sold in compliance with Rule 144. Sales of a substan�al number of such shares upon expira�on of the lock-up
agreements and market standoff agreements, or the percep�on that such sales may occur, or early release of these agreements, could cause our market price to fall or make it more difficult
for you to sell your Class A common stock at a �me and price that you deem appropriate.

In addi�on, as of December 31, 2021, we had stock op�ons and restricted stock units (“RSUs”) outstanding that, if fully exercised, vested, or se�led, would result in the issuance of
approximately 102 million shares of Class A common stock. All of the shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock op�ons, and the shares reserved for future issuance
under our equity incen�ve plans, are registered for public resale under the Securi�es Act. Accordingly, these shares will be able to be freely sold in the public market upon issuance subject
to exis�ng lock-up or market standoff agreements and applicable ves�ng requirements.

Further, based on shares outstanding as of December 31, 2021, holders of approximately 587 million shares of our common stock have rights a�er the comple�on of our IPO, subject to
certain condi�ons, to require us to file registra�on statements for the public resale of shares of our Class A common stock or to include such shares in registra�on statements that we may
file for us or other stockholders.

If securi�es or industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about our business, the price of our Class A common stock and trading volume
could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securi�es or industry analysts publish about us or our business, our market and our
compe�tors. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our Class A common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable
research about our business, our Class A common stock price would likely decline. If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for
our Class A common stock could decrease, which might cause our Class A common stock price and trading volume to decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future. Consequently, any gains from an investment in our common stock will likely depend on whether the price of our Class A
common stock increases.

We currently intend to retain any future earnings to finance the opera�on and expansion of our business and we do not expect to declare or pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.
Moreover, the terms of our ABL Facility and the indenture governing the 2026 Notes restrict the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to pay dividends to us, and any addi�onal debt we may
incur in the future may restrict our ability to declare or pay cash dividends or make distribu�ons. In addi�on, Delaware law may impose requirements that may restrict our ability to pay
dividends to holders of our Class A common stock. As a
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result, stockholders must rely on sales of their Class A common stock a�er price apprecia�on, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on their investment.

An�-takeover provisions contained in our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on and amended and restated bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could impair a
takeover a�empt.

Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on, amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law contain provisions which could have the effect of rendering more difficult, delaying,
or preven�ng an acquisi�on. Our corporate governance documents provide for:

• a dual class structure;
• a classified board of directors with three-year staggered terms, who can only be removed for cause, which may delay the ability of stockholders to change the membership of a

majority of our board of directors;
• no cumula�ve vo�ng in the elec�on of directors, which limits the ability of minority stockholders to elect director candidates;
• the exclusive right of our board of directors to set the size of the board of directors and to elect a director to fill a vacancy, however occurring, including by an expansion of the

board of directors, which prevents stockholders from being able to fill vacancies on our board of directors;
• the ability of our board of directors to authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms of those shares, including vo�ng or other

rights or preferences, without stockholder approval, which could be used to significantly dilute the ownership of a hos�le acquiror;
• the ability of our board of directors to alter our amended and restated bylaws without obtaining stockholder approval;
• in addi�on to our board of director’s ability to adopt, amend, or repeal our amended and restated bylaws, our stockholders may adopt, amend, or repeal our amended and

restated bylaws only with the affirma�ve vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the vo�ng power of all our then outstanding shares of capital stock;
• the required approval of (i) at least 66 2/3% of the vo�ng power of the outstanding shares of capital stock en�tled to vote generally in the elec�on of directors, vo�ng together as a

single class, to adopt, amend, or repeal certain provisions of our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on and (ii) for so long as any shares of Class B common stock are
outstanding, the holders of at least 80% of the shares of Class B common stock outstanding at the �me of such vote, vo�ng as a separate series, to adopt, amend, or repeal certain
provisions of our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on;

• the requirement that a special mee�ng of stockholders may be called only by an officer of the Company pursuant to a resolu�on adopted by a majority of our board of directors
then in office or the chairperson of our board of directors; and

• advance no�ce procedures that stockholders must comply with in order to nominate candidates to our board of directors or to propose ma�ers to be acted upon at a stockholders’
mee�ng, which may discourage or deter a poten�al acquiror from conduc�ng a solicita�on of proxies to elect the acquiror’s own slate of directors or otherwise a�emp�ng to
obtain control of us.

These provisions, alone or together, could delay or prevent hos�le takeovers and changes in control or changes in our management.

As a Delaware corpora�on, we are also subject to provisions of Delaware law, including Sec�on 203 of the Delaware General Corpora�on Law (the “DGCL”), which prevents some
stockholders holding more than 15% of our outstanding common stock from engaging in certain business combina�ons without approval of the holders of substan�ally all of our outstanding
common stock.

Any provision of our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on, amended and restated bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect of delaying or deterring a change in control could
limit the opportunity for our stockholders to receive a premium for their shares of our common stock, and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay for our Class A
common stock.

Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive forum for certain stockholder li�ga�on
ma�ers and the federal district courts of the United States shall be the exclusive forum for the resolu�on of any complaint asser�ng a cause of ac�on arising under the Securi�es Act,
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which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, employees or stockholders.

Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on provides that, unless we otherwise consent in wri�ng, (1) any deriva�ve ac�on or proceeding brought on our behalf, (2) any ac�on
asser�ng a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director, officer, other employee or stockholder of ours to us or our stockholders, (3) any ac�on asser�ng a
claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on or our amended and restated bylaws (as either may be amended or restated) or
as to which the DGCL confers exclusive jurisdic�on on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or (4) any ac�on asser�ng a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine of the law of
the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permi�ed by law, be exclusively brought in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court does not have subject ma�er
jurisdic�on thereof, the federal district court of the State of Delaware; and (B) the federal district courts of the United States shall be the exclusive forum for the resolu�on of any complaint
asser�ng a cause of ac�on arising under the Securi�es Act; however, there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such provision, and investors cannot waive compliance with
federal securi�es laws and the rules and regula�ons thereunder. For example, Sec�on 22 of the Securi�es Act creates concurrent jurisdic�on for federal and state courts over all suits
brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securi�es Act or the rules and regula�ons thereunder. Accordingly, there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce such a
forum selec�on provision as wri�en in connec�on with claims arising under the Securi�es Act.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exclusive forum provision shall not apply to claims seeking to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act.

The choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or other employees,
which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors, officers, and other employees, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal
securi�es laws and the rules and regula�ons thereunder. Alterna�vely, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended and restated cer�ficate of
incorpora�on to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an ac�on, we may incur addi�onal costs associated with li�ga�ng such ac�on in another jurisdic�on, which could harm our business,
prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows. Any person or en�ty purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be
deemed to have no�ce of and consented to the forum provisions in our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on.

General Risk Factors

Our business is subject to the risk of earthquakes, fire, power outages, floods, other natural disasters, the physical effects of climate change and other catastrophic events, and to
interrup�on by man-made events such as terrorism.

Our business is vulnerable to damage or interrup�on from power losses, telecommunica�ons failures, terrorist a�acks, acts of war, human errors, break-ins, natural disasters and the
physical effects of climate change, which may include more frequent or severe storms, hurricanes, droughts and wildfires, and other similar events. The third-party systems and opera�ons
and suppliers and service providers we rely on are subject to similar risks. For example, a significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire, or flood, could have an adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows, and our insurance coverage may be insufficient to compensate us for losses that may occur. Acts of terrorism,
which may be targeted at metropolitan areas that have higher popula�on density than rural areas, could also cause disrup�ons in our or our suppliers’ and service providers’ businesses or
the economy as a whole. We may not have sufficient protec�on or recovery plans in some circumstances, such as natural disasters affec�ng loca�ons that store significant inventory of our
products. We plan to ini�ally engineer, manufacture and assemble our vehicles at the Normal Factory. Further, in many cases, we rely on a single-source supplier for vehicle parts. Any
prolonged disrup�on of opera�ons at our manufacturing facility or our suppliers’ facili�es, whether due to technical, informa�on systems, communica�on networks, strikes, accidents,
weather condi�ons or other natural disasters, the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise, whether short- or long-term, would materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial
condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Our insurance strategy may not be adequate to protect us from all business risks.

In the ordinary course of business, we may be subject to losses resul�ng from product liability, consumer ac�ons, accidents, acts of God, and other claims against us, for which we may have
no insurance coverage. While we currently carry commercial
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general liability, commercial automobile liability, product liability, excess liability, workers’ compensa�on, employment prac�ces liability, cyber security and directors’ and officers’ insurance
policies, we may not maintain as much insurance coverage as other vehicle manufacturers do, and in some cases, we may not maintain any at all. Addi�onally, the policies that we do have
may include significant deduc�bles, and we cannot be certain that our insurance coverage will be sufficient to cover all future claims against us. A loss that is uninsured or exceeds policy
limits may require us to pay substan�al amounts, which could adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

General business and economic condi�ons could reduce our orders and sales, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of
opera�ons, and cash flows.

Our business and results of opera�ons may be subject to global economic condi�ons and their impact on customer discre�onary spending. Some factors that may nega�vely influence
customer spending include high levels of unemployment, higher customer debt levels, declines in asset values and related market uncertainty, fluctua�ng interest rates and credit
availability, fluctua�ng fuel and other energy costs, and na�onal and global geo-poli�cal and economic uncertainty, including in connec�on with tariffs or trade laws. Economic condi�ons in
certain regions may also be affected by natural disasters, such as earthquakes, hurricanes, tropical storms and wildfires, public health crises, poli�cal crises, such as terrorist a�acks, war or
other poli�cal instability or other unexpected events, and such events could also disrupt our opera�ons, internet or mobile networks or the opera�ons of one or more of our third-party
suppliers or providers. Customer purchases of discre�onary items, including our EVs or other products or services, may decline during periods of economic uncertainty, when disposable
income is reduced or when there is a reduc�on in consumer confidence.

Our management has limited experience in opera�ng a public company.

Our execu�ve officers have limited experience in the management of a publicly traded company. Our management team may not successfully or effec�vely manage our transi�on to a public
company that is subject to significant regulatory oversight and repor�ng obliga�ons under federal securi�es laws. Their limited experience in dealing with the increasingly complex laws
pertaining to public companies could be a significant disadvantage in that it is likely that an increasing amount of their �me may be devoted to these ac�vi�es which will result in less �me
being devoted to the management and growth of the Company. We may not have adequate personnel with the appropriate level of knowledge, experience, and training in the accoun�ng
policies, prac�ces or internal controls over financial repor�ng required of public companies in the United States. The development and implementa�on of the standards and controls
necessary for the combined company to achieve the level of accoun�ng standards required of a public company in the United States may require costs greater than expected. It is possible
that we will be required to expand our employee base and hire addi�onal employees to support our opera�ons as a public company, which will increase our opera�ng costs in future
periods.

We have iden�fied material weaknesses in our internal control over financial repor�ng. If our remedia�on of such material weaknesses is not effec�ve, or if we experience addi�onal
material weaknesses in the future or otherwise fail to develop and maintain effec�ve internal control over financial repor�ng, our ability to produce �mely and accurate financial
statements or comply with applicable laws and regula�ons could be impaired.

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial repor�ng and to evaluate and determine the effec�veness of our internal control over financial repor�ng.
Beginning with our second annual report following the comple�on of our IPO, we will be required to provide a management report on internal control over financial repor�ng, as well as an
a�esta�on of our independent registered public accoun�ng firm.

As disclosed in the final prospectus, as filed with the SEC in connec�on with our IPO, we previously iden�fied material weaknesses in our internal control over financial repor�ng. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or a combina�on of deficiencies, in our internal control over financial repor�ng such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our
annual or interim consolidated financial statements would not be prevented or detected on a �mely basis.

The material weaknesses previously iden�fied pertained to controls to address segrega�on of du�es across financially relevant func�ons and IT general controls over our Enterprise
Resource Planning systems, applica�ons, and tools used in financial repor�ng. We have concluded that these material weaknesses con�nue to exist as of December 31, 2021. The
deficiencies iden�fied did not result in a material misstatement to our financial statements.
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The material weaknesses described above arose because as a private company prior to our IPO, coupled with the rapid growth in our business, we did not have the necessary business
processes, systems, personnel, and related internal controls necessary to sa�sfy the accoun�ng and financial repor�ng requirements of a public company.

We have taken and will con�nue to take ac�on to remediate these material weaknesses, including:

• implementa�on of processes and controls to be�er iden�fy and manage segrega�on of du�es risks;
• implementa�on of IT general controls to manage access and program changes within our IT environment and to support the evalua�on, monitoring, and ongoing effec�veness of

key applica�on controls and key reports; and
• con�nued hiring of addi�onal accoun�ng, finance, IT, and other business process resources with public company and internal control experience to be�er assess and manage our

segrega�on of du�es and IT general control risks.

We will not be able to fully remediate these material weaknesses un�l these steps have been completed and have been opera�ng effec�vely for a sufficient period of �me. Addi�onally, we
cannot assure you that we have iden�fied all, or that we will not in the future have addi�onal, material weaknesses. Material weaknesses may s�ll exist when we report on the effec�veness
of our internal control over financial repor�ng as required under Sec�on 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, beginning with our second annual report a�er the comple�on of our IPO.

The process of designing and implemen�ng internal control over financial repor�ng required to comply with the disclosure and a�esta�on requirements of Sec�on 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act will be �me consuming and costly. If during the evalua�on and tes�ng process we iden�fy addi�onal material weaknesses in our internal control over financial repor�ng or
determine that exis�ng material weaknesses have not been remediated, our management will be unable to assert that our internal control over financial repor�ng is effec�ve. Even if our
management concludes that our internal control over financial repor�ng is effec�ve, our independent registered public accoun�ng firm may conclude that there are material weaknesses
with respect to our internal control over financial repor�ng. If we are unable to assert that our internal control over financial repor�ng is effec�ve, or if our independent registered public
accoun�ng firm is unable to express an unqualified opinion as to the effec�veness of our internal control over financial repor�ng, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected and we could become subject to li�ga�on or inves�ga�ons by the stock
exchange on which our securi�es are listed, the SEC, or other regulatory authori�es, which could require addi�onal financial and management resources.

We will con�nue to incur significant addi�onal costs as a result of being a public company, and our management will be required to devote substan�al �me to compliance with our
public company responsibili�es and corporate governance prac�ces.

As a newly public company, we will con�nue to incur increased costs associated with corporate governance requirements that are or will become applicable to us, including rules and
regula�ons of the SEC, under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Customer Protec�on Act of 2010, and the Exchange Act, as well as the rules of Nasdaq. These
rules and regula�ons are expected to significantly increase our accoun�ng, legal and financial compliance costs and make some ac�vi�es more �me consuming, including due to increased
training of our current employees, addi�onal hiring of new employees, and increased assistance from consultants. We also expect these rules and regula�ons to make it more expensive for
us to maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. As a result, it may be more difficult for us to a�ract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors or as execu�ve
officers. Furthermore, these rules and regula�ons will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some ac�vi�es more �me-consuming and costly. We cannot predict or
es�mate the amount of addi�onal costs we will incur as a public company or the �ming of such costs. In addi�on, our management team will need to devote substan�al a�en�on to
transi�oning to interac�ng with public company analysts and investors, and complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to public companies, which may divert a�en�on away
from the day-to-day management of our business, including opera�onal, research and development and sales and marke�ng ac�vi�es. Increases in costs incurred or diversion of
management’s a�en�on as a result of becoming a publicly traded company may adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

If our es�mates or judgments rela�ng to our cri�cal accoun�ng policies are based on assump�ons that change or prove to be incorrect, our results of opera�ons could fall below the
expecta�ons of our investors and securi�es analysts, resul�ng in a decline in the trading price of our Class A common stock.

The prepara�on of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accoun�ng principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) requires management to make es�mates and
assump�ons that affect the amounts reported in our
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consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our es�mates on historical experience and on various other assump�ons that we believe to be reasonable under the
circumstances, as discussed in Part II, Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condi�on and Results of Opera�ons” included elsewhere in this Form 10-K, the results of
which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabili�es, equity and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Our results of opera�ons
may be adversely affected if our assump�ons change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assump�ons, which could cause our results of opera�ons to fall below our publicly
announced guidance or the expecta�ons of securi�es analysts and investors, resul�ng in a decline in the market price of our Class A common stock.

Our reported financial results may be nega�vely impacted by changes in U.S. GAAP and financial repor�ng requirements.

U.S. GAAP and related financial repor�ng requirements are complex, con�nually evolving and may be subject to varied interpreta�on by the relevant authorita�ve bodies, including the
Financial Accoun�ng Standards Board (the “FASB”), the SEC and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accoun�ng principles. FASB has in the past issued new or
revised accoun�ng standards that superseded exis�ng guidance and significantly impacted the repor�ng of financial results. Any future change in U.S. GAAP principles and financial
repor�ng requirements or interpreta�ons could also have a significant effect on our reported financial results, and may even affect the repor�ng of transac�ons completed before the
announcement or effec�veness of a change. It is difficult to predict the impact of future changes to accoun�ng principles or our accoun�ng policies, any of which could nega�vely affect our
reported results of opera�ons.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Proper�es

Rivian is based in Southern California. Our principal facili�es include leased proper�es in Northern California, Michigan, Arizona, Vancouver, the Netherlands, and the United Kingdom that
are used for engineering, service, charging, retail, sales, and administra�ve ac�vi�es. We also own an engineering, manufacturing, and assembly facility in the Normal Factory with the
capacity to produce up to 150,000 vehicles annually. Our facili�es are suitable and adequate for the conduct of our business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Currently we are involved in, or may in the future be involved in, legal proceedings, claims or government inves�ga�ons in the ordinary course of business rela�ng to, among other things,
commercial ma�ers and contracts, intellectual property, labor and employment, discrimina�on, false or misleading adver�sing, regulatory ma�ers, compe��on, pricing, tax, consumer
rights/protec�on, torts/personal injury, property rights, data privacy/data protec�on, and securi�es.

These ma�ers also include the following:

• On July 17, 2020, Tesla, Inc. (“Tesla”) filed suit against Rivian Automo�ve, Inc., Rivian Automo�ve, LLC and a number of former Tesla/current Rivian group employees in California
Superior Court, Santa Clara County. The current opera�ve pleading, the Fourth Amended Complaint (“4AC”) filed on September 28, 2021, alleges claims for trade secret
misappropria�on against Rivian and various individual defendants, as well as breach of contract and California Computer Data Access and Fraud Act claims against the individual
defendants (but not against Rivian). Tesla alleges that the individual defendants took confiden�al and trade secret documents and informa�on at Rivian’s direc�on when they le�
Tesla’s employ to join Rivian, including recruitment and personnel informa�on, sales data, service data, manufacturing informa�on, new market expansion informa�on, and
documents and code rela�ng to ba�ery technology. Tesla also alleges that by doing so, the individual defendants breached their non-disclosure and other agreements with Tesla.
The 4AC seeks damages, injunc�ve relief and a�orneys’ fees, among other things. We believe Tesla’s claims are meritless and intend to vigorously defend against this lawsuit.    

• On March 7, 2022 an alleged stockholder filed suit against Rivian Automo�ve, Inc., certain of our officers and directors, and Rivian’s IPO underwriters in the Central District of
California, on behalf of a puta�ve class of purchasers of Rivian common stock in our IPO. The complaint alleges viola�ons of Sec�on 11 of the Securi�es Act in connec�on with our
IPO and, more specifically, that there were misstatements and omissions in Rivian’s registra�on
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statement in connec�on with the IPO. On March 22, 2022, another alleged stockholder filed a similar securi�es class ac�on against Rivian Automo�ve, Inc., certain of our officers
and directors, and our IPO underwriters, also in the Central District of California, on behalf of a puta�ve class of purchasers of our common stock between November 10, 2021 and
March 10, 2022. The complaint, in addi�on to alleging viola�ons of Sec�ons 11 and 15 of the Securi�es Act, alleges viola�ons under Sec�ons 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act.
Each of these complaints seeks damages and a�orneys’ fees, among other things. Securi�es li�ga�on could result in substan�al costs and divert management’s a�en�on and
resources from our business. Management believes these lawsuit are meritless and intends to vigorously defend against them.

While it is not possible to predict the outcome of these ma�ers with certainty, based on our current knowledge we believe that the final outcome of these pending ma�ers will not have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of opera�ons or financial condi�on.

Notwithstanding, there is always the risk that a proceeding, claim or inves�ga�on will have a material impact on our business, results of opera�ons or financial condi�on. Regardless of the
final outcome, li�ga�on can have an adverse impact on us due to defense and se�lement costs, diversion of management resources, harm to our reputa�on and brand, and other factors.
For addi�onal informa�on about the legal proceedings we may be subject to and risks to our business rela�ng to li�ga�on, see Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and specifically, the sec�ons
�tled “We are, and may in the future become, subject to patent, trademark and/or other intellectual property infringement claims, which may be �me-consuming, cause us to incur
significant liability, and increase our costs of doing business.” and “We are, and may in the future be, subject to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of our business. If the outcomes of
these proceedings are adverse to us, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.” See also Note 12
“Commitments and Con�ngencies” to our consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Ma�ers and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securi�es

Market Informa�on

Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “Rivian” or the “Company”), Class A common stock has been traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the
symbol “RIVN” since November 10, 2021. Prior to that date, there was no public trading market for our Class A common stock.

Our Class B common stock is not listed or traded on any stock exchange.

Holders

As of March 14, 2022, there were approximately 284 shareholders of record of our Class A common stock and one shareholder of record of our Class B common stock. The number of
beneficial owners is substan�ally greater than the number of shareholders of record because a large por�on of our Class A common stock is held in “street name” by brokers, banks, and
other financial ins�tu�ons.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any, for the opera�on and expansion of our
business and do not an�cipate declaring or paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. Our opera�ons are generally conducted through our subsidiaries, and accordingly, our ability to
pay dividends to our stockholders will be dependent on the earnings and distribu�ons of funds from these subsidiaries. Covenants in the senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility
(“ABL Facility”) and the indenture governing the senior secured floa�ng rate notes due October 2026 (“2026 Notes”) are material restric�ons on the ability of certain of our subsidiaries to
pay dividends to us, and we may enter into credit agreements or other borrowing arrangements in the future that restrict our ability to declare or pay cash dividends or make distribu�ons in
the future. Any future determina�on related to our dividend policy will be made at the discre�on of our board of directors a�er considering our financial condi�on, results of opera�ons,
capital requirements, contractual requirements, business prospects and other factors the board of directors deems relevant, and subject to the restric�ons contained in any future financing
instruments and applicable law.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securi�es

The following sets forth informa�on regarding all unregistered securi�es sold by us during the year ended December 31, 2021 that were not previously disclosed in a Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q or Current Report on Form 8-K.

Preferred Stock

In January 2021, we issued and sold to investors in a private placement an aggregate of 71,913,170 shares of Series F preferred stock at a purchase price of $36.85 per share, for aggregate
considera�on of approximately $2.7 billion. Upon the closing of our ini�al public offering (“IPO”), all outstanding shares of con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock converted
into an aggregate 575,864,510 shares of Class A common stock.

Common Stock

• In January 2021, we issued and sold to a member of our board of directors and an investor in private placements an aggregate of 80,572 shares of common stock at a purchase
price of $21.72 per share, for aggregate considera�on of approximately $2 million.

• In April and May 2021, we issued and sold to members of our board of directors in private placements an aggregate of 65,232 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $30.66
per share, for aggregate considera�on of approximately $2 million.
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• In August 2021, we issued and sold to a member of our board of directors in a private placement an aggregate of 7,791 shares of common stock at a purchase price of $32.09 per
share, for aggregate considera�on of approximately $0.3 million.

Conver�ble Notes

In July 2021, we issued conver�ble promissory notes to investors for an aggregate principal amount of $2.5 billion. In November 2021, the conver�ble promissory notes converted into
37,707,390 shares of Class A common stock at a conversion price equal to $66.30 per share.

Plan-Related Issuances

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we granted to our employees, officers, directors, consultants and other service providers op�ons to purchase an aggregate of 29 million shares of
common stock at the weighted average exercise price of $22.06 per share and restricted stock units represen�ng an aggregate of 26 million shares of common stock, under the 2015 Long-
Term Incen�ve Plan (“2015 Stock Plan”) prior to the IPO and under the 2021 Incen�ve Award Plan (“2021 Stock Plan”) a�er the IPO.

The issuances of the above securi�es prior to the IPO were deemed to be exempt from registra�on under the Securi�es Act in reliance upon Sec�on 4(a)(2) of the Securi�es Act or
Regula�on D promulgated thereunder, or Rule 701 promulgated under Sec�on 3(b) of the Securi�es Act as transac�ons by an issuer not involving any public offering or pursuant to benefit
plans and contracts rela�ng to compensa�on as provided under Rule 701. Individuals who purchased securi�es as described above represented their inten�on to acquire the securi�es for
investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connec�on with any distribu�on thereof, and appropriate legends were affixed to the share cer�ficates issued in such transac�ons.

None of the foregoing transac�ons involved any underwriters, underwri�ng discounts or commissions or any public offering.

Use of Proceeds

On November 15, 2021, we completed our IPO. The net proceeds to us from the IPO were $13.5 billion, a�er deduc�ng the underwri�ng discount and commissions of approximately
$185 million. All shares sold were registered pursuant to a registra�on statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-259992), as amended (the “Registra�on Statement”), which was declared
effec�ve by the Securi�es and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on November 9, 2021.

The net proceeds from our IPO have been invested in investment grade instruments. There has been no material change in the use of proceeds from our IPO as described in our final
prospectus, as filed with the SEC in connec�on with our IPO.

Stock Performance Graph

The following stock performance graph shall not be deemed solici�ng material or to be filed with the SEC for purposes of Sec�on 18 of the Exchange Act, nor shall such informa�on be
incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Exchange Act or the Securi�es Act.
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The graph below compares the cumula�ve weekly stockholder return on our Class A common stock with the cumula�ve weekly total return on the Nasdaq Composite Index and the Nasdaq
OMX Global Automobile, none of which pay dividends. It assumes an ini�al investment of $100 at the market close on November 10, 2021, which is the first day our Class A common stock
began trading.

The following table summarizes stock performance graph data points in dollars.

Base Period Weeks Ending
11/10/21 11/12/21 11/19/21 11/26/21 12/03/21 12/10/21 12/17/21 12/24/21 12/31/21

Rivian $ 100 $ 129 $ 128 $ 111 $ 104 $ 114 $ 97 $ 96 $ 103 
NASDAQ Composite $ 100 $ 102 $ 103 $ 99 $ 97 $ 100 $ 97 $ 100 $ 100 
NASDAQ OMX Global
Automobile $ 100 $ 101 $ 102 $ 98 $ 96 $ 96 $ 94 $ 95 $ 94 

Item 6. [ Reserved ]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condi�on and Results of Opera�ons

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condi�on and results of opera�ons should be read together with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”). This discussion contains forward-looking statements based upon current expecta�ons that involve risks and uncertain�es. Our
actual results may differ materially from those an�cipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including those set forth under Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” or
in other parts of this Form 10-K. Our historical results are not necessarily indica�ve of the results that may be expected for any period in the future.

Overview

Rivian exists to create products and services that help our planet transi�on to carbon neutral energy and transporta�on. Rivian designs, develops, and manufactures category-defining EVs
and accessories and sells them directly to customers in the consumer and commercial markets. Rivian complements its vehicles with a full suite of proprietary, value-added services that
address the en�re lifecycle of the vehicle and deepen its customer rela�onships.

In the consumer market, we launched the R1 pla�orm with our first genera�on of consumer vehicles: the R1T, a two-row, five-passenger pickup truck, and the R1S, a three-row, seven-
passenger SUV. We made our first deliveries of the R1T and R1S in September and December 2021, respec�vely. As of December 31, 2021, we produced 1,009 and delivered 917 R1Ts, and
produced and delivered two R1Ss. As of March 8, 2022, we had approximately 83,000 R1 preorders in the United States of America (“United States") and Canada from customers who each
paid a cancellable and fully refundable deposit of $1,000.

In the commercial market, we launched the RCV pla�orm. Our first vehicle on this pla�orm is our EDV, designed and engineered by Rivian in collabora�on with Amazon, our first commercial
customer. Amazon has placed an ini�al order of 100,000 EDVs, subject to modifica�on as described under Part III, Item 13. "Certain Rela�onships and Related Transac�ons, and Director
Independence" in this Form 10-K.

Ini�al Public Offering

In November 2021, we completed our underwri�en IPO of 175,950,000 shares of Class A common stock at a public offering price of $78.00 per share, which included the exercise in full by
the underwriters of their op�on to purchase from us an addi�onal 22,950,000 shares of Class A common stock. The net proceeds to us from the IPO were $13.5 billion.

Factors Affec�ng Our Performance

The growth and future success of our business depends on many factors. While these factors present significant opportuni�es for our business, they also pose risks and challenges, including
those discussed below and in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors,” that we must successfully address to achieve growth, improve our results of opera�ons, and generate profits.

• Ability to Develop and Launch New Offerings. Based on current preorders, our ini�al launch products - the R1T, R1S, and EDV - appear to resonate with customers and, we believe,
have established the Rivian brand in the most a�rac�ve consumer and commercial vehicle market segments. However, our ability to grow revenue and expand margins will also
depend on our ability to develop and launch new vehicle pla�orms and programs. Our future financial performance will also depend on our ability to offer services that deliver an
intui�ve, seamless, and compelling customer experience.

• Ability to A�ract New Customers. Our growth will depend in large part on our ability to a�ract new consumer and commercial customers. We have invested heavily in developing
our ecosystem and plan to con�nue to do so. We are in the very early stages of growth in our exis�ng markets, and we expect to substan�ally raise brand awareness by connec�ng
directly with our community through engaging content, rich digital experiences, and immersive events. We an�cipate that these ac�vi�es will lead to addi�onal preorders and
deliveries, and, as a result, increase our base of Rivian customers. An inability to a�ract new customers would substan�ally impact our ability to grow revenue or improve our
financial results.

• Ability to Scale our Ecosystem and Brand Experience. Our go-to-market strategy requires us to scale our ecosystem quickly and effec�vely, including our technology pla�orm and
product development and opera�onal infrastructure, to deliver a seamless customer experience. Our future success will also depend on our ability to further develop and
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leverage our proprietary technology pla�orm. Our ability to enhance our product design, engineering, and manufacturing capabili�es and expand our delivery and service
opera�ons, Rivian Adventure Network (“RAN”), charging network, and customer service will be cri�cal for suppor�ng growth. We believe our long-term ability to achieve our
financial targets will depend on our ability to cost effec�vely scale these elements, while also delivering a unified customer and brand experience consistent with our adventurous
brand commitment.

• Ability to Convert our Customers to Subscribers of our Services. Services are a key part of our growth strategy, driven by ini�al a�ach rate, member reten�on, and the subsequent
adop�on of future service offerings. We intend to offer a variety of services, including financing and insurance, vehicle maintenance and repair, membership, so�ware, charging
solu�ons, and FleetOS solu�ons that we believe will grow our revenue outside of vehicle sales. As we increase our base of Rivian customers and expand our services por�olio, we
expect our customers to expand their usage of our service offerings over the full lifecycle of their vehicle ownership. We believe the services por�on of our business will have the
benefit of crea�ng a higher-margin, recurring revenue stream for each vehicle, therefore improving our margin profile. Our ability to grow revenue and our long-term financial
performance will depend in part on our ability to drive adop�on of these offerings.

• Ability to Invest in our Produc�on and Capabili�es. We believe that customer acquisi�on and reten�on is con�ngent on our ability to produce innova�ve offerings, including
vehicles that deliver the broadest combina�on of performance, u�lity, and capability, as well as services that enhance the ownership journey through new features, func�ons, and
a best-in-class customer experience. To this end, we intend to con�nue to make investments to drive growth as we scale vehicle produc�on and deliveries, expand our offerings,
and strengthen our core capabili�es. As we invest in our business for long-term growth, leading to increases in opera�ng expenses as well as capital expenditures, we expect to
experience addi�onal losses, which could delay our ability to achieve profitability and posi�ve opera�ng cash flow. Furthermore, we an�cipate that these future investments will
require significant external debt and/or equity financing.

• Ability to Develop and Manage a Resilient Supply Chain. Our ability to manufacture vehicles and develop future solu�ons is dependent on the con�nued supply of input materials,
including metals, ba�ery cells, and semiconductors. Any inability or unwillingness of our suppliers to deliver necessary product components, including semiconductors, at �ming,
prices, quality, and volumes that are acceptable to us could have a material impact on our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.
Fluctua�ons in the cost of materials, supply interrup�ons, or material shortages could materially impact our business. We have experienced and may con�nue to experience cost
fluctua�ons or disrup�ons in supply of input materials that could impact our financial performance. For example, the recent global semiconductor supply shortage is having wide-
ranging effects across the automo�ve industry, and has impacted our opera�ons and financial performance, along with those of many automo�ve suppliers and manufacturers that
incorporate semiconductors into their products. In addi�on, there have been very sizable increases in recent months in the cost of key metals, including lithium, nickel, aluminum,
and cobalt with vola�lity in pricing expected to persist for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, during the year ended December 31, 2021, we experienced increased logis�cs cost
due to expedited freight associated with supply chain challenges. Given the current supply chain environment, we believe our produc�on ramp and rate in our Normal Factory will
be limited by the supply chain in the near-future. We con�nue to work diligently and collabora�vely with suppliers to iden�fy and head off problems or constraints as quickly as
possible.

• Ability to Grow in New Geographies. We plan to invest in interna�onal opera�ons and grow our business outside of our exis�ng opera�ons in the United States, Canada, the
United Kingdom (“U.K.”), and the European Union (“EU”). We believe we are well-posi�oned for interna�onal expansion in light of a healthy global demand for EVs and for the
vehicle segments in which we currently, and expect to, operate. Other factors that we believe will aid our successful interna�onal growth include: the highly flexible, modular
nature of our pla�orms, which we an�cipate will provide us the ability to introduce new vehicle programs and configura�ons; our digital-first approach, which we an�cipate will
allow us to expand quickly and without a significant physical retail footprint; and our product development exper�se, which we an�cipate will enable us to offer significant
customiza�on for diverse interna�onal markets and demographics.

Our interna�onal expansion has significant associated investment requirements, such as capital spending related to infrastructure, including addi�onal manufacturing capacity,
delivery, and service opera�ons, charging networks, and personnel. Interna�onal expansion is also subject to a variety of risks, including local compe��on, mul�lingual

61



RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

customer support and servicing, delivery logis�cs, and compliance with foreign laws and regula�ons related to vehicle sales, data privacy, financing, taxes, labor and employment,
and foreign exchange.

• Ability to Maintain Our Culture, A�ract and Retain Talent, and Scale Our Team. We believe our culture has been a key contributor to our success to date and our mission
promotes a sense of greater purpose and fulfillment in our employees. We have invested in building a strong culture and believe it is one of our most important and sustainable
sources of compe��ve advantage. Any failure to preserve our culture could nega�vely affect our ability to retain and recruit personnel, which is cri�cal to our growth, and to
effec�vely pursue our objec�ves. If we are unable to retain or hire key personnel, our business and compe��ve posi�on may be harmed resul�ng in an adverse impact to our
business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

• Seasonality. Historically, the automo�ve industry has experienced higher revenue in the spring and summer months. Addi�onally, we expect volumes of commercial vehicle sales to
be less in the winter months, as customers shi� their focus to making last mile deliveries during holidays, rather than incorpora�ng more vehicles into their fleet. We do not expect
such seasonality in demand to significantly impact our opera�ons in the near-term as we scale our business due to our backlog of preorders; however, we may experience seasonal
varia�ons in our business in the long-term.

• Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Beginning in 2020, public health and governmental authori�es have taken extraordinary steps to contain and combat the outbreak and spread
of COVID-19, including associated variants, throughout the world. Consistent with these ac�ons, in combina�on with recommenda�ons by public health officials, since late March
2020 a significant percentage of Rivian personnel have been working remotely; however, in recent months a number of employees have been able to work on-site at our facili�es,
including our Normal Factory, subject to opera�ng restric�ons intended to protect public health and the health and safety of our employees.

Addi�onally, COVID-19, including associated variants, as well as the more recent conflict in the Ukraine have caused disrup�ons to and delays in our opera�ons, including shortages
and delays in the supply of certain parts, as well as higher prices for certain parts, including semiconductors, materials, and equipment necessary to produce our vehicles. In
response, we have adapted various internal designs and processes to remedy or mi�gate impacts of such disrup�ons and delays on our produc�on �meline, which has resulted in
higher costs.

The full extent of the future impact from the pandemic on our opera�onal and financial performance is currently uncertain and will depend on future developments outside of our
control, including the dura�on, extent and intensity of the pandemic, the effec�veness and availability of vaccines and boosters, and ac�ons taken by public health organiza�ons
and governmental authori�es. We will con�nue to monitor these condi�ons and remain flexible, evolving our business and processes as appropriate.

• Infla�on. The United States economy has experienced various disrup�ons, including supply chain shortages which have contributed to increased infla�on. The cost of input
materials (e.g., sheet metal), components (e.g., semiconductors), and systems (e.g., seats) required to produce our vehicles has risen considerably. We expect higher than recent
years’ levels of infla�on to persist for the foreseeable future. If we are unable to fully offset higher costs through price increases or other measures, especially in the near-term as
we con�nue to work through the backlog of preorders, we could experience an adverse impact to our business, prospects, financial condi�on, results of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Components of Opera�ng Results

We expect to incur significant opera�ng costs and expenses that will impact our future profitability, including research and development (“R&D”) expenses as we develop and introduce new
vehicles and services and improve our exis�ng vehicles and services, capital expenditures in the expansion of our manufacturing footprint and opera�ons, addi�onal opera�ng costs and
expenses for produc�on ramp-up, raw material procurement costs, general and administra�ve expenses as we scale our opera�ons, and selling and distribu�on expenses as we market our
vehicles and services. In addi�on, we may incur significant costs in connec�on with our services once we deliver our vehicles, including servicing and warranty costs. Our ability to become
profitable in the future will depend on our ability not only to successfully market and sell our vehicles and services at prices we establish, but also to appropriately control costs and realize
economies of scale.
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Revenues and Cost of revenues

We are a development stage company and have only recently started to generate notable revenues. Vehicle produc�on and deliveries began in September 2021. As we expand produc�on
and commercializa�on of vehicles, we expect the majority of our revenue will be ini�ally derived from sales of consumer and commercial vehicles, accessories, and regulatory credits. We
expect the majority of our costs of revenues will ini�ally be driven by labor, overhead, logis�cs, and direct material expenses related to the produc�on of consumer and commercial vehicles
and accessories, as well as costs incurred in excess of the net realizable value (“NRV”) of certain inventory. Addi�onally, we started recognizing recurring non-cash stock compensa�on
charges in the quarter ended December 31, 2021 in connec�on with the performance-based ves�ng condi�on of RSUs and stock op�ons being met upon the IPO.

Opera�ng expenses

Research and development

Our R&D cost consists primarily of expenses incurred for the development of our vehicles and related technologies. These expenses include:

• personnel expenses for teams in engineering and research;

• prototyping expenses;

• consul�ng and contractor expenses;

• amor�zed equipment expenses; and

• alloca�on of indirect expenses.

Addi�onally, we started recognizing recurring non-cash stock compensa�on charges in the quarter ended December 31, 2021 in connec�on with the performance-based ves�ng condi�on of
RSUs and stock op�ons being met upon the IPO. We expense R&D costs as incurred. We expect our R&D expenses to increase in the foreseeable future as we con�nue to develop vehicle
pla�orms, next genera�on EVs and components, and other technologies.

Selling, general, and administra�ve

Selling, general, and administra�ve (“SG&A”) expenses consist primarily of personnel costs for employees in our sales, service, facili�es, corporate, execu�ve, finance, and other
administra�ve func�ons, as well as outside professional services, including legal, accoun�ng, and audit services. Personnel costs consist of salaries and wages, benefits, and employment
taxes. Addi�onally, we started recognizing recurring non-cash stock compensa�on charges in the quarter ended December 31, 2021 in connec�on with the performance-based ves�ng
condi�on of RSUs and stock op�ons being met upon the IPO. SG&A expenses also include allocated facili�es expenses such as rent and deprecia�on, and other general corporate expenses
such as travel and recrui�ng expenses.

We expect our SG&A expenses to increase for the foreseeable future as we con�nue to scale as a company, build out our service and sales opera�ons, and produce our planned future
vehicle pla�orms and programs. We also expect to incur addi�onal expenses as a result of opera�ng as a public company, including expenses related to compliance with rules and
regula�ons of the SEC and of applicable na�onal securi�es exchanges, as well as legal, audit, investor rela�ons, insurance, and other administra�ve and professional services expenses.

Other expenses

Other expenses consist of charitable contribu�ons to Forever by Rivian.
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Other (expense) income, net

Other (expense) income, net consists primarily of non-opera�ng expenses and income such as interest expense, amor�za�on of debt discounts and issuance costs, and other gains or losses
associated with our debt financing arrangements, as well as interest income earned on investments.

Provision for income taxes

Our provision for income taxes consists primarily of income taxes related to foreign jurisdic�ons in which we do business. We maintain a full valua�on allowance on our United States federal
and state deferred tax assets as we have concluded that it is more likely than not that the deferred assets will not be u�lized.

Results of Opera�ons

The following tables set forth our consolidated results of opera�ons for the periods presented (in millions). The year-to-year comparisons of our historical results are not necessarily
indica�ve of the results that may be expected in the future.

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Revenues $ — $ — $ 55 
Cost of revenues — — 520 
Gross profit — — (465)
Opera�ng expenses

Research and development $ 301 $ 766 $ 1,850 
Selling, general, and administra�ve 108 255 1,242 
Other expenses — — 663 

Total opera�ng expenses 409 1,021 3,755 
Loss from opera�ons (409) (1,021) (4,220)

Interest income 18 10 3 
Interest expense (34) (8) (29)
Loss on conver�ble notes, net — — (441)
Other (expense) income, net (1) 1 (1)

Loss before income taxes (426) (1,018) (4,688)
Provision for income taxes — — — 

Net loss $ (426) $ (1,018) $ (4,688)

Comparison of the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021

Revenues
Years ended December 31, 2019 vs 2020 Change 2020 vs 2021 Change

(in millions) 2019 2020 2021 $ % $ %
Revenues $ — $ — $ 55 $ — nm $ 55 nm

*nm-not meaningful

Revenues increased by approximately $55 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. This increase was achieved primarily through our
first customer deliveries of 917 R1Ts.
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Cost of revenues and Gross profit

Years ended December 31, 2019 vs 2020 Change 2020 vs 2021 Change
(in millions) 2019 2020 2021 $ % $ %
Cost of revenues $ — $ — $ 520 $ — nm $ 520 nm
Gross profit $ — $ — $ (465) $ — nm $ (465) nm

*nm-not meaningful

Cost of revenues increased by $520 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, as a result of the manufacture and sale of our first
produc�on vehicles.

Nega�ve gross profit increased by $465 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. As we produce vehicles at low volumes on
produc�on lines designed for higher volume, we have and will con�nue to experience nega�ve gross profit related to significant labor and overhead costs. The pressure on gross profit from
limited volumes will con�nue in the near term, but we expect it will improve on a per-vehicle basis as produc�on volumes ramp up faster than future labor and overhead cost increases.
Addi�onally, we recorded a lower of cost or net realizable value (“LCNRV”) adjustment of $95 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 to write-down the value of certain inventory to
the amount we an�cipate receiving upon vehicle sale (a�er considering future costs necessary to ready the inventory for sale). We expect LCNRV charges to nega�vely impact upcoming
periods in the near term. We also experienced increased logis�cs costs due to expedited freight associated with supply chain challenges, which we expect to con�nue in the near future.

Research and development
Years ended December 31, 2019 vs 2020 Change 2020 vs 2021 Change

(in millions) 2019 2020 2021 $ % $ %
Research and development $ 301 $ 766 $ 1,850 $ 465 154 % $ 1,084 142 %

2020 compared to 2019

R&D expenses increased by $465 million, or 154%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. This increase was primarily due to a $212
million increase in engineering, design, and development costs and a $182 million increase in payroll and subcontrac�ng expenses.

The primary drivers for these higher expenses were our increased efforts related to our R1 and EDV programs and other advanced product development ac�vi�es. During this period, we
started our pre-produc�on vehicle builds, which required significant investment to manufacture and test vehicles, and had higher personnel costs to support these ac�vi�es.
2021 compared to 2020

R&D expenses increased by $1,084 million, or 142%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily due to a $344
million increase in the cost of prototype materials and supplier R&D, a $293 million increase in payroll and related expenses, and $277 million of stock-based compensa�on expense.

The primary drivers for these higher expenses were our increased efforts related to our R1 and EDV programs, important investments related to other advanced product development
ac�vi�es, and higher headcount and personnel costs. We plan to con�nue to invest in future vehicle pla�orms and ver�cal integra�on, as well as current technologies, including in-vehicle
and Rivian Cloud.
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Selling, general, and administra�ve

Years ended December 31, 2019 vs 2020 Change 2020 vs 2021 Change
(in millions) 2019 2020 2021 $ % $ %

Selling, general, and administra�ve $ 108 $ 255 $ 1,242 $ 147 136 % $ 987 387 %

2020 compared to 2019

SG&A expenses increased by $147 million, or 136%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. This increase was primarily due to an $89
million increase in payroll and related expenses and a $25 million increase in facili�es and other occupancy costs, driven by higher headcount and office loca�on expansions.

2021 compared to 2020

SG&A expenses increased by $987 million, or 387%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily due to a $258
million increase in payroll and related expenses, $277 million of stock-based compensa�on expense (which was not recognized in prior periods, given our IPO occurred during the year
ended December 31, 2021), a $103 million increase in facili�es and other occupancy costs, a $66 million increase in subcontractor and other professional fees, and an increase in other
miscellaneous opera�ng expenses, including fees for contract cancella�ons, certain logis�cs costs, promo�onal costs, expenses for informa�on technology, and travel, meal, and
entertainment costs.

The primary drivers for these higher expenses were our efforts to further scale our sales and service opera�ons, office loca�ons, customer-facing facili�es, and other corporate func�ons to
support our future business growth, including higher headcount and increased personnel costs. We also plan to make corresponding investments in our facili�es, service network,
commercial opera�ons, and technology for our future opera�ons.

Other expenses

Years ended December 31, 2019 vs 2020 Change 2020 vs 2021 Change
(in millions) 2019 2020 2021 $ % $ %

Other expenses $ — $ — $ 663 $ — nm $ 663 nm

*nm-not meaningful

2021 compared to 2020

Other expenses increased by $663 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, as a result of the Company’s dona�on of approximately
8 million shares of Class A common stock and $20 million in cash to Forever by Rivian, Inc., a 501(c)(4) social welfare organiza�on (“Forever by Rivian”). With this sizable ini�al funding, we
have no short-term plans to provide addi�onal direct funding to Forever by Rivian in the future.

Other (expense) income, net

Years ended December 31, 2019 vs 2020 Change 2020 vs 2021 Change
(in millions) 2019 2020 2021 $ % $ %
Interest income $ 18 $ 10 $ 3 $ (8) (44)% $ (7) (70)%
Interest expense $ (34) $ (8) $ (29) $ (26) (76)% $ 21 263 %
Loss on conver�ble notes, net $ — $ — $ (441) $ — nm $ 441 nm
Other (expense) income, net $ (1) $ 1 $ (1) $ 2 nm $ (2) nm

*nm-not meaningful
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2020 compared to 2019

Interest income decreased by $8 million, or 44%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. This decrease was primarily due to lower market
rates, par�ally offset by a higher average balance of cash and cash equivalents.

Interest expense decreased by $26 million, or 76%, for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. This decrease was primarily due to the
amor�za�on of debt discount upon the conversion of conver�ble debt during 2019, as well as lower market interest rates in 2020 associated with the Term Facility (as defined in Note 6
“Debt” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K).

2021 compared to 2020

Interest income decreased by $7 million, or 70%, for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. This decrease was primarily due to lower market
rates, par�ally offset by a higher average balance of cash and cash equivalents.

Interest expense increased by $21 million, or 263% for the year ended December 31, 2021, compared to year ended December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily due to higher average
debt balances and interest rates with the issuance of the 2026 Notes. See Note 6 “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K for more informa�on
on the 2026 Notes. We expect interest expense to increase in the near term, according to changes in the interest rate environment.

Loss on conver�ble notes, net for the year ended December 31, 2021 resulted from the conversion of the 2021 Conver�ble Notes. See Note 6 “Debt” to our consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K for more informa�on on the 2021 Conver�ble Notes.

Provision for income taxes

As of December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, the majority of our deferred tax assets were comprised of net opera�ng losses generated primarily in the United States and tax credit
carryforwards, and for all periods, these assets were fully offset by a valua�on allowance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our opera�ons have been financed primarily through net proceeds from the sale of securi�es, including in our IPO, and from borrowings. As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, we had cash
and cash equivalents of $3 billion and $18 billion, respec�vely, and availability under the ABL Facility was $306 million at December 31, 2021.

In January 2021, we issued 71,913,170 shares of Series F con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock to a group of investors at a price of $36.85 per share for total gross proceeds
of $2.7 billion. Upon the closing of our IPO, all outstanding shares of con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock converted into an aggregate 575,864,510 shares of Class A
common stock.

In February 2021, we paid all outstanding amounts under the variable rate Term Facility Agreement (“Term Facility”).

In May 2021,we entered into the ABL Facility, which will mature on May 20, 2025. As of December 31, 2021, we had $306 million of unused commi�ed amounts under the ABL Facility. The
ABL Facility contains certain affirma�ve and nega�ve covenants and condi�ons to borrowing or taking other ac�ons that restrict certain of our subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things,
incur debt, grant liens, make investments, enter into certain transac�ons with affiliates, pay dividends, and prepay junior or unsecured indebtedness, subject to certain excep�ons. As of
December 31, 2021, we were in compliance with the covenants and condi�ons of the ABL Facility. See Note 6 “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this
Form 10-K for more informa�on regarding the ABL Facility.

In July 2021, we issued the unsecured senior conver�ble promissory notes due July 2026 (“2021 Conver�ble Notes”) at $2.5 billion aggregate principal amount. The 2021 Conver�ble Notes
would have matured on July 23, 2026 and accrued interest quarterly at a rate of (i) zero percent (0%) from the date of issuance to, and including, June 30, 2022 and (ii) five percent (5%)

67



RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

a�er June 30, 2022. Upon the closing of our IPO, the 2021 Conver�ble Notes automa�cally converted into shares of our Class A common stock at a conversion price equal to $66.30 per
share.

In October 2021,we issued $1.25 billion aggregate principal amount of 2026 Notes. The 2026 Notes have a maturity of five years from the date of their original issuance. The 2026 Notes
require certain of our subsidiaries to comply with a number of customary covenants (including restric�ons on incurrence of indebtedness, liens, the making of restricted payments, and
disposi�ons), in each case substan�ally similar to the corresponding covenants under the ABL Facility as described above. In addi�on, the 2026 Notes contain a minimum liquidity covenant
(but no other financial covenants) requiring us to maintain no less than $1.0 billion of liquidity, which will fall away upon mee�ng a fixed charge coverage ra�o of greater than 1.0 for two
consecu�ve quarters. See Note 6 “Debt” to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K for more informa�on regarding the 2026 Notes.

In November 2021, we completed our underwri�en IPO of 175,950,000 shares of Class A common stock at a public offering price of $78.00 per share, which included the exercise in full by
the underwriters of their op�on to purchase from us an addi�onal 22,950,000 shares of Class A common stock. The net proceeds to us from the IPO were $13.5 billion.

We have generated significant losses from opera�ons, as reflected in our accumulated deficit of $1.7 billion and $6.4 billion as of December 31, 2020 and 2021, respec�vely. Addi�onally, we
have generated significant nega�ve cash flows from opera�ons and inves�ng ac�vi�es as we con�nue to support the growth of our business. We an�cipate con�nuing to make significant
investments in capital over the next several years to focus on ramping up produc�on as we strategically expand infrastructure, including addi�onal manufacturing capacity at the Normal
Factory and ini�a�ng work on our second domes�c manufacturing facility in Georgia. We also an�cipate con�nuing to make significant investments in future growth objec�ves, including
vehicle and other technology and so�ware, tooling for current vehicle pla�orms, future vehicle manufacturing lines, ba�ery technology and supply, our service network, charging
infrastructure, and digital offerings.

As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, our non-cancellable commitments as disclosed in Note 5 "Leases", Note 6 “Debt”, and Note 12 "Commitments and Con�ngencies" to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K, do not include any commitments related to these ongoing investments as we do not have any related material commitments that
we cannot cancel without a significant penalty. In addi�on to our capital expenditures, we expect our opera�ng expenses to increase as we ramp vehicle produc�on and con�nue to invest in
R&D ac�vi�es and roll out our commercial infrastructure in support of our growing customer base.

We believe our exis�ng balance of cash and cash equivalents, including the net proceeds from our IPO and in addi�on to amounts available for borrowing under the ABL Facility, will be
sufficient to meet our opera�ng expenses, working capital, and capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months.

Our future opera�ng losses and capital requirements may vary materially from those currently planned and will depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the �ming
and extent of spending on R&D efforts and other growth ini�a�ves, the expansion of manufacturing ac�vi�es, the �ming of new products and services, market acceptance of our offerings,
and overall economic condi�ons. Furthermore, we an�cipate that future investments will require significant debt and/or equity financing. The sale of addi�onal equity would result in
dilu�on to our stockholders. The incurrence of addi�onal debt would result in debt service obliga�ons, and the instruments governing such debt could provide for opera�onal and financial
covenants that restrict our opera�ons. There can be no assurances that we will be able to raise addi�onal capital on favorable terms or at all. The inability to raise capital would adversely
affect our ability to achieve our business objec�ves.

Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,
(in millions) 2019 2020 2021
Net cash used in opera�ng ac�vi�es (353) (848) (2,622)
Net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es (199) (914) (1,794)
Net cash provided by financing ac�vi�es 2,811 2,500 19,828 
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Opera�ng Ac�vi�es
Net cash used in opera�ng ac�vi�es increased by $0.5 billion during the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019. This increase was primarily driven
by higher cash outlays to support overall growth of the business, especially in R&D related to the progress of our vehicle programs (such as prototype expenses) and various SG&A ac�vi�es
related to scaling our opera�ons (such as payroll).

Net cash used in opera�ng ac�vi�es increased by $1.8 billion during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. This increase was primarily driven
by higher cash outlays to support overall growth of the business, especially in R&D related to the progress of our vehicle programs (such as prototype expenses), various SG&A ac�vi�es
related to scaling our corporate and commercial opera�ons (such as payroll), and the manufacturing and sale of our first products from our Normal Factory. The overall growth of the
business also resulted in increases in net opera�ng assets (especially inventory for the start of produc�on) and offse�ng increases in opera�ng liabili�es (including payables and accrued
expenses).

Inves�ng Ac�vi�es

Net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es increased by $0.7 billion during the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily driven by increased
capital expenditures related to the build-out of our Normal Factory.

Net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es increased by $0.9 billion during the year ended December 31, 2021 compared to the year ended December 31, 2020, primarily driven by the build-out of
our Normal Factory, and to a lesser extent by investments in corporate workplaces, lab facili�es, service opera�ons, and experience spaces.

Financing Ac�vi�es

Net cash provided by financing ac�vi�es during the year ended December 31, 2019 of $2.8 billion was primarily driven by proceeds from the issuance of shares of Series A, B, C and D
con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock.

Net cash provided by financing ac�vi�es during the year ended December 31, 2020 of $2.5 billion was primarily driven by proceeds from the issuance of shares of Series E con�ngently
redeemable conver�ble preferred stock.

Net cash provided by financing ac�vi�es during the year ended December 31, 2021 of $19.8 billion was primarily driven by $13.5 billion in net proceeds from our IPO, $2.7 billion in
proceeds from the issuance of shares of Series F con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock, $2.5 billion in proceeds from the issuance of the 2021 Conver�ble Notes, and $1.2
billion in net proceeds from the issuance of the 2026 Notes.

Cri�cal Accoun�ng Policies and Es�mates

The prepara�on of our financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with generally accepted accoun�ng principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) and the discussion and
analysis of our financial condi�on and opera�ng results require us to make judgments, assump�ons, and es�mates that affect the amounts reported. We base these es�mates on historical
experience and on various other assump�ons we believe are appropriate and reasonable under the circumstances and apply judgement to possible outcomes as the basis for amounts
reported. Because of the inherent uncertain�es involved in making such es�mates, actual results may differ, and such differences may be material.

We consider the following policies and es�mates cri�cal because they are important to the portrayal of our financial condi�on and opera�ng results, and they require us to make judgments
and es�mates about inherently uncertain ma�ers. For further informa�on on all of our significant accoun�ng policies, see Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accoun�ng Policies” to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Inventory Valua�on

We review our inventory to ensure that its carrying value does not exceed its NRV, with NRV based on the es�mated selling price of inventory in the ordinary course of business, less
es�mated costs of comple�on, disposal and transporta�on. When our expecta�ons indicate that the carrying value of inventory may exceed its NRV, we perform an exercise to calculate the
approximate amount by which carrying value is greater than NRV and record addi�onal cost of revenue for the difference.
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Once a write-off occurs, a new, lower cost basis is established. We also regularly monitor inventory quan��es on hand and on order and record write-downs for excess and obsolete
inventories based on our es�mates of the future demand for our products and market and economic condi�ons and for damaged or otherwise impaired goods.

Should our es�mates used in these calcula�ons change in the future, such as es�mated selling prices or produc�on costs, addi�onal write-downs may occur. A hypothe�cal 10% change in
es�mated selling prices or produc�on costs would have resulted in approximately a $20 million change in the inventory write-down for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Stock-Based Compensa�on

We measure our stock-based awards at their grant date at the fair value of the award and expense that value over the ves�ng period, net of actual forfeitures, when we consider any
performance targets probable of being achieved. Generally, the Company’s outstanding stock-based awards vest in quarterly or annual installments based on a requisite service period of
one to four years of con�nuous service and may contain performance or market condi�ons related to produc�on, stock price, and other targets. We have two types of stock-based awards
granted and outstanding under the 2015 Stock Plan and 2021 Stock Plan: stock op�ons and restricted stock units (“RSUs”).

We calculate the fair value of most stock op�ons using a Black-Scholes op�on pricing model. The Black-Scholes op�on pricing model requires certain subjec�ve inputs and assump�ons,
including the expected stock price vola�lity, term of the award, risk-free interest rates, and dividend yield of our Class A common stock. Expected vola�lity is based on historical vola�lity
rates of peer companies. The dividend yield is es�mated based on the rate at which the Company expects to provide dividends. The risk-free rate is based on the United States Treasury yield
curve for zero-coupon Treasury notes with maturi�es approxima�ng the respec�ve expected term of the stock op�on. The expected term represents the average �me the Company’s stock
op�ons are expected to be outstanding and requires us to develop an expecta�on of when the award will vest.

Addi�onally, we have granted stock op�on awards with service-based ves�ng condi�ons and market-based condi�ons that are incorporated into the es�ma�on of the grant-date fair value
of the awards. We determined the fair value of these awards by u�lizing a Monte Carlo simula�on model that incorporates the possibility that the market-based condi�ons may not be
sa�sfied. The Monte Carlo simula�on also requires certain subjec�ve inputs and assump�ons, including expected stock price vola�lity, term, and risk-free interest rates, which are es�mated
as described above, except for the expected term. We es�mate the expected term of the award based on various stock price and exercise scenarios.

The fair value of our common stock is also an input to the es�mated fair value of our stock op�ons and is equivalent to the fair value of our RSUs. Prior to our IPO, the method for es�ma�ng
the fair value of our common stock required complex and subjec�ve judgments regarding our projected financial results. We u�lized an independent appraisal of the fair market value of our
common stock, which relied on a market approach with an adjustment for lack of marketability given that the shares underlying the awards were not publicly traded. The market approach
incorporated a backsolve method to the most recent equity funding round and a probability-weighted expected return method (“PWERM”) that es�mated equity value in an IPO scenario.
We arrived at the es�mated fair value of our common stock by weigh�ng the backsolve and PWERM valua�on methods based on our an�cipated probability of an IPO as of each valua�on
date.

In light of ini�al informa�on received in es�ma�ng our IPO price range, we changed the method for es�ma�ng the fair value of our common stock. From July 20, 2021 to our IPO, the
method used was a straight-line interpola�on from the July 20, 2021 fair value es�mated by the independent appraisal to the midpoint of the ini�al IPO price range.

As we con�nue to use judgment in evalua�ng the assump�ons related to our stock-based compensa�on on a prospec�ve basis, those assump�ons may change. As we con�nue to
accumulate addi�onal data related to our common stock, we may revise our methods for es�ma�ng vola�lity, which could materially impact the valua�on of our stock-based awards and the
stock-based compensa�on expense that we recognize in future periods. A hypothe�cal 10% change in our es�mated stock price, vola�lity, and expected term during the year ended
December 31, 2021 would have resulted in approximately a 16%, 7%, and 4% change, respec�vely, in the weighted-average grant date fair value of stock op�ons valued using the Black-
Scholes op�on pricing model.
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Recent Accoun�ng Pronouncements

See Note 3 "New Accoun�ng Standards" to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K for a descrip�on of recently adopted accoun�ng pronouncements
and recently issued accoun�ng pronouncements not yet adopted.

Emerging Growth Company Status

The Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”) allows emerging growth companies to use the extended transi�on period for complying with new or revised accoun�ng standards.
As a result of our elec�on to use the extended transi�on period, our consolidated financial statements and related notes for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020 included in this
Form 10-K may not be comparable to companies that comply with public company effec�ve dates. We ceased to be an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act, as of
October 8, 2021 due to our issuance, in a three-year period, of more than $1.0 billion in non-conver�ble debt securi�es. As a result, we have not applied the extended transi�on period for
new or revised accoun�ng standards beginning with our consolidated financial statements and related notes for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Item 7A. Quan�ta�ve and Qualita�ve Disclosures about Market Risk

Supply Risk

We are subject to risks related to our dependence on suppliers, the majority of which are single source providers of parts or components for our products. Any inability or unwillingness of
our suppliers to deliver necessary product components, including semiconductors, at �ming, prices, quality, and volumes that are acceptable to us could have a material impact on our
business, growth prospects, and financial and opera�ng results. Fluctua�ons in the cost of materials, supply interrup�ons, or material shortages could materially impact our business.

We have experienced and may con�nue to experience cost fluctua�ons or disrup�ons in supply of input materials that could impact our financial performance. For example, the recent
global semiconductor supply shortage is having wide-ranging effects across the automo�ve industry, and has impacted our opera�ons and financial performance, along with those of many
automo�ve suppliers and manufacturers that incorporate semiconductors into their products. In addi�on, there have been very sizable increases in recent months in the cost of key metals,
including lithium, nickel, aluminum, and cobalt with vola�lity in pricing expected to persist for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, during the year ended December 31, 2021, we
experienced increased logis�cs cost due to expedited freight associated with supply chain challenges. Given the current supply chain environment, we believe our produc�on ramp and rate
in our Normal Factory will be limited by the supply chain in the near-future. We con�nue to work diligently and collabora�vely with suppliers to iden�fy and head off problems or constraints
as quickly as possible.

Infla�on Risk

The United States economy has experienced various disrup�ons, including supply chain shortages which have contributed to increased infla�on. The cost of input materials (e.g., sheet
metal), components (e.g., semiconductors), and systems (e.g., seats) required to produce our vehicles has risen considerably. We expect higher than recent years’ levels of infla�on to persist
for the foreseeable future. If we are unable to fully offset higher costs through price increases or other measures, we could experience an adverse impact to our financial condi�on, results
of opera�ons, and cash flows.

Interest Rate Risk

Our cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securi�es primarily consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments in money market instruments and United States government securi�es.
We do not enter into investments for trading or specula�ve purposes. However, our investments are exposed to market risk due to fluctua�ons in interest rates. This may affect our interest
income and the fair market value of our investments. However, due to the short-term nature of our investment por�olio, we do not believe a hypothe�cal 100 basis point increase or
decrease in interest rates would have a material effect on the fair market value of our por�olio.

We are exposed to interest rate risk on our borrowings that bear interest at floa�ng rates. A rising interest rate environment would increase the amount of interest paid on these
borrowings. A hypothe�cal 100 basis point increase in interest rates on
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our floa�ng rate debt would have increased our interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 by an amount that is not material.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accoun�ng Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Rivian Automo�ve, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the related
consolidated statements of opera�ons, comprehensive loss, changes in con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock and stockholders’ (deficit) equity, and cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes (collec�vely, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial posi�on of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, and the results of its opera�ons and its cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accoun�ng principles.

Change in Accoun�ng Principle

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accoun�ng for leases as of January 1, 2020 due to the adop�on of Accoun�ng
Standards Codifica�on Topic 842, Leases.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based
on our audits. We are a public accoun�ng firm registered with the Public Company Accoun�ng Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to
the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securi�es laws and the applicable rules and regula�ons of the Securi�es and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evalua�ng the accoun�ng principles used and significant es�mates made
by management, as well as evalua�ng the overall presenta�on of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Cri�cal Audit Ma�er

The cri�cal audit ma�er communicated below is a ma�er arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit commi�ee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjec�ve, or complex judgments. The communica�on of a cri�cal audit ma�er does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are
not, by communica�ng the cri�cal audit ma�er below, providing a separate opinion on the cri�cal audit ma�er or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Fair value of common stock

As discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has granted restricted stock units (RSUs). The grant-date fair values of RSUs, as well as the modifica�on-
date fair value of RSUs that were modified and remeasured in June 2021, were es�mated based on the fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant or modifica�on.
Through July 2021, the fair value of the Company’s common stock underlying the RSUs was based on an independent appraisal. The appraisal incorporated weigh�ng of a backsolve
method and a probability-weighted expected return method based on the an�cipated probability of an ini�al public offering (IPO) as of each valua�on date. The Company recorded
stock-based compensa�on expense of $570 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, which included expense associated with the RSUs remeasured in June 2021 and certain
other RSUs granted through July 2021.

We iden�fied the evalua�on of the es�mated fair value of common stock used to remeasure the modified RSUs in June 2021 and measure certain other RSUs granted through July 2021
as a cri�cal audit ma�er. Complex and subjec�ve
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auditor judgment was required to evaluate (1) the selec�on and weigh�ng of valua�on methods used to es�mate the fair value of common stock, and (2) the es�mated equity value in
a poten�al IPO.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this cri�cal audit ma�er. We involved valua�on professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in
evalua�ng the selec�on of the valua�on methods used by the Company by considering the Company’s equity structure, proximity to a recent financing round, and possible exit
scenarios. We evaluated the weigh�ng of valua�on methods based on the an�cipated probability of an IPO as of the valua�on date by:

• observing the Company’s ac�ons taken to prepare for an IPO

• inspec�ng the Company’s wri�en plans and other relevant documenta�on, such as minutes and presenta�ons

• assessing the Company’s ability to carry out par�cular courses of ac�on, including the �meline to a liquidity event (including an IPO) and whether the Company had the financial
resources, personnel, and other means to achieve a liquidity event.

We evaluated the Company’s es�mate of equity value in an IPO scenario, by assessing:

• the effect of the Company’s opera�ons and organiza�onal changes on the value of its common stock since its latest funding round, including changes in peer company market
capitaliza�ons over a similar �me frame

• the Company’s valua�on using forecasted revenue mul�ples by comparing them to those of relevant peer companies

• informa�on provided by underwriters as part of ini�al discussions in an�cipa�on of an IPO

• the sensi�vity of changes in es�mated equity value in an IPO scenario on the fair value of common stock used to remeasure the modified RSUs in June 2021 and measure certain
other RSUs granted through July 2021.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2021.

Detroit, Michigan
March 31, 2022
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RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in millions, except per share amounts)

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021
ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 2) $ 2,979 $ 18,133 
Accounts receivable, net (Note 2) 6 26 
Inventory (Note 2) — 274 
Other current assets 31 126 

Total current assets 3,016 18,559 
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 4) 1,445 3,183 
Opera�ng lease assets, net (Note 5) 80 228 
Other non-current assets 61 324 

Total assets $ 4,602 $ 22,294 

LIABILITIES, CONTINGENTLY REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK, AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Current liabili�es:

Accounts payable $ 90 $ 483 
   Accrued liabili�es (Note 7) 443 667 

Customer deposits 28 74 
Current por�on of long-term debt (Note 6) 28 — 
Current por�on of lease liabili�es and other current liabili�es 22 89 

Total current liabili�es 611 1,313 
Non-current por�on of long-term debt (Note 6) 47 1,226 
Non-current lease liabili�es (Note 5) 83 218 
Other non-current liabili�es 1 23 

Total liabili�es 742 2,780 
Commitments and con�ngencies (Note 12)

Con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 508 and 10 shares authorized, and 504 and 0 shares issued and outstanding
as of December 31, 2020 and 2021, respec�vely (Note 11) 5,244 — 

Stockholders' (deficit) equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 712 and 3,508 shares authorized and 101 and 900 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and

2021, respec�vely (Note 11) — 1 
Addi�onal paid-in capital 302 25,887 
Accumulated deficit (1,686) (6,374)

Total stockholders' (deficit) equity (1,384) 19,514 

Total liabili�es, con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock, and stockholders' (deficit) equity $ 4,602 $ 22,294 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in millions, except per share amounts)

Years ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Revenues (Note 2) $ — $ — $ 55 
Cost of revenues (Note 2) — — 520 
Gross profit — — (465)
Opera�ng expenses

Research and development (Note 2) 301 766 1,850 
Selling, general, and administra�ve (Note 2) 108 255 1,242 
Other expenses (Note 2) — — 663 

Total opera�ng expenses 409 1,021 3,755 
Loss from opera�ons (409) (1,021) (4,220)
Interest income 18 10 3 
Interest expense (Note 6) (34) (8) (29)
Loss on conver�ble notes, net (Note 6) — — (441)
Other (expense) income, net (1) 1 (1)
Loss before income taxes (426) (1,018) (4,688)
Provision for income taxes — — — 

Net loss $ (426) $ (1,018) $ (4,688)

Net loss a�ributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (426) $ (1,019) $ (4,688)

Net loss per share a�ributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted (Note 13) $ (4.35) $ (10.09) $ (22.98)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted 98 101 204 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in millions)

Years ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Net loss $ (426) $ (1,018) $ (4,688)
Other comprehensive (loss) income — — — 

Comprehensive loss $ (426) $ (1,018) $ (4,688)

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CONTINGENTLY REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY

(in millions)

Con�ngently Stockholders' (Deficit) Equity
Redeemable
Conver�ble Addi�onal

Preferred Stock Common Stock Paid-In Accumulated
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Deficit Total

BALANCE—December 31, 2018 — $ — 75 $ — $ 154 $ (242) $ (88)
Capital stock issuance 343 2,750 — — — — — 
Warrants issuance — — — — 13 — 13 
Conversion of conver�ble notes — — 25 — 126 — 126 
Net loss — — — — — (426) (426)

BALANCE—December 31, 2019 343 $ 2,750 100 $ — $ 293 $ (668) $ (375)

Capital stock issuance 161 2,500 1 — 6 — 6 
Warrants issuance — — — — 3 — 3 
Share repurchase and re�rement — (6) — — — — — 
Net loss — — — — — (1,018) (1,018)

BALANCE—December 31, 2020 504 $ 5,244 101 $ — $ 302 $ (1,686) $ (1,384)

Capital stock issuance 72 2,650 185 — 14,181 — 14,181 
Conversion of con�ngently redeemable preferred stock (576) (7,894) 576 1 7,893 — 7,894 
Conversion of conver�ble notes — — 38 — 2,941 — 2,941 
Stock-based compensa�on — — — — 570 — 570 
Net loss — — — — — (4,688) (4,688)

BALANCE—December 31, 2021 — $ — 900 $ 1 $ 25,887 $ (6,374) $ 19,514 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions)

Year Ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Cash flows from opera�ng ac�vi�es:
Net loss $ (426) $ (1,018) $ (4,688)
Deprecia�on and amor�za�on 7 29 197 
Stock-based compensa�on — — 570 
Other expenses (Note 2) — — 643 
Loss on conver�ble notes, net — — 441 
Write-down of inventory — — 95 
Other non-cash ac�vi�es 37 41 36 

Changes in opera�ng assets and liabili�es:
Accounts receivable (16) 11 (20)
Inventory — — (369)
Other current assets (8) (34) (81)
Other non-current assets (5) (8) (8)
Accounts payable and accrued liabili�es 43 121 461 
Customer deposits 14 10 46 
Other current liabili�es 15 1 37 
Other non-current liabili�es (14) (1) 18 

Net cash used in opera�ng ac�vi�es (353) (848) (2,622)

Cash flows from inves�ng ac�vi�es:
Capital expenditures (199) (914) (1,794)

Net cash used in inves�ng ac�vi�es (199) (914) (1,794)

Cash flows from financing ac�vi�es:
Proceeds from share issuance upon ini�al public offering, net of underwri�ng discounts and commissions and
offering costs — — 13,530 
Proceeds from issuance of capital stock 2,750 2,506 2,658 
Proceeds from issuance of conver�ble notes — — 2,500 
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt, net of discount and debt issuance costs 61 — 1,226 
Principal payments and other financing ac�vi�es — (6) (86)

Net cash provided by financing ac�vi�es 2,811 2,500 19,828 

Net change in cash 2,259 738 15,412 
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash—Beginning of period 14 2,273 3,011 

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash—End of period $ 2,273 $ 3,011 $ 18,423 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informa�on:
Cash paid for interest $ 5 $ 4 $ 2 

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash inves�ng and financing ac�vi�es:
Capital expenditures included in liabili�es $ 98 $ 325 $ 479 
Conversion of conver�ble notes $ 100 $ — $ 2,941 
Conversion of conver�ble preferred stock $ — $ — $ 7,894 
Warrants issuance $ 13 $ 3 $ — 

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. PRESENTATION AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Descrip�on and Organiza�on

Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “Rivian” or the “Company”), was incorporated as a Delaware corpora�on on March 26, 2015. Rivian was formed for the
purpose of designing, developing, manufacturing, and selling category-defining electric vehicles (”EVs”), accessories, and related services directly to customers in the consumer and
commercial markets. The nature of the Company’s opera�ons during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 was primarily research and development ac�vi�es related to
vehicle development and its related technologies, and pre-produc�on ac�vi�es related to manufacturing and sales. However, the Company began making deliveries of the R1T, R1S, and EDV
in the United States in 2021.

Segment Informa�on

The Company’s Chief Execu�ve Officer (“CEO”) has been iden�fied as the chief opera�ng decision maker (“CODM”). As the CODM reviews financial informa�on presented on a consolidated
basis for purposes of making opera�ng decisions, alloca�ng resources, and evalua�ng financial performance, the Company has determined that it operates in one opera�ng segment and
one reportable segment.

Basis of Presenta�on

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accoun�ng principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) and, in the opinion
of management, reflect all normal recurring adjustments necessary to fairly present the financial posi�on, results of opera�ons, cash flows, and change in equity for the periods presented.
Results for the periods presented are not necessarily indica�ve of the results that may be expected for any subsequent period.

Basis of Consolida�on

The Company consolidates en��es in which it has a controlling financial interest. Intercompany balances and transac�ons have been eliminated in consolida�on.

Ini�al Public Offering

In November 2021, the Company completed its underwri�en IPO of approximately 176 million shares of Class A common stock at a public offering price of $78.00 per share, which included
the exercise in full by the underwriters of their op�on to purchase approximately 23 million addi�onal shares of Class A common stock. The net proceeds to the Company from the IPO were
$13.5 billion. See Note 11 “Con�ngently Redeemable Conver�ble Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity” for more informa�on regarding the IPO.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

For each accoun�ng topic that is addressed in a separate footnote, the descrip�on of the accoun�ng policy can be found in the related footnote. Other significant accoun�ng policies are
described below.

Use of Es�mates

Accoun�ng es�mates are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. These es�mates require the use of judgments and assump�ons that may affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabili�es, and expenses in the periods presented. Es�mates are used for, but not limited to, inventory valua�on, property, plant, and equipment, leases, income taxes, stock-based
compensa�on, and commitments and con�ngencies. The Company believes that the accoun�ng es�mates and related assump�ons employed by the Company are appropriate and the
resul�ng balances are reasonable under the circumstances. However, due to the inherent uncertain�es involved in making es�mates, the actual results could differ from the original
es�mates, requiring adjustments to these balances in future periods.
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RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash in banks, payments due from financial ins�tu�ons for the se�lement of credit card and debit card transac�ons, and money market
funds with maturi�es of three months or less. All short-term, highly liquid investments that are both readily conver�ble to known amounts of cash and so near their maturity that they
present insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates also are classified as cash equivalents.

Accounts Receivable, Net

Receivables are reported at the invoiced amount, less an allowance for any poten�al uncollec�ble amounts. The Company had no allowance for uncollec�ble amounts as of December 31,
2020 and 2021.

Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents that are restricted as to withdrawal or use under the terms of certain contractual agreements are classified as restricted cash and are primarily recorded in “Other
non-current assets” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Restricted cash primarily consists of the balance of an account under the dominion and control of the administra�ve
agent under the ABL Facility, which will be used to repay outstanding borrowings under the ABL Facility if certain specified events of default occur, and cash held in reserve accounts related
to contractual obliga�ons. See Note 6 “Debt” for more informa�on on the ABL Facility. Total restricted cash was $32 million and $290 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2021, respec�vely.
Subsequent to December 31, 2021, the balance of restricted cash increased by $250 million due to requirements under the ABL Facility.

Inventory

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value (“LCNRV”) and consist of raw materials, work-in-progress, finished goods, and service parts. The Company primarily
calculates inventory value using standard cost, which approximates actual cost on the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) basis. Net realizable value (“NRV”) is the es�mated selling price of inventory
in the ordinary course of business, less es�mated costs of comple�on, disposal, and transporta�on. The Company assesses the valua�on of inventory and periodically adjusts its value for
es�mated excess and obsolete inventory based upon expecta�ons of future demand and market condi�ons, as well as damaged or otherwise impaired goods. During the year ended
December 31, 2021, the Company recorded a $95 million charge to reduce the carrying value of inventory to net realizable value, with the charge reflected in “Cost of revenues” in the
Company’s Consolidated Statement of Opera�ons. As of December 31, 2020 the Company’s inventory was not material. As of December 31, 2021, the $274 million carrying value of
inventory consisted primarily of raw materials.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets (Held-and-Used Long-Lived Assets)

We review property, plant and equipment and finite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances occur that indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be fully recoverable. Events that trigger a test for recoverability include material adverse changes in projected revenues and expenses, present cash flow losses combined with
a history of cash flow losses and a forecast that demonstrates significant con�nuing losses, significant nega�ve industry or economic trends, a current expecta�on that a long-lived asset
group will be disposed of significantly before the end of its useful life, a significant adverse change in the manner in which an asset group is used or in its physical condi�on, or when there is
a change in the asset grouping. We ini�ally assess the risk of impairment based on an es�mate of the undiscounted cash flows at the lowest level for which iden�fiable cash flows exist
against the carrying value of the asset group. Impairment is indicated when the carrying value of the asset group exceeds the es�mated future undiscounted cash flows generated by those
assets. When impairment is indicated, the Company records an impairment charge for the difference between the carrying value of the asset group and its es�mated fair market value.
Depending on the asset, es�mated fair market value may be determined either by use of a discounted cash flow model or by reference to es�mated selling values of assets in similar
condi�on.
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RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenues

The Company primarily recognizes revenue from the sale of EVs to consumers. Revenue from the sale of EVs is recognized upon delivery, when control of the EV transfers to the customer.
Payment for EV sales is due prior to or upon delivery, and an insignificant amount of revenue is recognized a�er delivery for performance obliga�ons sa�sfied over �me. Sales are subject to
a right of return and involve variable considera�on for certain sales to employees.

The expected value of variable considera�on is used to es�mate the transac�on price. Variable considera�on is included in the transac�on price only to the extent it is probable that a
significant reversal of revenue recognized will not occur. The transac�on price is allocated based on the es�mated rela�ve standalone selling price of each performance obliga�on. The
Company u�lizes directly observable standalone selling prices when possible. If not available, the standalone selling prices are es�mated using appropriate methods, such as the “adjusted
market assessment” approach, “expected cost plus a margin” approach, and others.

Contract Liabili�es

The Company recognizes contract liabili�es when payments are received or due before the related performance obliga�on is sa�sfied. The Company’s contract liabili�es exclude fully-
refundable customer deposits. The Company’s contract liabili�es were not material during the year ended December 31, 2021 and were recorded in Current por�on of lease liabili�es and
other current liabili�es” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The increase in contract liabili�es resulted from sales to customers with payment due prior to delivery of the EV.

Because the Company’s contracts generally have an original expected dura�on of one year or less, the Company has not disclosed the aggregate amount of the transac�on price in contracts
with customers that is related to unsa�sfied or par�ally unsa�sfied performance obliga�ons as of December 31, 2021.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of revenues primarily relates to the cost of EVs and includes direct parts, material and labor costs, manufacturing overhead (e.g., deprecia�on of machinery and tooling), inbound
shipping and logis�cs costs, and reserves for es�mated warranty costs. Cost of revenues also includes adjustments to write down the carrying value of inventory when it exceeds its
es�mated NRV and to provide for on-hand inventory that is either obsolete or in excess of forecasted demand. Costs to develop so�ware that is integral to the Company’s EVs are recognized
as expenses as they are incurred.

Fair Value Measurements

A three-level valua�on hierarchy, based upon observable and unobservable inputs, is used for fair value measurements. Observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent
sources, while unobservable inputs reflect market assump�ons based on the best evidence available. These two types of inputs create the following fair value hierarchy:

• Level 1 – Quoted prices for iden�cal instruments in ac�ve markets
• Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar instruments in ac�ve markets, quoted prices for iden�cal or similar instruments in markets that are not ac�ve, and model-derived valua�ons

whose significant inputs are observable
• Level 3 – Instruments with model-derived valua�ons whose significant inputs are unobservable

The Company’s money market funds are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy because they are valued using quoted prices in ac�ve markets. As of December 31, 2020 and
2021, money market funds totaled $2,782 million and $13,048 million, respec�vely. The carrying values of the Company’s accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses
approximated their fair values at December 31, 2020 and 2021, due to the short period of �me to maturity or repayment.

The Company’s debt instruments are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy because they are valued using quoted prices for inac�ve markets or have significant inputs that are
observable. As of December 31, 2020 and 2021 the fair value of debt approximated their carrying value. See Note 6 “Debt” for more informa�on.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, there were no transfers between the levels of the fair value hierarchy.
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RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employee Benefit Plan

The Company provides a defined contribu�on plan for substan�ally all employees in the United States in which the Company provides discre�onary matching contribu�ons. The Company
made matching contribu�ons to the defined contribu�on plan for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 which were not material.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development (“R&D”) costs consist primarily of personnel costs for teams in engineering and research, prototyping expenses, contract and professional services, amor�zed
equipment costs, and alloca�on of indirect costs. R&D costs are expensed as incurred.

Selling, General, and Administra�ve

Adver�sing costs are recorded in “Selling, general, and administra�ve” in the Consolidated Statement of Opera�ons as they are incurred. The adver�sing costs recognized during the years
ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 were not material.

Other Expenses

Upon the IPO, the Company donated approximately 8 million shares of Class A common stock and $20 million cash to Forever by Rivian. As a result, $663 million was recorded in “Other
expenses” in the Consolidated Statement of Opera�ons during the year ended December 31, 2021.

Concentra�on of Risk

Counterparty Credit Risk

Financial instruments that poten�ally subject the Company to concentra�on of counterparty credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, deposits, and loans. We are
exposed to credit risk to the extent that our cash balance with a financial ins�tu�on is in excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Company insurance limits. The degree of counterparty credit
risk will vary based on many factors including the dura�on of the transac�on and the contractual terms of the agreement. Management evaluates and approves credit standards and
oversees the credit risk management func�on related to investments. As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, all of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were placed at financial
ins�tu�ons that management believes are of high credit quality. These amounts are typically in excess of insured limits.

Supply Risk

The Company is subject to risks related to its dependence on its suppliers, the majority of which are single-source providers of parts or components for the Company’s products. Any
inability of the Company’s suppliers to deliver necessary product components, including semiconductors, at �ming, prices, quality, and volumes that are acceptable to the Company could
have a material and adverse impact on Rivian’s business, growth prospects, and financial and opera�ng results.

The Company’s manufacturing facility in Normal, Illinois (the “Normal Factory”) is opera�onal, and Rivian is con�nuing to invest in the Normal Factory. The Company’s ability to sustain
produc�on depends, among other things, on the readiness and solvency of suppliers and vendors through all macroeconomic factors, including factors resul�ng from the COVID-19
pandemic.
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3. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Recently Adopted Accoun�ng Standards

The Financial Accoun�ng Standards Board’s Accoun�ng Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) requires the recogni�on of assets and liabili�es for leases that are not short-
term. The Company adopted the provisions of the ASU, along with the provisions of all other issued ASUs containing related amendments, on January 1, 2020. The Company elected to use
hindsight to determine whether lease terms included periods covered by op�ons to extend or terminate a lease, did not reassess exis�ng or expired land easements that were not
previously accounted for as leases, and did not elect to apply the “package of three” prac�cal expedients available upon adop�on. Amounts in the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes prior to January 1, 2020 have not been restated and con�nue to be reported in accordance with the legacy accoun�ng requirements in Accoun�ng Standards
Codifica�on (“ASC”) Topic 840, Leases. The adop�on of the ASU did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

ASU 2020-06, Debt—Debt with Conversion and Other Op�ons (Subtopic 470-20) and Deriva�ves and Hedging—Contracts in En�ty’s Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accoun�ng for Conver�ble
Instruments and Contracts in an En�ty’s Own Equity simplifies (i) the accoun�ng for conver�ble financing instruments issued, including preferred stock, (ii) the deriva�ves scope excep�on
for contracts in an en�ty’s own equity, and (iii) the calcula�on of earnings per share. Early adop�on is permissible, and the Company elected to early adopt the provisions of the ASU on
January 1, 2021. The adop�on of the ASU did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments amends the measurement of (i) assets measured at amor�zed cost by
including an en�ty’s current es�mate of all expected credit losses and broadening the informa�on that an en�ty must consider in developing its expected credit loss es�mate and (ii)
available-for-sale debt securi�es by requiring es�mated credit losses to be presented as an allowance rather than a write-down. The Company adopted the provisions of the ASU, along with
the provisions of all other issued ASUs containing related amendments, on January 1, 2021. The adop�on of these ASUs did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.

Upcoming Accoun�ng Standards Not Yet Adopted

ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilita�on of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Repor�ng provides op�onal expedients and excep�ons to the accoun�ng
for contracts, hedging rela�onships, and other transac�ons that reference the London Interbank Offered Rate “LIBOR” or another reference rate expected to be discon�nued because of
reference rate reform. The expedients and excep�ons provided do not apply to contract modifica�ons made and most hedging rela�onships entered into or evaluated a�er December 31,
2022. The Company expects to adopt the provisions of the ASU as of the beginning of any interim period in which LIBOR is discon�nued from the Company’s transac�ons that reference
LIBOR. The Company is currently evalua�ng the poten�al impact of the ASU on the consolidated financial statements.

4. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, plant, and equipment are recorded at cost, net of accumulated deprecia�on and impairments. Costs of rou�ne maintenance and repair are expensed when incurred.

The Company capitalizes certain qualified costs incurred in connec�on with the development of so�ware used internally. Costs incurred during the applica�on development stage are
evaluated to determine whether the costs meet the criteria for capitaliza�on. Costs related to preliminary project ac�vi�es and post implementa�on ac�vi�es, including maintenance, are
expensed as incurred.

Property, plant, and equipment are primarily depreciated using the straight-line method over the es�mated useful life of the asset. Leasehold improvements are amor�zed over the period
of lease or the life of the asset, whichever is shorter, using the straight-line method. Capitalized costs related to so�ware used internally are amor�zed using the straight-line method over
the es�mated useful life of the asset. Land is not depreciated.
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The following table summarizes the components of “Property, plant, and equipment, net” (in millions):

Es�mated Useful Lives December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021
Land, buildings, and building improvements 10 to 30 years $ 88 $ 429 
Leasehold improvements Shorter of 10 years or lease term 51 191 
Machinery, equipment, vehicles, and office furniture 5 to 15 years 88 1,856 
Computer equipment, hardware, and so�ware 3 to 10 years 51 180 
Construc�on in progress 1,205 760 

Total property, plant, and equipment 1,483 3,416 
Accumulated deprecia�on and amor�za�on (38) (233)

Total property, plant, and equipment, net $ 1,445 $ 3,183 

Deprecia�on and amor�za�on expense was $7 million, $29 million, and $197 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, respec�vely.

5. LEASES

The Company leases real estate, machinery, equipment and vehicles under agreements with contractual periods ranging from one month to 12 years. Leases generally contain extension or
renewal op�ons, and some leases contain termina�on op�ons. A�er considering all relevant economic and financial factors, the Company includes periods covered by renewal or extension
op�ons that are reasonably certain to be exercised in the lease term and excludes periods covered by termina�on op�ons that are reasonably certain to be exercised from the lease term.
The Company determines whether a contractual arrangement is or contains a lease at incep�on.

The Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components and has elected to u�lize the prac�cal expedient to account for lease and non-lease components together as a
single combined lease component, with the excep�on of leases of real estate which is comprised of land and buildings. For leases of land and buildings, the Company accounts for each
component separately based on the rela�ve es�mated standalone price of each component. At lease commencement, the Company measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments not yet paid. All variable payments that are not based on a market rate or an index (e.g., the Consumer Price Index) are excluded from the measurement of the lease liability and
instead are recognized as expense when paid. Because the discount rate implicit in the lease is not determinable for most leases, the Company determines the appropriate discount rate
using the es�mated incremental borrowing rate for the lease based on the informa�on available at lease commencement. Right-of-use assets are measured at the amount of the lease
liability, adjusted for prepaid or accrued lease payments, lease incen�ves, and ini�al direct costs incurred, as applicable.

Leases that are economically similar to the purchase of an asset are classified as finance leases. The Company’s carrying value of finance leases is not material for all periods reported.

Lease expense for opera�ng leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company does not recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabili�es for short-term leases
with an original lease term of 12 months or less. Instead, expense represen�ng the rent payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term within “Selling, general, and
administra�ve” in the Consolidated Statement of Opera�ons.

Opera�ng lease assets are recorded net of accumulated amor�za�on. The following table presents the carrying value of opera�ng lease right-of-use assets and lease liabili�es recorded
within the corresponding line items on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2020 and 2021 (in millions):

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021
Opera�ng
lease assets,
net $ 80 $ 228 

Current
por�on of
lease
liabili�es
and other
current
liabili�es $ 18 $ 46 
Long-term
lease
liabili�es 83 218 

Total
lease
liabili�es $ 101 $ 264 
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The following table summarizes the contractual maturi�es of opera�ng lease liabili�es as of December 31, 2021 (in millions):

Opera�ng Leases
2022 $ 54 
2023 53 
2024 49 
2025 44 
2026 37 
Therea�er 65 

Total undiscounted liabili�es 302 
Less: Present value discount (38)

Total lease liabili�es $ 264 

The future minimum lease payments for leases that have not yet commenced are not material at December 31, 2021. The leases will commence in 2022 and 2023, with lease terms ranging
from 1 year to 10 years.

Total lease cost for the year ended December 31, 2020 was not material. Total least cost of $43 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 was comprised primarily of opera�ng lease
cost and recorded in “Selling, general, and administra�ve” in the Consolidated Statements of Opera�ons.

The weighted average remaining lease term and weighted average discount rate for opera�ng leases at December 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021
Weighted average remaining opera�ng lease term (in years) 5.8 6.1
Weighted average opera�ng lease discount rate 3.8 % 4.0 %

Supplemental cash flow informa�on related to opera�ng leases for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2021 is as follows (in millions):
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of opera�ng lease liabili�es $ 11 $ 31 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for opera�ng lease liabili�es (non-cash) $ 87 $ 178 

Opera�ng lease expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was not material.
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6. DEBT

The following table summarizes the Company’s outstanding debt:

Maturi�es December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021
Amount

(in millions) Effec�ve Interest Rate
Amount

(in millions) Effec�ve Interest Rate
Term Facility 2022 $ 79 4.9 % $ — — %
2026 Notes 2026 — — % 1,250 7.0 %

Total Long Term Debt 79 1,250 
Less unamor�zed discount and debt issuance costs (4) (24)

Notes payable, less unamor�zed discount and debt issuance costs 75 1,226 
Less: Current por�on (28) — 

Total note payable, less current por�on $ 47 $ 1,226 

Term Facility

In April 2018, the Company entered into a variable rate Term Facility Agreement for a commi�ed facility to be used towards the Company’s and its subsidiaries’ opera�ng expenses and
capital expenditures (“Term Facility”). As of December 31, 2020, the amount drawn on the Term Facility was $79 million. In February 2021, the Company paid all outstanding amounts
related to the Term Facility.

The Term Facility was scheduled to mature in May 2022, the fourth anniversary of the first borrowing under the loan. Maturity payments were scheduled to begin in 2021. Rivian’s
obliga�ons under the Term Facility Agreement were backed by guarantees from two of its subsidiaries, as well as an affiliate of a stockholder of the Company.

Interest on the Term Facility was paid based on the LIBOR plus 4.3%. As of December 31, 2020, the stated interest rate for borrowings under the Term Facility Agreement was 4.5%. As the
Term Facility was variable rate debt, the carrying value of the Term Facility approximated fair value.

In connec�on with the Term Facility Agreement, the Company issued common stock warrants to the affiliate of the stockholder on the date thereof (“Ini�al Common Stock Warrant”) and on
each anniversary therea�er (“Anniversary Common Stock Warrants”) un�l the Term Facility Agreement was terminated. The Ini�al Common Stock Warrant was classified as a debt issuance
cost and recorded as an increase to Addi�onal paid-in capital on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The debt issuance cost was subsequently amor�zed over the periods the Term Facility was
outstanding. The Anniversary Common Stock Warrants were classified as prepaid expenses and recorded as an increase to Addi�onal paid-in capital on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
prepaid expenses were subsequently amor�zed over the respec�ve annual period following the grant of each Anniversary Common Stock Warrant. Refer to Note 11 "Con�ngently
Redeemable Conver�ble Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ (Deficit) Equity" for further details regarding stock warrants.

2021 Conver�ble Notes

In July 2021, the Company issued $2,500 million aggregate principal amount of unsecured senior conver�ble promissory notes due July 2026 in a private offering (“2021 Conver�ble Notes”)
and made an irrevocable elec�on to account for the 2021 Conver�ble Notes under the Fair Value Op�on in accordance with ASC Topic 825, Financial Instruments. As a result, the 2021
Conver�ble Notes were ini�ally recognized as a liability measured at issue-date es�mated fair value and subsequently re-measured to es�mated fair value as of September 30, 2021. The
2021 Conver�ble Notes accrued interest quarterly at a rate of (i) zero percent (0%) from the date of issuance to, and including, June 30, 2022 and (ii) five percent (5%) a�er June 30, 2022.
The Company made no cash interest payments on the 2021 Conver�ble Notes during the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Upon the Company’s IPO, the 2021 Conver�ble Notes converted into 38 million shares of Class A common stock at a conversion price equal to $66.30 per share. During the year ended
December 31, 2021, the loss on the 2021 Conver�ble Notes is recognized in “Loss on conver�ble notes, net” in the Consolidated Statement of Opera�ons and is calculated as follows (in
millions):

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Fair value of shares issued upon conversion Unpaid principal balance Loss on conver�ble notes, net

2021 Conver�ble Notes $ 2,941 $ 2,500 $ (441)

ABL Facility

In May 2021, the Company, through various of its subsidiaries, entered into a senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility (“ABL Facility”) with a syndicate of banks that may be used
for general corporate purposes. The ABL Facility is secured by certain current assets of the Company. The ABL Facility provides for a $750 million commi�ed secured revolving credit facility
with an annual interest rate between 1.25% and 1.75% plus LIBOR that matures on May 20, 2025. Availability under the ABL Facility is based on the lesser of the borrowing base and the
commi�ed $750 million cap and is reduced by borrowings and the issuance of le�ers of credit which bear a fron�ng fee of 0.125% plus interest per annum. Interest on LIBOR borrowings
under the ABL Facility is due at maturity of each LIBOR period, and interest on non-LIBOR borrowings under the ABL Facility is due on a quarterly basis. The Company is required to pay a
quarterly commitment fee of 0.25% per annum based on the unused por�on of the ABL Facility. The ABL Facility contains certain affirma�ve and nega�ve covenants and condi�ons to
borrowing or taking other ac�ons that restrict certain of the Company’s subsidiaries’ ability to, among other things, incur debt, grant liens, make investments, enter into certain transac�ons
with affiliates, pay dividends, and prepay junior or unsecured indebtedness, subject to certain excep�ons. The covenants include a minimum liquidity requirement and fixed charge coverage
ra�o calculated quarterly. As of December 31, 2021, the Company was in compliance with all covenants required by the ABL Facility.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had no borrowings under the ABL Facility and $103 million of le�ers of credit outstanding, resul�ng in availability under the ABL Facility of $306
million a�er giving effect to the borrowing base and the outstanding le�ers of credit.

2026 Notes

In October 2021, the Company issued $1,250 million aggregate principal amount of senior secured floa�ng rate notes due October 2026 (the “2026 Notes”) to new and exis�ng investors of
the Company. Proceeds received, net of a $25 million original issue discount (“OID”), may be used for general corporate purposes. The 2026 Notes bear interest at (x) six-month LIBOR,
subject to a 1.00% floor, plus (y) 6.00% per annum, subject to downward adjustment upon certain events, including an IPO. Upon the Company’s IPO, the interest rate on the 2026 Notes
was adjusted downward and as of December 31, 2021, the interest rate on the notes was 6.63%. Interest on the 2026 Notes is paid in cash semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October
15 of each year. The Company has the op�on to redeem the notes at any �me at 100% of the principal amount of the 2026 Notes, plus any applicable premium. The 2026 Notes are secured
by a second priority security interest in the same assets in which the ABL Facility has a first priority security interest and are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company. The 2026
Notes contain a number of customary covenants similar to the covenants under the ABL Facility, including a minimum liquidity covenant. As of December 31, 2021, the Company was in
compliance with all covenants required by the 2026 Notes.
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Interest Expense

The components of “Interest expense” recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Opera�ons are as follows (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Amor�za�on of discount and debt issuance costs $ 22 $ 3 $ 7 
Contractual interest expense 12 5 22 

Total interest expense $ 34 $ 8 $ 29 

7. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

The carrying value of “Accrued liabili�es” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets includes the following components that were not yet paid by the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2021
(in millions):

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021
Capital and other expenditures $ 384 $ 490 
Payroll 44 94 
Services 5 27 
Other 10 56 

Total accrued liabili�es $ 443 $ 667 

8. INCOME TAXES

Components of Income Taxes

The Company’s tax rate is generally a func�on of the tax rates in the jurisdic�ons in which the Company operates, the rela�ve amount of income earned by jurisdic�on, and the rela�ve
amount of losses or income for which no tax benefit or expense is recognized due to a valua�on allowance.

The components of ”Loss before income taxes” in the Consolidated Statements of Opera�ons for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Loss before income taxes
United States $ (427) $ (1,021) $ (4,590)
Foreign 1 3 (98)

Total loss before income taxes $ (426) $ (1,018) $ (4,688)

Based on United States tax regula�ons applicable to Rivian, the Company does not an�cipate foreign earnings would be subject to a 21% corporate income tax rate upon repatria�on.
Accordingly, no provision for United States tax on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries has been made. Distribu�ons of unremi�ed foreign earnings would be subject to foreign
withholding taxes. The Company maintains that foreign earnings will be indefinitely reinvested unless expressly stated to the contrary.

Provisions are made for es�mated United States and foreign income taxes which may be incurred on the reversal of the basis differences in investments in foreign subsidiaries and corporate
joint ventures not deemed to be indefinitely reinvested. Provisions have not been made on basis differences in investments that primarily result from earnings in foreign subsidiaries which
are deemed indefinitely reinvested. If recorded the deferred tax liability associated with indefinitely reinvested basis differences would be immaterial to the financial statements.
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Deferred tax assets and liabili�es are recognized based on the future tax consequences a�ributable to (i) temporary differences that exist between the carrying value of assets and liabili�es
and their respec�ve tax bases and (ii) opera�ng loss and tax credit carryforwards on a taxing jurisdic�on basis. The Company measures deferred tax assets and liabili�es using enacted tax
rates that will apply in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to be recovered or paid.

The Company’s accoun�ng for deferred tax consequences adheres to the requirements of U.S. GAAP to reduce the measurement of deferred tax assets not expected to be realized. The
Company considers all available evidence, both posi�ve and nega�ve, to determine whether a valua�on allowance is needed. If, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely
than not that the deferred tax assets will not be realized, a valua�on allowance is recorded.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company recorded valua�on allowances of $1,458 million for the por�on of deferred tax assets that is not expected to be realized. The valua�on allowance on
net deferred tax assets increased by $105 million, $293 million, and $988 million during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, respec�vely. The changes in the valua�on
allowance are primarily due to addi�onal United States deferred tax assets and liabili�es recognized in the respec�ve years. The Company had no releases of valua�on allowances for the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021. The Company con�nues to monitor the realizability of the United States deferred tax assets taking into account mul�ple factors, including results
of opera�ons. The Company shall con�nue maintaining a full valua�on allowance on United States deferred tax assets un�l there is sufficient evidence to support the reversal of all or some
por�on of these allowances. Release of all, or a por�on, of the valua�on allowances would result in the recogni�on of certain deferred tax assets and a decrease to income tax expense for
the period the release is recorded.

A reconcilia�on of the provision for income taxes to its components at the United States statutory rate for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 is shown below (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Federal income tax at statutory rate $ (90) $ (214) $ (984)
State income taxes (20) (52) (236)
Permanent items 1 4 8 
Nondeduc�ble charitable contribu�ons — — 172 
Nondeduc�ble loss on conver�ble debt — — 118 
Nondeduc�ble interest 8 — — 
Tax credits (11) (31) (63)
Other — — (3)
Valua�on allowance 105 293 988 
Tax credit limita�on 7 — — 

Provision for income taxes $ — $ — $ — 

The Company’s effec�ve tax rate was 0% for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021. Foreign income taxes were not material during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020
and 2021.
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Components of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabili�es

The components of deferred tax assets and liabili�es as of December 31, 2020 and 2021 are as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021
Deferred tax assets:

Net opera�ng loss and tax credit carryforwards $ 453 $ 1,218 
Inventory — 142 
Lease liabili�es 26 71 
Stock-based compensa�on — 118 
Other 18 50 

Total deferred tax assets 497 1,599 
Less: valua�on allowances (470) (1,458)

Total net deferred tax assets 27 141 
Deferred tax liabili�es:

Property, plant, and equipment (6) (78)
Opera�ng lease assets (21) (62)

Total deferred tax liabili�es (27) (140)

Net deferred tax assets $ — $ 1 

The majority of the Company's gross loss carryforwards are generated in the United States. Federal net opera�ng losses (“NOLs”) generated by the Company through December 31, 2017
totaling $81 million may be carried forward for 20 years and begin to expire in 2035. These NOLs may fully offset taxable income in the year u�lized. Under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, federal
losses generated in tax years beginning a�er December 31, 2017, totaling $4,234 million, may be carried forward indefinitely; but their deduc�on is limited to 80% of annual taxable income.
In addi�on, the Company has federal and state tax credit carryforwards of $100 million that can be carried forward for 20 years and begin to expire in 2039. The NOLs and tax credits are
fully offset by a valua�on allowance. Addi�onally, the Company has $3,375 million of carryforwards for state NOLs.

Under Sec�ons 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), if a corpora�on undergoes an “ownership change,” the corpora�on’s ability to use its pre-

change net opera�ng loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax a�ributes (such as R&D tax credits) to offset its post-change income may be limited. If the Company experiences a greater
than 50 percentage point aggregate change in ownership of certain significant stockholders over a three-year period, a Sec�on 382 ownership change could be deemed to have occurred. If
a Sec�on 382 change occurs, the Company’s future u�liza�on of the NOLs and credits as of the ownership change will be subject to an annual limita�on under Sec�on 382 of the Code and
similar state provisions. Such an annual limita�on may result in the expira�on of NOLs before u�liza�on. Due to previous ownership changes experienced by the Company, tax credits are
limited in their u�liza�on and the amounts above reflect such adjustment. NOLs are not expected to be limited.

The Company records uncertain tax posi�ons using a two-step process. First; by determining whether it is more likely than not that the tax posi�ons will be sustained on the basis of the
technical merits of the posi�on, and second; for those tax posi�ons that meet the more-likely-than-not recogni�on threshold, by recognizing the largest amount of tax benefit that is more
than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ul�mate se�lement with the related tax authority. The Company includes interest and penal�es related to income tax ma�ers within the provision
for income taxes. As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, the Company has not recorded any amounts related to uncertain tax posi�ons.

The Company is subject to taxa�on and files income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdic�on, plus state and foreign jurisdic�ons. Tax years a�er 2017 remain open in our major
jurisdic�ons and are subject to examina�on by the taxing authori�es.
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9. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock Plans

The Company's 2015 Long-Term Incen�ve Plan ("2015 Stock Plan") and 2021 Incen�ve Award Plan (“2021 Stock Plan” and, together, “Stock Plans”) permit the grant of stock op�ons, RSUs,
and other stock-based awards to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants. The 2021 Stock Plan became effec�ve when the registra�on statement filed in connec�on with the
Company’s IPO became effec�ve. The Company’s stock op�ons have seven- or ten-year contractual terms and unvested stock op�ons and RSUs generally are forfeited upon the termina�on
of a grantee’s service. The Company has elected to recognize forfeitures as an adjustment to compensa�on expense for op�ons and RSUs in the same period as the forfeitures occur. As of
December 31, 2021, 101 million and 99 million shares were reserved for issuance under the 2015 Stock Plan and 2021 Stock Plan, respec�vely.

Generally, the Company’s stock op�ons vest in annual installments based on a requisite service period of four years of con�nuous service and may contain performance condi�ons related to
produc�on and other targets. Stock op�ons granted under the 2015 Stock Plan may be exercised only upon the occurrence of a Change in Control (as defined under the 2015 Stock Plan,
which includes an IPO), which is a performance condi�on. RSUs generally vest in quarterly installments based on a requisite service period of four years of con�nuous service, upon the later
of the quarterly vest date and six months a�er the occurrence of an IPO (as defined under the Stock Plans), which is a performance condi�on. Achievement of the Change in Control- and
IPO-based performance condi�ons of stock op�ons and RSUs granted under the 2015 Stock Plan is not deemed to be probable un�l such events occur. Therefore, no awards granted under
the 2015 Stock Plan vested, were expected to vest, or were exercisable prior to the Company’s November 2021 IPO. Accordingly, the Company recognized no stock-based compensa�on
expense prior to the IPO.

In January 2021, the Company granted a stock op�on covering 27 million shares valued at $241 million to its CEO. A por�on of the stock op�on contains only a service condi�on, which vests
over a requisite service period of six years following a Qualified IPO (as defined within the award). The other por�on of the stock op�on contains both a service and a market condi�on,
which vests in installments based on the achievement of share price goals following a Qualified IPO , measured over a specified period ending on the tenth anniversary of the award.

During June 2021, the Company modified the service-based ves�ng terms of approximately 17 million RSUs. As achievement of the performance condi�on of the RSUs was not considered
probable both before and a�er the modifica�on, the fair value of the RSUs was remeasured on the date of modifica�on, which resulted in an increase in unrecognized stock-based
compensa�on cost of approximately $322 million. During October 2021, the Company modified the service-based ves�ng terms of approximately 5 million stock op�ons. As achievement of
the performance condi�on of the stock op�ons was not considered probable both before and a�er the modifica�on, the fair value of the stock op�ons was remeasured on the date of
modifica�on, which resulted in an increase in unrecognized stock-based compensa�on cost of approximately $275 million.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s stock op�on and restricted stock unit ac�vity during the year ended December 31, 2021:

Stock Op�ons RSUs
Weighted
Average Weighted

Number of Weighted Remaining Aggregate Number of Average
Shares Average Contractual Intrinsic Value Shares Grant Date

(in millions) Exercise Price Life (years) (in millions) (in millions) Fair Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 39 $ 4.19 12 $ 7.24 

Granted 29 22.06 26 43.94 
Exercised / Vested (1) 3.29 — — 
Forfeited / Cancelled (2) 4.73 (1) 27.36 

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 65 $ 12.06 7.7 $ 6,018 37 $ 31.24 

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2021 65 $ 12.06 7.7 $ 6,018 37 $ 31.24 
Exercisable at December 31, 2021 22 $ 3.95 6.6 $ 2,161 — $ — 

The weighted-average fair value of stock op�ons granted during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 was $1.26, $2.28, and $10.03, respec�vely. There were no stock op�ons
exercised during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock op�ons exercised during the year ended December 31, 2021 was $127 million. There
were no RSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2019, and the weighted-average fair value of RSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $7.23.

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020, the Company recognized no stock-based compensa�on expense for the Stock Plans and ESPP. The following table summarizes
Company’s stock-based compensa�on expense for the Stock Plans and ESPP recognized for the year ended December 31, 2021 by line item in the Consolidated Statements of Opera�ons (in
millions):

December 31, 2021
Cost of revenues $ 16 
Research and development 277 
Selling, general, and administra�ve 277 

Total stock-based compensa�on expense for the Stock Plans and ESPP $ 570 

The stock-based compensa�on expense for the Stock Plans recognized for the year ended December 31, 2021 reflects the fair value of stock op�ons and RSUs that are vested as of
December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s unrecognized stock-based compensa�on expense for awards outstanding under the Stock Plans was approximately $1,491
million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.8 years.

Fair Value Assump�ons

The fair value of the stock op�ons granted to the CEO in January 2021 was es�mated using a Monte Carlo simula�on capturing scenarios of the Company's projected stock price over the
ten-year �me horizon, with the resul�ng intrinsic value at maturity of the stock op�ons in each scenario discounted to present value.
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The assump�ons used in the Monte Carlo simula�on are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Vola�lity 50.0 %
Dividend yield — %
Risk-free rate 1.1 %
Maturity (in years) 10.0
Ini�al stock price $21.72

The exercise price of all stock op�ons granted during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 was equal to or greater than the fair market value of Rivian's stock at the date of
grant. The Company generally es�mates the fair value of stock op�ons using a Black-Scholes op�on pricing model. Expected vola�lity is based on historical vola�lity rates of peer companies.
The dividend yield is es�mated based on the rate at which the Company expects to provide dividends. The risk-free rate is based on the United States Treasury yield curve for zero-coupon
Treasury notes with maturi�es approxima�ng the respec�ve expected term of the stock op�on. The expected term represents the average �me the Company’s stock op�ons are expected to
be outstanding. As the stock op�ons were not exercisable prior to the IPO, the Company does not have sufficient historical exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to
es�mate expected term. As a result, for stock op�ons, the expected term is es�mated based on the weighted-average midpoint of expected vest date and expira�on date.

The weighted-average assump�ons used in the Black-Scholes op�on pricing model for stock op�ons granted during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Vola�lity 34.5 % 41.3 % 49.5 %
Dividend yield — % — % — %
Risk-free rate 1.8 % 0.3 % 1.1 %
Expected term (in years) 6.9 5.3 5.6

Prior to the Company’s IPO, the stock price input to the es�mated fair value of stock op�ons and the fair value of RSUs was measured on the grant date (or modifica�on date, if appropriate)
based on an independent appraisal of the fair market value of the Company’s common stock. The independent appraisal used a market approach with an adjustment for lack of
marketability given that the shares underlying the awards were not publicly traded. This assessment required complex and subjec�ve judgments regarding the Company’s projected financial
results. The appraisal incorporated a backsolve method to the Company’s most recent equity issuance and a PWERM that es�mated equity value in an IPO scenario. The fair value of a share
of the Company’s common stock was es�mated by weigh�ng the backsolve and PWERM valua�on methods based on the an�cipated probability of an IPO as of each valua�on date.

In light of ini�al informa�on received in es�ma�on of the Company’s IPO price range and the proximity of stock-based awards granted from July 20, 2021 to the IPO, the Company
established the fair value of a share of the Company’s common stock applicable to stock op�ons and RSUs granted from July 20, 2021 onward using a straight-line interpola�on from the July
20, 2021 fair value es�mated using an independent appraisal to the midpoint of the ini�al price range in order to calculate unrecognized stock-based compensa�on expense.

The grant-date fair value of stock op�ons granted a�er the IPO is measured using the Black-Scholes op�on pricing model described above. The grant-date fair value of RSUs granted a�er the
IPO is equal to the closing trading price of the Company‘s common stock on the grant date.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In November 2021, the Company adopted the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). The ESPP is designed to allow eligible employees to purchase shares of Class A common stock at
a 15% discount, generally at intervals of approximately six months, with their accumulated payroll deduc�ons. The number of shares of Class A common stock authorized for sale under
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the ESPP is equal to the sum of (i) 22 million shares of Class A common stock and (ii) an annual increase on the first day of each year beginning on January 1, 2022 and ending on January 1,
2031, equal to the lesser of (A) 1% of the aggregate number of shares of all classes of common stock outstanding on the last day of the immediately preceding year and (B) such smaller
number of shares of Class A common stock as determined by the board of directors; provided, however, that no more than 185 million shares of Class A common stock may be issued under
the ESPP. As of December 31, 2021, 22 million shares were reserved for issuance under the ESPP. As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s unrecognized stock-based compensa�on expense
for the first offering period of the ESPP was approximately $46 million.

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Stock Warrants

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with Amazon (Amazon.com, Inc. and its affiliates referred to as “Amazon”) to develop, manufacture,
and supply customized EVs. In connec�on with this agreement, the Company provided a share-based sales incen�ve to Amazon in the form of warrants to purchase preferred stock. In
November 2021, upon the close of the IPO, the outstanding warrants for the purchase of preferred stock converted to warrants to purchase an equivalent number of shares of Class A
common stock. The grant-date fair value of the warrants is not material and will be amor�zed as an offset against revenues in future periods; the offset against revenues for the year ended
December 31, 2021 was not material.

2021 Conver�ble Notes

In July 2021, the Company issued the 2021 Conver�ble Notes to exis�ng investors of the Company, including the following principal owners: Amazon with $490 million principal amount,
Ford Motor Company (“Ford”) with $415 million principal amount, and certain funds and accounts advised by T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. (“T. Rowe Price”) with an aggregate $400 million
principal amount. Upon the Company’s IPO, the 2021 Conver�ble Notes converted into 38 million shares of Class A common stock at a conversion price equal to $66.30 per share (refer to
Note 6 "Debt" for more informa�on about the 2021 Conver�ble Notes).

2026 Notes

In October 2021, the Company issued the 2026 Notes to new and exis�ng investors of the Company, including T. Rowe Price with an aggregate $285 million principal amount (refer to Note 6
"Debt" for more informa�on about the 2026 Notes).

Opera�ng Expenses

The Company obtains prototyping, engineering, and other R&D services from Troy Design and Manufacturing Co., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ford. The Company recognized $8 million,
$66 million and $71 million of expense for these services during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, within “Research and development” in the Consolidated Statements of
Opera�ons. As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, respec�vely, unpaid amounts of $27 million and $16 million related to these services are reported within “Accrued liabili�es” on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company obtains hos�ng services from Amazon. During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, expenses related to these services of $0, $6 million, and $30 million,
respec�vely, were recorded in “Research and development” and “Selling, general, and administra�ve” in the Consolidated Statements of Opera�ons. As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, the

unpaid amounts related to these services are not material.

11. CONTINGENTLY REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY

During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company authorized a fi�y-for-one stock split by issuing fi�y shares for each one share held. All share informa�on within the consolidated
financial statements has been retroac�vely adjusted to reflect the stock split.
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Ini�al Public Offering

In November 2021, the Company completed its IPO of approximately 176 million shares of Class A common stock at a public offering price of $78.00 per share, which included the exercise in
full by the underwriters of their op�on to purchase from the Company an addi�onal 23 million shares of the Company’s Class A common stock. The net proceeds to the Company from the
IPO, a�er deduc�ng underwri�ng discounts and commissions and es�mated offering expenses payable by the Company, were $13,530 million. Upon the close of the IPO, (i) 102 million
shares of common stock outstanding converted into an equal number of shares of Class A common stock, (ii) 8 million shares of Class A common stock held by an affiliate of the Company’s
CEO were exchanged for an equivalent number of shares of Class B common stock, (iii) all outstanding shares of con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock converted into an
aggregate 576 million shares of Class A common stock, (iv) a warrant outstanding for the purchase of 4 million shares of Series C preferred stock, with an exercise price of $9.09 per share,
converted to a warrant to purchase an equivalent number of shares of Class A common stock, (v) outstanding warrants to purchase fewer than 1 million shares of Class A common stock,
with a weighted-average exercise price of $5.66 per share, terminated unexercised, and (vi) the 2021 Conver�ble Notes converted into 38 million shares of Class A common stock at a
conversion price equal to $66.30 per share. The Company also amended and restated its cer�ficate of incorpora�on to (i) authorize the issuance of 3,500 million shares of Class A common
stock and 8 million shares of Class B common stock and (ii) authorize the issuance of 10 million shares of preferred stock.

Common Stock

The Company has two classes of common stock: Class A common stock and Class B common stock. Shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock are iden�cal, except with
respect to vo�ng and conversion rights. As of December 31, 2021, 892 million shares of Class A common stock and 8 million shares of Class B common stock were issued and outstanding. As
of December 31, 2021, 3,500 million shares of Class A common stock and 8 million shares of Class B common stock were authorized.

Each share of Class A common stock en�tles the holder to one vote, and each share of Class B common stock en�tles the holder to ten votes. Holders of Class A common stock and Class B
common stock have the right to receive any dividend declared by the Company, subject to the payment of dividends on shares of preferred stock (as described below). A�er the payment in
full of all liquida�on amounts required to be paid to the holders preferred stock, holders of common stock also have the right to receive the remaining property of the Company upon the
liquida�on, dissolu�on, or winding up of the Company on a pari passu basis among all holders of common stock.

At the op�on of the holder, shares of Class B common stock are conver�ble any�me into an equal number of shares of Class A common stock. Each outstanding share of Class B common
stock will automa�cally convert into one share of Class A common stock upon the earliest to occur of (a) the five-year anniversary the Company’s IPO, (b) the date fixed by the Board of
Directors within six months of the death or disability of the Company’s CEO, and (c) the date fixed by the Board of Directors within six months of the date that the number of outstanding
shares of Class B common stock held by the Company’s CEO represents less than 30% of the shares of Class B common stock outstanding. Any shares of Class B common stock that are no
longer owned by the Company’s CEO or their affiliates will automa�cally convert into an equal of shares of Class A common stock upon transfer of ownership.

Con�ngently Redeemable Conver�ble Preferred Stock

Each share of preferred stock outstanding prior to the IPO en�tled the holder to the number of votes equal to the number of whole shares of common stock into which the share of
preferred stock was conver�ble. Except as provided by law or by the other provisions of the Company’s Cer�ficate of Incorpora�on, the holders of preferred stock voted together with the
holders of common stock as a single class and on an “as-converted to common stock” basis. The holders of preferred stock also had vo�ng rights separate and apart from the holders of
common stock, on a single-class and single-series basis, as set forth in the Company’s Cer�ficate of Incorpora�on. Each holder of preferred stock had the right to receive dividends on a
single-series basis, in addi�on to the right to receive dividends on a pari passu basis with holders of common stock, according to the number of shares of common stock held on an “as-
converted to common stock” basis. Dividends were non-cumula�ve and were payable at a per-annum rate of eight percent of the Original Issue Price (as defined in the Company’s Cer�ficate
of Incorpora�on). As of December 31, 2021, no dividends had been declared or distributed.
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In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquida�on, dissolu�on, or winding up of the Company, the holders of preferred stock were en�tled, on a pari passu basis, to be paid out of the
assets of the Company available for distribu�on to its stockholders. In the case of a Deemed Liquida�on Event (as defined in the Company’s Cer�ficate of Incorpora�on), the holders of
preferred stock were en�tled, on a pari passu basis, to be paid out of the considera�on payable to stockholders in a Deemed Liquida�on Event or out of available proceeds, as applicable,
based upon the greater of (i) the Original Issue Price plus declared but unpaid dividends and (ii) the amount which would be payable on an “if converted to common stock” basis, before any
payment would have been made to the holders of common stock. Each share of preferred stock was conver�ble into one share of common stock any�me at the op�on of the holder, or
automa�cally upon a Qualified IPO (as defined in the Company’s Cer�ficate of Incorpora�on). The conversion rate was subject to adjustment upon issuance or sale (or deemed issuance or
sale) of common stock for a considera�on per share less than the conversion price in effect immediately prior to the issuance or sale.

Since the preferred stock was con�ngently redeemable upon a Deemed Liquida�on Event, it was classified as mezzanine equity of $5,244 million as of December 31, 2020. During the year
ended December 31, 2021, approximately 72 million shares of Series F con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock were issued.

Con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock consisted of the following shares as of December 31, 2020 (in millions)):

Con�ngently Redeemable Conver�ble Preferred Stock Shares Authorized Shares Outstanding
Carrying and Liquida�on

Value
Series A 118 118 $ 600 
Series B 66 66 500 
Series C 42 39 350 
Series D 121 121 1,297 
Series E 161 161 2,497 

Total 508 504 $ 5,244 

Preferred Stock

No shares of preferred stock are outstanding as of December 31, 2021. As of December 31, 2021, 10 million shares of preferred stock were authorized.

Stock Warrants

The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s outstanding warrants to purchase common stock:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining

Shares Exercise Contractual
Common Stock Warrants (in millions) Price Term
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 8 $ 6.00 7.6

Granted — — 
Transferred from preferred stock warrant 4 9.09 
Exercised — — 
Cancelled, forfeited or expired — 5.66 

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 12 $ 6.84 7.0

Exercisable at December 31, 2021 12 $ 6.84 7.0

The weighted average grant date fair value of common stock warrants granted during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020 was $2.30 and $4.30, respec�vely.
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The following table summarizes the changes in the Company’s outstanding warrants to purchase preferred stock:

Weighted
Average

Shares Exercise
Preferred Stock Warrants (in millions) Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 4 $ 9.09 

Granted — — 
Exercised — — 
Cancelled, forfeited, expired, or converted (4) (9.09)

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 — $ — 

Exercisable at December 31, 2021 — $ — 

Fair Value Assump�ons

The Company es�mates the fair value of each stock warrant using a Black-Scholes warrant pricing model. Expected vola�lity is based on historical vola�lity rates of peer companies. The
dividend yield is es�mated based on the rate at which the Company expects to provide dividends. The risk-free rate is based on the United States Treasury yield curve for Treasury Separate
Trading of Registered Interest and Principal of Securi�es (“STRIPS") with maturi�es approxima�ng each grant’s contractual life.

The weighted-average assump�ons used in the Black-Scholes model for warrants granted during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2020 are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2020

Vola�lity 44.4 % 54.7 %
Dividend yield — % — %
Risk-free rate 1.9 % 0.7 %
Contractual term (in years) 10.0 10.0

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Legal Proceedings

Liabili�es for loss con�ngencies arising from claims, assessments, li�ga�on, fines and penal�es, and other sources are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the
related amount can be reasonably es�mated. If an amount within the range of loss appears at the �me to be a be�er es�mate than any other amount within the range, the liability is
recorded at that amount. When no amount within the range is a be�er es�mate than any other amount, however; the liability is recorded at the minimum amount in the range. If a loss is
reasonably possible and the amount of the loss or range of loss cannot be reasonably es�mated, the Company discloses the nature of the possible loss and states that such an es�mate
cannot be made. Legal costs related to con�ngencies are recognized as expenses as they are incurred.

The Company is involved in legal proceedings and while it is not possible to predict the outcome of these ma�ers with certainty, the Company has developed an ini�al es�mate of the range
of outcomes related to unse�led obliga�ons, primarily related to some supplier contract termina�ons, ranging from $16 million to $20 million. As of December 31, 2020 and 2021, the
Company recorded an es�mated liability for unse�led obliga�ons of $21 million and $17 million, respec�vely, within “Accrued liabili�es” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The majority of
the ma�ers for which an es�mated obliga�on has been recorded are expected to be se�led during the year ended December 31, 2022.
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Uncondi�onal Purchase Obliga�ons

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company entered into unrecognized commitments that require the future purchase of goods or services (“uncondi�onal purchase
obliga�ons”). The Company’s uncondi�onal purchase obliga�ons primarily relate to near-term inventory purchase requirements and vary by vendor and payments for hos�ng services from
Amazon (refer to Note 10 "Related Party Transac�ons" for further informa�on). As of December 31, 2021, the Company was obligated to make inventory purchases of approximately $63
million during the next year. Future payments under uncondi�onal purchase obliga�ons having a remaining term in excess of one year as of December 31, 2021 are as follows (in millions):

Future Payments
2022 $ 31 
2023 19 
2024 and therea�er 8 

Total $ 58 

13. NET LOSS PER SHARE

The Company's basic net loss per share is calculated by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period, a�er alloca�ng losses to
equity awards deemed to be par�cipa�ng securi�es pursuant to the two-class method. Upon comple�on of the IPO during November 2021, all outstanding shares of common stock and
con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock automa�cally converted into an equal number of shares of Class A common stock, and approximately 8 million shares of Class A
common stock were exchanged for an equivalent number of shares of Class B common stock. Except with respect to vo�ng, the rights, including liquida�on and dividend rights, of the
holders of Class A and Class B common stock are iden�cal (see Note 11 "Con�ngently Redeemable Conver�ble Preferred Stock and Stockholders' (Deficit) Equity"). Accordingly, the
undistributed earnings are allocated on a propor�onate basis and as a result, net loss per share a�ributable to common stockholders is the same for Class A and Class B common stock,
whether on an individual or combined basis.

Prior to the IPO, the Company considered shares of con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock to be par�cipa�ng securi�es because they par�cipated in any dividends declared on
the Company's common stock on an “if-converted to common stock” basis. Holders of con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock did not par�cipate in the net loss per share with
common stockholders, as they did not have a contractual obliga�on to share in the Company's losses.
Diluted net loss per share is computed by giving effect to all poten�al shares of common stock, to the extent dilu�ve, including stock op�ons, unvested RSUs, and stock warrants. Poten�al
shares of common stock are excluded from the computa�on of diluted net loss per share if their effect would have been an�-dilu�ve for the periods presented or if the issuance of shares is
con�ngent upon events that did not occur by the end of the period, in the case of stock op�ons with a market condi�on. The number of poten�al shares of common stock outstanding at
period-end that were excluded from the computa�on of diluted net loss per share is as follows (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Stock warrants 11 12 12 
Con�ngently redeemable conver�ble preferred stock 343 504 — 
Stock op�ons 36 39 65 
Restricted stock units — 12 37 

Total 390 567 114 
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A reconcilia�on of the numerator and denominator in the calcula�on of basic and diluted net loss per share is as follows (in millions, except per share data):

Years Ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Numerator
Net loss a�ributable to Rivian $ (426) $ (1,018) $ (4,688)
Less: Premium on repurchase of conver�ble preferred stock — (1) — 

Net loss a�ributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (426) $ (1,019) $ (4,688)

Denominator
Weighted-average common shares outstanding - basic 98 101 204 
Effect of dilu�ve securi�es — — — 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding - diluted 98 101 204 

Net loss per share a�ributable to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ (4.35) $ (10.09) $ (22.98)
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accoun�ng and Financial Disclosures

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evalua�on of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the par�cipa�on of our Chief Execu�ve Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evalua�on of the effec�veness of the design and opera�on of our disclosure
controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this Form 10-K. Based on the evalua�on of our
disclosure controls and procedures, our Chief Execu�ve Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effec�ve at the reasonable
assurance level as of December 31, 2021 due to the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial repor�ng described below.

Previously Reported Material Weakness

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combina�on of deficiencies, in our internal control over financial repor�ng such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of
our annual or interim consolidated financial statements would not be prevented or detected on a �mely basis.

As disclosed in the final prospectus, as filed with the SEC in connec�on with our IPO, we previously iden�fied material weaknesses in our internal control over financial repor�ng related to
controls to address segrega�on of du�es across financially relevant func�ons and informa�on technology (“IT”)general controls over our Enterprise Resource Planning systems, applica�ons,
and tools used in financial repor�ng. We have concluded that these material weaknesses con�nue to exist as of December 31, 2021. The deficiencies iden�fied did not result in a material
misstatement to our financial statements.

Remedia�on Plans

The material weaknesses described above arose because as a private company prior to our IPO, coupled with the rapid growth in our business, we did not have the business processes,
systems, personnel, and related internal controls necessary to sa�sfy the accoun�ng and financial repor�ng requirements of a public company.

We have taken and will con�nue to take ac�on to remediate these material weaknesses, including:
• implementa�on of processes and controls to be�er iden�fy and manage segrega�on of du�es risks;    
• implementa�on of IT general controls to manage access and program changes within our IT environment and to support the evalua�on, monitoring, and ongoing effec�veness of

key applica�on controls and key reports; and    
• con�nued hiring of addi�onal accoun�ng, finance, IT and other business process resources with public company and internal control experience to be�er assess and manage our

segrega�on of du�es and IT general control risks.

We believe we are making progress toward achieving effec�veness of our internal control over financial repor�ng. The ac�ons that we are taking are subject to ongoing management review
and audit commi�ee oversight. We will not be able to conclude whether the steps we are taking will fully remediate the material weaknesses in our internal control over financial repor�ng
un�l we have completed our remedia�on efforts and subsequently evaluated their effec�veness. We may also conclude that addi�onal measures are required to remediate the material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial repor�ng.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repor�ng

This Form 10-K does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial repor�ng, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act, or an a�esta�on report of our independent registered public accoun�ng firm due to a transi�on period established by the rules of the SEC for newly public companies.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Repor�ng

Except for the remedia�on measures in connec�on with the material weaknesses described above, there were no changes in our internal control over financial repor�ng, as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act, during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial repor�ng.

Limita�on on Effec�veness of Controls and Procedures

In designing and evalua�ng our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any control system, no ma�er how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance of achieving the desired control objec�ves. Further, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evalua�ng the benefits of possible controls and procedures rela�ve to their costs. In addi�on, projec�ons of any
evalua�on of effec�veness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in condi�ons, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Item 9B. Other Informa�on

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdic�on that Prevent Inspec�ons

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Execu�ve Officers and Corporate Governance

The informa�on required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 Annual Mee�ng of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Execu�ve Compensa�on

The informa�on required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 Annual Mee�ng of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Stockholder Ma�ers

The informa�on required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 Annual Mee�ng of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Rela�onships and Related Transac�ons, and Director Independence

The informa�on required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 Annual Mee�ng of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021 and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accoun�ng Fees and Services

The informa�on required by this Item will be included in our Proxy Statement for our 2022 Annual Mee�ng of Shareholders to be filed with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2021 and is incorporated herein by reference.
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RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Exhibit Index
Incorporated by Reference

Exhibit Number Exhibit Title Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
3.1 Amended and Restated Cer�ficate of Incorpora�on of Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. 8-K 001-41042 3.1 11/16/2021
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. 8-K 001-41042 3.2 11/16/2021
4.1 Specimen Stock Cer�ficate evidencing the shares of Class A common stock S-1/A 333-259992 4.1 11/01/2021

4.2 Fi�h Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of January 19, 2021, by and
among the Registrant and certain holders of its capital stock, as amended S-1/A 333-259992 4.2 10/22/2021

4.3* Descrip�on of Capital Stock

10.1# 2015 Long-Term Incen�ve Plan, as amended, and forms of op�on and restricted stock unit
agreements thereunder S-1/A 333-259992 10.1 11/01/2021

10.2# 2021 Incen�ve Award Plan and forms of op�on and restricted stock unit agreements thereunder S-1/A 333-259992 10.2 11/01/2021
10.3# Non-Employee Director Compensa�on Program S-1/A 333-259992 10.3 11/01/2021
10.4# 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan S-1/A 333-259992 10.4 11/01/2021
10.5# Form of Indemnifica�on Agreement for Directors and Officers S-1/A 333-259992 10.5 11/01/2021

10.6
Credit Agreement, dated as of May 20, 2021, by and among Rivian Holdings, LLC, as Borrower
Representa�ve, the borrowers party thereto, the lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as Administra�ve Agent.

S-1/A 333-259992 10.6 10/22/2021

10.7# Employment Agreement by and between Rivian Automo�ve, LLC and Robert Joseph Scaringe S-1/A 333-259992 10.7 11/01/2021

104

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521330226/d249317dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521330226/d249317dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521305592/d157488dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex103.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex104.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex105.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521305592/d157488dex106.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex107.htm


RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

10.8# Employment Agreement by and between Rivian Automo�ve, LLC and Jiten Behl S-1/A 333-259992 10.8 11/01/2021
10.9# Employment Agreement by and between Rivian Automo�ve, LLC and Claire McDonough S-1/A 333-259992 10.9 11/01/2021

10.10# Employment Agreement, dated as of April 24, 2018, by and between Rivian Automo�ve, LLC and
Ryan Green S-1/A 333-259992 10.10 11/01/2021

10.11# Transi�on and Release Agreement, dated as of March 2, 2021, by and between Rivian
Automo�ve, LLC and Ryan Green S-1/A 333-259992 10.11 11/01/2021

10.12† Framework Agreement, dated as of September 16, 2019, by and between Rivian Automo�ve, LLC
and Amazon Logis�cs, Inc. S-1 333-259992 10.12 10/01/2021

10.13† Work Order No. #1 to the Framework Agreement, dated as of September 16, 2019, by and
between Rivian Automo�ve, LLC and Amazon Logis�cs, Inc.htm S-1 333-259992 10.13 10/01/2021

10.14† Commercial Le�er Agreement, dated as of February 15, 2019, by and between Rivian
Automo�ve, Inc. and Amazon.com, Inc. S-1 333-259992 10.14 10/01/2021

10.15† Amendment to Commercial Le�er Agreement, dated as of September 6, 2019, by and between
Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. and Amazon.com, Inc. S-1 333-259992 10.15 10/01/2021

10.16† Master Services Agreement, dated as of May 7, 2021, by and between Rivian, LLC and Cox
Automo�ve Corporate Services, LLC S-1 333-259992 10.16 10/01/2021

10.17† Statement of Work for Consignment Services, dated as of June 21, 2021, by and between Rivian,
LLC and Manheim Remarke�ng, Inc. S-1 333-259992 10.17 10/01/2021

10.18† Development, Produc�on and Supply Agreement, dated as of April 16, 2021, by and between
Rivian Automo�ve, LLC and Troy Design and Manufacturing Co. S-1 333-259992 10.18 10/01/2021

10.19
Indenture, dated as of October 8, 2021, by and among Rivian Holdings, LLC, Rivian, LLC, Rivian
Automo�ve, LLC, the guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Trust, Na�onal Associa�on, as
trustee and collateral agent.

S-1/A 333-259992 10.19 10/22/2021

10.20 Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 8, 2021, by and among Rivian Holdings, LLC,
Rivian, LLC, Rivian Automo�ve, LLC and the purchasers party thereto. S-1/A 333-259992 10.20 10/22/2021

105

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex108.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex109.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex1010.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex1011.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521289903/d157488dex1012.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex1013.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521315537/d157488dex1014.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521289903/d157488dex1015.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521289903/d157488dex1016.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521289903/d157488dex1017.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521289903/d157488dex1018.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521305592/d157488dex1019.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001874178/000119312521305592/d157488dex1020.htm
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10.21 Amendment to the Warrant to Purchase Series C Preferred Stock, dated as of October 31, 2021,
by and between Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. and Amazon.com NV Investment Holdings LLC. S-1/A 333-259992 10.21 11/01/2021

10.22 Director Nomina�on Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2021, by and between Rivian
Automo�ve, Inc. and Amazon.com, Inc. S-1/A 333-259992 10.22 11/01/2021

21.1* List of Subsidiaries of Rivian Automo�ve, Inc.
23.1* Consent of KPMG, LLP, Independent Registered Public Accoun�ng Firm
31.1* Cer�fica�on of Principal Execu�ve Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
31.2* Cer�fica�on of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a)
32.1** Cer�fica�on of Chief Execu�ve Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec�on 1350
32.2** Cer�fica�on of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec�on 1350

101.INS* Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interac�ve Data
File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calcula�on Linkbase Document
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Defini�on Linkbase Document
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presenta�on Linkbase Document
104* Cover Page Interac�ve Data File (forma�ed as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)

* Filed herewith.

** Furnished herewith.

# Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

† Por�ons of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) have been redacted in compliance with Regula�on S-K Item 601(b)(10)(iv).
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sec�on 13 or 15(d) of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

RIVIAN AUTOMOTIVE, INC.

By: /s/ Robert J. Scaringe
Robert J. Scaringe
Chief Execu�ve Officer, Chairman of the Board of Directors

Date: March 31, 2022 (Principal Execu�ve Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capaci�es and on the
dates indicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/ Robert J. Scaringe Chief Execu�ve Officer, Chairman of the Board of Directors March 31, 2022
Robert J. Scaringe (Principal Execu�ve Officer)

/s/ Claire McDonough Chief Financial Officer March 31, 2022
Claire McDonough (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Jeffrey R. Baker Chief Accoun�ng Officer March 31, 2022
Jeffrey R. Baker (Principal Accoun�ng Officer)

/s/ Karen Boone Director March 31, 2022
Karen Boone

/s/ Sanford Schwartz Director March 31, 2022
Sanford Schwartz

/s/ Rose Marcario Director March 31, 2022
Rose Marcario

/s/ Peter Krawiec Director March 31, 2022
Peter Krawiec

/s/ Jay Flatley Director March 31, 2022
Jay Flatley

/s/ Pamela Thomas-Graham Director March 31, 2022
Pamela Thomas-Graham
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Exhibit 4.3
DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following descrip�on of the capital stock of Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our”) and certain provisions of our amended and restated cer�ficate of
incorpora�on, as amended from �me to �me (the “amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on”) and amended and restated bylaws, as amended from �me to �me (the “amended
and restated bylaws”) is a summary and is qualified in its en�rety by reference to the full text of our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on and amended and restated bylaws
and applicable provisions of the General Corpora�on Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”). Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on authorizes capital stock consis�ng of:

• 3,500,000,000 shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.001 per share;

• 7,825,000 shares of Class B common stock, par value $0.001 per share; and

• 10,000,000 shares of undesignated preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share.

We have no shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding. The following summary describes the material provisions of our capital stock.

Common Stock

We have two classes of authorized common stock: Class A common stock and Class B common stock. The rights of the holders of each class of our common stock are iden�cal, except with
respect to vo�ng and conversion rights.

Vo�ng Rights

Each holder of our Class A common stock is en�tled to one vote per share, and each holder of our Class B common stock is en�tled to ten votes per share, on all ma�ers submi�ed to a vote
of the stockholders. The holders of our Class A and Class B common stock generally vote together as a single class on all ma�ers submi�ed to a vote of our stockholders, unless otherwise
required by Delaware law or our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on. Delaware law could require either holders of our Class A common stock or Class B common stock to vote
separately as a single class in the following circumstances:

• if we were to seek to amend our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on to increase or decrease the par value of a class of our capital stock, then that class would be
required to vote separately to approve the proposed amendment; and

• if we were to seek to amend our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on in a manner that alters or changes the powers, preferences, or special rights of a class of our
capital stock in a manner that affected its holders adversely, then that class would be required to vote separately to approve the proposed amendment.

Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on does not provide for cumula�ve vo�ng for the elec�on of directors.

Dividend Rights

Subject to preferences that may apply to any shares of preferred stock outstanding at the �me, the holders of our Class A and Class B common stock are en�tled to receive dividends out of
funds legally available if our board of directors, in its discre�on, determines to issue dividends and then only at the �mes and in the amounts that our board of directors may determine.



Conversion

Each outstanding share of Class B common stock is conver�ble at any �me at the op�on of the holder into one share of Class A common stock. In addi�on, each share of Class B common
stock will convert automa�cally into one share of Class A common stock upon any transfer, whether or not for value, which occurs a�er the comple�on of this offering, except for certain
permi�ed transfers further described in our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on, including estate planning or charitable transfers where exclusive vo�ng control with respect
to the shares of Class B common stock is retained by our Founder and Chief Execu�ve Officer and transfers to affiliates or certain other related en��es of our Founder and Chief Execu�ve
Officer.

All outstanding shares of our Class B common stock will automa�cally convert into one share of Class A common stock at 5:00 p.m. New York City �me on the earliest to occur of (1) a date
fixed by our board of directors that is not less than 60 days nor more than 180 days following the death or disability of our Founder and Chief Execu�ve Officer, (2) the five year anniversary
of the date of the closing of our ini�al public offering and (3) the date fixed by the board of directors of the Company that is no less than 61 days and no more than 180 days following the
date that the number of outstanding shares of Class B common stock held by our Founder and Chief Execu�ve Officer and certain permi�ed transferees represents less than 30% of the
shares of Class B common stock held by an affiliate of our Founder and Chief Execu�ve Officer immediately following our ini�al public offering.

Once converted into Class A common stock, the Class B common stock may not be reissued.

Right to Receive Liquida�on Distribu�ons

Upon our liquida�on, dissolu�on or winding up, the assets legally available for distribu�on to our stockholders would be distributable ratably among the holders of our Class A common
stock and Class B common stock and any par�cipa�ng preferred stock outstanding at that �me, subject to the prior sa�sfac�on of all outstanding debt and liabili�es and the preferen�al
rights of and the payment of liquida�on preferences, if any, on any shares of preferred stock outstanding at that �me.

No Preemp�ve or Similar Rights

Our Class A common stock and Class B common stock is not en�tled to preemp�ve rights and is not subject to redemp�on or sinking fund provisions. The rights, preferences and privileges
of the holders of our common stock will be subject to and may be adversely affected by the rights of the holders of shares of any series of our preferred stock that we may designate in the
future.

Fully Paid and Non-Assessable

All outstanding shares of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock are fully paid and non-assessable.

Preferred Stock

Pursuant to the provisions of our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on, our board of directors is authorized, subject to limita�ons prescribed by Delaware law, to issue preferred
stock in one or more series, to establish from �me to �me the number of shares to be included in each series, and to fix the designa�on, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of
each series and any of its qualifica�ons, limita�ons or restric�ons, in each case without further vote or ac�on by our stockholders. Our board of directors can also increase or decrease the
number of shares of any series of preferred stock, but not below the number of shares of that series then outstanding, without any further vote or ac�on by our stockholders. Our board of
directors may authorize the issuance of preferred stock with vo�ng or conversion rights that could adversely affect the vo�ng power or other rights of the holders of our common stock. The
issuance of preferred stock, while providing flexibility in connec�on with possible acquisi�ons and other corporate purposes, could, among other things, have the effect of delaying,



deferring or preven�ng a change in control of the Company and might adversely affect the market price of our common stock and the vo�ng and other rights of the holders of our common
stock.

Warrants

As of December 31, 2021, there were outstanding warrants to purchase approximately 8 million shares of Class A common stock and an outstanding warrant to purchase approximately 4
million shares of Class A common stock.

Registra�on Rights

Holders of certain outstanding shares of our common stock are en�tled to rights with respect to the registra�on of these shares under the Securi�es Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securi�es Act”). These rights are provided under the terms of our fi�h amended and restated investors’ rights agreement (“IRA”) and include demand registra�on rights, Form S-3
registra�on rights, and piggyback registra�on rights. The registra�on of shares of our common stock by the exercise of registra�on rights described below would enable the holders to sell
these shares without restric�on under the Securi�es Act when the applicable registra�on statement is declared effec�ve. The registra�on rights set forth in the IRA terminate upon the
earlier to occur of (i) three years following the comple�on of our ini�al public offering, (ii) a Deemed Liquida�on Event (as defined in the IRA) and (iii) with respect to any par�cular
stockholder, such �me such stockholder is able to sell all of its Registrable Securi�es (as defined in the IRA), without restric�on pursuant to Rule 144 or another similar exemp�on during any
three-month period without registra�on. We will pay the registra�on expenses (other than any underwri�ng discounts and selling commissions) of the holders of the shares registered for
sale pursuant to the registra�ons described below, including the reasonable fees of one counsel for the selling holders not to exceed $50,000. However, we will not be required to bear the
expenses in connec�on with the exercise of the demand registra�on rights of a registra�on if the request is subsequently withdrawn at the request of the selling stockholders holding a
majority of securi�es to be registered. In an underwri�en public offering, the underwriters have the right, subject to specified condi�ons, to limit the number of shares such holders may
include.

Demand Registra�on Rights

Certain holders of our common stock are en�tled to certain demand registra�on rights. At any �me beginning 180 days a�er the comple�on of our ini�al public offering, the holders of at
least a majority of the shares subject to demand registra�on rights then outstanding can request that we register the offer and sale of their shares on a registra�on statement on Form S-1 if
we are eligible to file a registra�on statement on Form S-1 so long as the request covers at least that number of shares with an an�cipated offering price, net of underwri�ng discounts and
commissions, of at least $100 million. We are obligated to effect only two such registra�ons. If we determine that it would be materially detrimental to us and our stockholders to effect such
a demand registra�on, we have the right to defer such registra�on, not more than once in any 12-month period, for a period of up to 120 days. In addi�on, we will not be required to effect
a demand registra�on during the period beginning 60 days prior to our good faith es�mate of the date of the filing of and ending on a date 180 days following the effec�veness of a
registra�on statement ini�ated by us.

Form S-3 Registra�on Rights

Certain holders of our common stock are en�tled to certain Form S-3 registra�on rights. The holders of at least 20% of the shares subject to Form S-3 registra�on rights then outstanding
may make a wri�en request that we register the offer and sale of their shares on a registra�on statement on Form S-3 if we are eligible to file a registra�on statement on Form S-3 so long as
the request covers at least that number of shares with an an�cipated offering price, net of underwri�ng discounts and commissions, of at least $25 million. These stockholders may make an
unlimited number of requests for registra�on on Form S-3; however, we will not be required to effect a registra�on on Form S-3 if we have effected two such registra�ons within the 12-
month period preceding the date of the request. If we determine that it would be materially detrimental to us and our stockholders to effect such a registra�on, we have the right to defer
such registra�on, not more than once in any 12-month period, for a period



of up to 120 days. In addi�on, we will not be required to effect a demand registra�on during the period beginning 30 days prior to our good faith es�mate of the date of the filing of and
ending on a date 90 days following the effec�veness of a registra�on statement ini�ated by us.

Piggyback Registra�on Rights

If we propose to register the offer and sale of our Class A common stock under the Securi�es Act in connec�on with the public offering of such Class A common stock, certain holders of our
common stock will be en�tled to certain “piggyback” registra�on rights allowing the holders to include their shares in such registra�on, subject to certain marke�ng and other limita�ons,
which, in the case of an underwri�en offering, will be in the sole discre�on of the underwriters. As a result, whenever we propose to file a registra�on statement under the Securi�es Act,
other than with respect to (i) a registra�on related solely to a company stock plan, (ii) a registra�on rela�ng to a corporate reorganiza�on or transac�on under Rule 145 of the Securi�es Act,
(iii) a registra�on on any form that does not include substan�ally the same informa�on as would be required to be included in a registra�on statement covering the public offering of our
Class A common stock, or (iv) a registra�on in which the only Class A common stock being registered is Class A common stock issuable upon the conversion of debt securi�es that are also
being registered, the holders of these shares are en�tled to no�ce of the registra�on and have the right, subject to certain limita�ons, to include their shares in the registra�on.

An�-Takeover Provisions

The provisions of Delaware law, our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on and our amended and restated bylaws could have the effect of delaying, deferring, or discouraging
another person from acquiring control of the Company. These provisions, which are summarized below, may have the effect of discouraging takeover bids. They are also designed, in part, to
encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to nego�ate first with our board of directors. We believe that the benefits of increased protec�on of our poten�al ability to nego�ate
with an unfriendly or unsolicited acquirer outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging a proposal to acquire us because nego�a�on of these proposals could result in an improvement of
their terms.

Delaware Law

We are subject to the provisions of Sec�on 203 of the DGCL regula�ng corporate takeovers. In general, DGCL Sec�on 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corpora�on from engaging in a
“business combina�on” with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years following the date on which the person became an interested stockholder unless:

• prior to the date of the transac�on, the board of directors of the corpora�on approved either the business combina�on or the transac�on which resulted in the stockholder
becoming an interested stockholder;

• the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the vo�ng stock of the corpora�on outstanding at the �me the transac�on commenced, excluding for purposes of determining
the vo�ng stock outstanding, but not the outstanding vo�ng stock owned by the interested stockholder, (1) shares owned by persons who are directors and also officers and (2)
shares owned by employee stock plans in which employee par�cipants do not have the right to determine confiden�ally whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in
a tender or exchange offer; or

• at or subsequent to the date of the transac�on, the business combina�on is approved by the board of directors of the corpora�on and authorized at an annual or special mee�ng
of stockholders, and not by wri�en consent, by the affirma�ve vote of at least two-thirds of the outstanding vo�ng stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.



Generally, a “business combina�on” includes a merger, asset or stock sale, or other transac�on or series of transac�ons together resul�ng in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder.
An “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with affiliates and associates, owns or, within three years prior to the determina�on of interested stockholder status, did own 15% or
more of a corpora�on’s outstanding vo�ng stock. We expect the existence of this provision to have an an�-takeover effect with respect to transac�ons our board of directors does not
approve in advance. We also an�cipate that DGCL Sec�on 203 may also discourage a�empts that might result in a premium over the market price for the shares of common stock held by
stockholders.

Amended and Restated Cer�ficate of Incorpora�on and Amended and Restated Bylaw Provisions

Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on and our amended and restated bylaws contain provisions that could make the following ac�ons and transac�ons, among others, more
difficult: acquisi�on of us by means of a tender offer; acquisi�on of us by means of a proxy contest or otherwise; or removal of our incumbent officers and directors. It is possible that these
provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish or could deter transac�ons that stockholders may otherwise consider to be in their best interest or in our best interests, including
transac�ons that might result in a premium over the market price for our shares. These provisions, summarized below, are expected to discourage coercive takeover prac�ces and
inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first nego�ate with our board of directors. We believe that the
benefits of increased protec�on of our poten�al ability to nego�ate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure us outweigh the disadvantages of
discouraging these proposals because nego�a�on of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.

Dual Class Stock

As described above in the subsec�on �tled “Common Stock—Vo�ng Rights,” our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on provides for a dual class common stock structure, which
provides our Founder and Chief Execu�ve Officer with significant influence over all ma�ers requiring stockholder approval, including the elec�on of directors and significant corporate
transac�ons, such as a merger or other sale of our company or its assets.

Undesignated Preferred Stock

The ability to authorize undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our board of directors to issue preferred stock with vo�ng or other rights or preferences that could impede the
success of any a�empt to effect a change in control of our company. These and other provisions may have the effect of deterring hos�le takeovers or delaying changes in control or
management of our company.

Special Stockholder Mee�ngs

Our amended and restated bylaws provide that a special mee�ng of stockholders may only be called by an officer of our company pursuant to a resolu�on adopted by a majority of our
board of directors then in office or the chairperson of our board of directors.

Stockholder Ac�on by Wri�en Consent

Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on provides that no ac�on may be taken by our stockholders by wri�en consent.

Requirements for Advance No�fica�on of Stockholder Proposals and Nomina�ons

Our amended and restated bylaws contain advance no�ce procedures with respect to stockholder proposals and the nomina�on of candidates for elec�on as directors, other than
nomina�ons made by or at the direc�on of the board of directors or a commi�ee of the board of directors.



Classified Board; Elec�on and Removal of Directors; Filling Vacancies

Our board of directors is divided into three classes, divided as nearly as equal in number as possible. The directors in each class serve for a three-year term, one class being elected each year
by our stockholders, with staggered three-year terms. Only one class of directors will be elected at each annual mee�ng of our stockholders, with the other classes con�nuing for the
remainder of their respec�ve three-year terms. Because our stockholders do not have cumula�ve vo�ng rights, our stockholders holding a majority of the vo�ng power of the then
outstanding capital stock will be able to elect all of our directors. Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on provides for the removal of any of our directors only for cause and
require a stockholder vote by the holders of a majority of the vo�ng power of the then outstanding capital stock. Furthermore, our board of directors has the exclusive right to set the size of
the board of directors, and any vacancy on our board of directors, however occurring, including a vacancy resul�ng from an increase in the size of the board, may only be filled by a
resolu�on of the board of directors unless the board of directors determines that such vacancies will be filled by the stockholders. This system of elec�ng and removing directors and filling
vacancies may discourage a third party from making a tender offer or otherwise a�emp�ng to obtain control of us because it generally makes it more difficult for stockholders to replace a
majority of the directors.

Forum Selec�on

Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on provides that, unless we consent in wri�ng to the selec�on of an alterna�ve forum, (A)(i) any deriva�ve ac�on or proceeding brought
on behalf of us, (ii) any ac�on asser�ng a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our current or former directors, officers, other employees or stockholders to us or our
stockholders, (iii) any ac�on asser�ng a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on or amended and restated bylaws (as
either may be amended or restated) or as to which the DGCL confers exclusive jurisdic�on on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, or (iv) any ac�on asser�ng a claim governed by
the internal affairs doctrine of the law of the State of Delaware shall, to the fullest extent permi�ed by law, be exclusively brought in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if
such court does not have subject ma�er jurisdic�on thereof, the federal district court of the State of Delaware, and (B) the federal district courts of the United States shall be the exclusive
forum for the resolu�on of any complaint asser�ng a cause of ac�on arising under the Securi�es Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the exclusive forum provision shall not apply to claims
seeking to enforce any liability or duty created by the Exchange Act. Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on also provides that, to the fullest extent permi�ed by law, any
person or en�ty purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares of our capital stock shall be deemed to have no�ce of and consented to the foregoing. By agreeing to this
provision, however, stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securi�es laws and the rules and regula�ons thereunder.

Although our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on and amended and restated bylaws contain the choice of forum provision described above, it is possible that a court could
find that such a provision is inapplicable for a par�cular claim or ac�on or that such provision is unenforceable. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a
claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or any of our directors, officers, other employees, or stockholders, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such
claims, although our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with federal securi�es laws and the rules and regula�ons thereunder.

Amendment of Amended and Restated Cer�ficate of Incorpora�on Provisions

Any amendment of the above provisions in our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on would require approval by holders of at least 66 2/3% of the vo�ng power of all of the
then outstanding capital stock en�tled to vote generally in the elec�on of directors, vo�ng together as a single class. In addi�on, the affirma�ve vote of holders of at least 80% of the shares
of Class B common stock outstanding at the �me of such vote, vo�ng as a separate series, is required to amend or repeal, or adopt any provision of our amended and restated cer�ficate of
incorpora�on rela�ng to the rights and preferences of our common stock.



Limita�ons on Liability and Indemnifica�on Ma�ers

Our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on provides that we will indemnify each of our directors and execu�ve officers to the fullest extent permi�ed by the DGCL. We have
entered into indemnifica�on agreements with each of our directors and execu�ve officers that may, in some cases, be broader than the specific indemnifica�on provisions contained under
Delaware law. Further, pursuant to our indemnifica�on agreements and directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, our directors and execu�ve officers are indemnified and insured against
the cost of defense, se�lement or payment of a judgment under certain circumstances. In addi�on, as permi�ed by Delaware law, our amended and restated cer�ficate of incorpora�on
includes provisions that eliminate the personal liability of our directors for monetary damages resul�ng from breaches of certain fiduciary du�es as a director. The effect of this provision is
to restrict our rights and the rights of our stockholders in deriva�ve suits to recover monetary damages against a director for breach of fiduciary du�es as a director.

These provisions may be held not to be enforceable for viola�ons of the federal securi�es laws of the United States.

Stock Exchange Lis�ng

Our Class A common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol “RIVN.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our Class A common stock and Class B common stock is Computershare Trust Company, N.A.



Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Rivian Automo�ve, Inc.

Legal Name of Subsidiary Jurisdic�on of Organiza�on
Rivian Holdings, LLC Delaware
Rivian Adventure Holdings I, LLC Delaware
Hunter Excelsior Holdings, LLC Delaware
Groveland Eureka Holdings, LLC Delaware
Rivian, LLC Delaware
Rivian Automo�ve Canada, Inc. Canada
Rivian United Kingdom Limited England and Wales
RIV UK Engineering Limited England and Wales
Rivian Automo�ve, LLC Delaware
Rivian Michigan, LLC Delaware
Rivian Insurance Services, LLC Delaware
Rivian Europe, B.V. Netherlands
Rivian Adventure Holdings II, LLC Delaware
Rivian Utah, LLC Delaware
Rivian Tennessee, LLC Delaware
Rivian Lone Star Holdings, LLC Delaware
Rivian IP Holdings, LLC Delaware
Rivian Horizon, LLC Delaware
Rivian Mexico Sociedad de Responsabilidad Limitada de Equity Mexico
Rivian Asia Limited Hong Kong
Rivian Netherlands, B.V. Netherlands
Rivian GmbH Germany



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accoun�ng Firm

We consent to the incorpora�on by reference in the registra�on statement (333-260943) on Form S-8 of our report dated March 31, 2022, with respect to the consolidated financial
statements of Rivian Automo�ve, Inc.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Detroit, Michigan

March 31, 2022



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Robert J. Scaringe, cer�fy that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rivian Automo�ve, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial informa�on included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condi�on, results of
opera�ons and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other cer�fying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material informa�on
rela�ng to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those en��es, par�cularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

(b) [omi�ed];

(c) Evaluated the effec�veness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effec�veness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evalua�on; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial repor�ng that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial repor�ng;
and

5. The registrant’s other cer�fying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evalua�on of internal control over financial repor�ng, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
commi�ee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent func�ons):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or opera�on of internal control over financial repor�ng which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial informa�on; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial repor�ng.

/s/ Robert J. Scaringe
Robert J. Scaringe
Chief Execu�ve Officer
(Principal Execu�ve Officer)

Dated: March 31, 2022





Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Claire McDonough, cer�fy that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rivian Automo�ve, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial informa�on included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condi�on, results of
opera�ons and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other cer�fying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material informa�on
rela�ng to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those en��es, par�cularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

(b) [omi�ed];

(c) Evaluated the effec�veness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effec�veness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evalua�on; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial repor�ng that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial repor�ng;
and

5. The registrant’s other cer�fying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evalua�on of internal control over financial repor�ng, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
commi�ee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent func�ons):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or opera�on of internal control over financial repor�ng which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial informa�on; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial repor�ng.

/s/ Claire McDonough
Claire McDonough
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Dated: March 31, 2022





Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connec�on with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2021 as filed with the Securi�es and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Robert J. Scaringe, as Chief Execu�ve Officer of the Company, cer�fy, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec�on 1350, as adopted pursuant to Sec�on
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Sec�on 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The informa�on contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condi�on and results of opera�ons of the Company.

/s/ Robert J. Scaringe
Robert J. Scaringe
Chief Execu�ve Officer
(Principal Execu�ve Officer)

Dated: March 31, 2022



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connec�on with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Rivian Automo�ve, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2021 as filed with the Securi�es and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Claire McDonough, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, cer�fy, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec�on 1350, as adopted pursuant to Sec�on
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Sec�on 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securi�es Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The informa�on contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condi�on and results of opera�ons of the Company.

/s/ Claire McDonough
Claire McDonough
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Dated: March 31, 2022


